AD/A-007 135

÷.,

CLOSED-LOOP OPTIMIZATION PROGRAM FOR THE M60A1 TANK GUN STABILIZATION SYSTEM

W. Binroth, et al

6 Section Chai

Bendix Research Laboratories

Prepared for:

Rock Island Arsenal

February 1975

**DISTRIBUTED BY:** 



Best Available Copy

The findings of this report are not to be construed as an Official Department of the Army position, unless so designated by other authorized documents.

Sector Sector

A state of the second second

# DISPOSITION INSTRUCTIONS:

Destroy this report when it is no longer needed. Do not return it to the originator.

302 int, countr :211:10.110 in a state

15C.

# Best Available Copy

| REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE   |  | READ INSTRUCTIONS   |
|---|--|---|
| REPORT NUMBER   | 2. GOVT ACCESSION HO   | 3. RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NUMBER   |
| R-CR-75-011   |  | HYIH-00713.   |
| TITLE (and Substitio)   | <u></u>  | S. TYPE OF REPORT & PERIOD COVERE   |
| CLOSED-LOOP OPTIMIZATION  | PROGRAM  | FINAL   |
| FOR THE M60A1 TANK GUN  |  | JUN 74 - FEB 75   |
| STABILIZATION SYSTEM  |  | 4. PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER  |
|   |  | BRL/TR-75-7484  |
| AUTHOR(+)   |  | 8. CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(+)  |
| W. BINROTH  |  |   |
| G.A. CORNELL  |  | DAAA-09-74-C-2068   |
| R.W. PRESIEY  |  |   |
| PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AN   | ID ADDRESS   | 10. PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK<br>AREA & WORK UNIT NUMBERS  |
| BENDIX RESEARCH LABORATO  | RIES   |   |
| SOUTHFIELD, MICHIGAN 480  | 76   | 1T162114AH73  |
|   |  |   |
| CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND AD  | DRESS  | 12. REPORT DATE   |
|   |  | FEB 75  |
|   |  | 13. NUMBER OF PAGES   |
|   |  | 240   |
| MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADORE  | SS(if different from Controlling Office)   | 15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report)  |
| ARTILLERY & ARMORED WEAP  | ONS SYSTEMS DIRECTORATE  | υ   |
| ROCK ISLAND, ILLINOIS 6   | 1201   |   |
|   |  | SCHEDULE  |
| NETRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Pa   |  | N/A   |
| DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ober   | ASE<br>tract entered in Block 20, 11 different fro   | m Report)   |
| DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ober   | ASE<br>trect entered in Block 20, 11 different fro<br>Reproduced by<br>NATIONAL TECHNICAL<br>INFORMATION SERVICE<br>U S Department of Commerce   | m Report)   |
| APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELE<br>DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ober<br>DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ober  | ASE<br>treet entered in Block 20, 11 different fro<br>Reproduced by<br>NATIONAL TECHNICAL<br>INFORMATION SERVICE<br>U S Department of Commerce<br>Springfield VA 22151   | m Report)   |
| APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELE<br>DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obor   | ASE<br>trect entered in Block 20, 11 different fro<br>Reproduced by<br>NATIONAL TECHNICAL<br>INFORMATION SERVICE<br>U S Department of Commerce<br>Springfield VA 22151   | m Report) PRICES SUBJECT TO CHAN  |
| APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELE<br>DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ober<br>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES  | ASE<br>trect entered in Block 20, II different fro<br>Reproduced by<br>NATIONAL TECHNICAL<br>INFORMATION SERVICE<br>U S Department of Commerce<br>Springfield VA 22151<br>necessary and identify by block number,  | m Report)<br>PRICES SUBJECT TO CHAN   |
| APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELE<br>DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obor<br>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES<br>KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if<br>STABILIZATION   | ASE<br>trect entered in Block 20, II different fro<br>Reproduced by<br>NATIONAL TECHNICAL<br>INFORMATION SERVICE<br>U S Department of Commerce<br>Springfield VA 22151<br>necessary and identify by block number,<br>CONTROL SYSTEM  | PRICES SUBJECT TO CHAN  |
| APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELE<br>DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obor<br>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES<br>KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if<br>STABILIZATION<br>FLUIDICS<br>(CONTINUE ANY NOTES  | ASE<br>treet entered in Block 20, 11 different fro<br>Reproduced by<br>NATIONAL TECHNICAL<br>INFORMATION SERVICE<br>U S Department of Commerce<br>Springfield VA 22151<br>necessary and Identify by block number,<br>CONTROL SYSTEM<br>RATE CONTROL  | PRICES SUBJECT TO CHAN<br>ACCELEROMETER<br>HYDRAULIC  |
| APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELE<br>DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ober<br>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES<br>KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if<br>STABILIZATION<br>FLUIDICS<br>COMPENSATION<br>NON 1 CONTINUE OF CONT   | ASE<br>treet entered in Block 20, 11 different fro<br>Reproduced by<br>NATIONAL TECHNICAL<br>INFORMATION SERVICE<br>U S Department of Commerce<br>Springfield VA 22151<br>necessary and Identify by block number,<br>CONTROL SYSTEM<br>RATE CONTROL<br>POSITION CONTROL  | PRICES SUBJECT TO CHAN<br>ACCELEROMETER<br>HYDRAULIC<br>PNEUMATIC   |
| APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELE<br>DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obot   | ASE<br>trect entered in Block 20, 11 different fro<br>Reproduced by<br>NATIONAL TECHNICAL<br>INFORMATION SERVICE<br>U S Department of Commerce<br>Springfield VA 22151   |   |
| APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELE<br>DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ober<br>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES<br>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES<br>KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if<br>STABILIZATION<br>FLUIDICS<br>COMPENSATION<br>NON-LINEAR FLOW<br>ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if if<br>THE OBJECTIVE OF THIS ST<br>M60A1 TANK GUN IN WHICH I<br>THE VEHICLE AND THE APPRIA<br>A HYBRID COMPUTER. PERFO<br>TO GUN POINTING ACCURACY<br>TICS REQUIRED TO MEET ACC   | ASE<br>treet entered in Block 20, 11 different fro<br>Reproduced by<br>NATIONAL TECHNICAL<br>INFORMATION SERVICE<br>U S Department of Commerce<br>Springfield VA 22151<br>necessery and Identify by block number,<br>CONTROL SYSTEM<br>RATE CONTROL<br>POSITION CONTROL<br>RATE SENSOR<br>recessery and Identify by block number,<br>UDY WAS TO PROVIDE A GUN<br>PERFORMANCE WAS OPTIMIZE<br>OPRIATE CONTROL SYSTEM WE<br>AND CONTROL SYSTEM STAE<br>QUISITION RATE REQUIREMENTS   | PRICES SUBJECT TO CHAN<br>ACCELEROMETER<br>HYDRAULIC<br>PNEUMATIC<br>STABILIZATION SYSTEM FOR T<br>D. A MATHEMATICAL MODEL OF<br>AS DERIVED AND PROGRAMMED C<br>E ESTABLISHED WITH KESPECT<br>ILLITY. HARDWARE CHARACTERI<br>INTS WERE ALSO DEFINED. A  |
| APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELE<br>DISTRIBUTION UNLIMITED<br>DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ebot<br>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES<br>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES | ASE<br>tract entered in Black 20, 11 different in<br>Reproduced by<br>NATIONAL TECHNICAL<br>INFORMATION SERVICE<br>U S Department of Commerce<br>Springfield VA 22151<br>necessary and identify by black number,<br>CONTROL SYSTEM<br>RATE CONTROL<br>POSITION CONTROL<br>RATE SENSOR<br>POSITION CONTROL SYSTEM &<br>DY WAS TO PROVIDE A GUN<br>PERFORMANCE WAS OPTIMIZE<br>OPRIATE CONTROL SYSTEM &<br>ORMANCE REQUIREMENTS WEF<br>AND CONTROL SYSTEM STAE<br>QUISITION RATE REQUIREME<br>EMS STUDY WAS PERFORMED<br>IN THE CONTRUMENTS MEED   | <b>PRICES SUBJECT TO CHAN</b><br>ACCELEROMETER<br>HYDRAULIC<br>PNEUMATIC<br>STABILIZATION SYSTEM FOR T<br>D. A MATHEMATICAL MODEL OF<br>AS DERIVED AND PROGRAMMED O<br>E ESTABLISHED WITH RESPECT<br>SILITY. HARDWARE CHARACTERI<br>NTS WERE ALSO DEFINED. A<br>TO YIELD A BASIS FOR THE  |
| APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELE<br>DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obst<br>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES<br>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES<br>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES<br>KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if<br>STABILIZATION<br>FLUIDICS<br>COMPENSATION<br>NON-LINEAR FLOW<br>ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if a<br>THE OBJECTIVE OF THIS ST<br>M60A1 TANK GUN IN WHICH I<br>THE VEHICLE AND THE APPRIA<br>A HYBRID COMPUTER. PERFO<br>TO GUN POINTING ACCURACY<br>TICS REQUIRED TO MEET ACC<br>COMPLETE ANALYTICAL SYST<br>HYBRID COMPUTER ANALYSIS   | ASE<br>treet entered in Block 20, 11 different from<br>Reproduced by<br>NATIONAL TECHNICAL<br>INFORMATION SERVICE<br>U S Department of Commerce<br>Springfield VA 22151<br>necessary and identify by block number,<br>CONTROL SYSTEM<br>RATE CONTROL<br>POSITION CONTROL<br>RATE SENSOR<br>recessary and identify by block number,<br>ONTROL SYSTEM<br>RATE CONTROL<br>POSITION CONTROL<br>RATE SENSOR<br>RATE CONTROL SYSTEM<br>STION CONTROL SYSTEM W<br>ORMANCE REQUIREMENTS WER<br>AND CONTROL SYSTEM STAE<br>QUISITION RATE REQUIREME<br>EMS STUDY WAS PERFORMED<br>. IN THE COMPUTER ANALY   | PRICES SUBJECT TO CHAN<br>ACCELEROMETER<br>HYDRAULIC<br>PNEUMATIC<br>STABILIZATION SYSTEM FOR T<br>CD. A MATHEMATICAL MODEL OF<br>(AS DERIVED AND PROGRAMMED O<br>(AS DERIVED AND PROGRAMED O<br>(AS DERI |
| APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELE<br>DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the obst<br>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES<br>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES<br>KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if<br>STABILIZATION<br>FLUIDICS<br>COMPENSATION<br>NON-LINEAR FLOW<br>ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if a<br>THE OBJECTIVE OF THIS ST<br>M60A1 TANK GUN IN WHICH I<br>THE VEHICLE AND THE APPRIA<br>A HYBRID COMPUTER. PERFO<br>TO GUN POINTING ACCURACY<br>TICS REQUIRED TO MEET ACC<br>COMPLETE ANALYTICAL SYST<br>HYBRID COMPUTER ANALYSIS<br>FORM 1473 EDITION OF 1 NOV                                  | ASE<br>treet entered in Block 20, 11 different from<br>Reproduced by<br>NATIONAL TECHNICAL<br>INFORMATION SERVICE<br>U S Department of Commerce<br>Springfield VA 22151<br>necessary and identify by block number,<br>CONTROL SYSTEM<br>RATE CONTROL<br>POSITION CONTROL<br>RATE SENSOR<br>recessary and identify by block number,<br>ONTROL SYSTEM<br>RATE CONTROL<br>POSITION CONTROL<br>RATE SENSOR<br>RATE CONTROL SYSTEM<br>WAS TO PROVIDE A GUN<br>PERFORMANCE WAS OPTIMIZE<br>OPRIATE CONTROL SYSTEM WER<br>AND CONTROL SYSTEM STAE<br>QUISITION RATE REQUIREMENTS WER<br>AND CONTROL SYSTEM STAE<br>QUISITION RATE REQUIREMENTS<br>. IN THE COMPUTER ANALY | PRICES SUBJECT TO CHAN<br>ACCELEROMETER<br>HYDRAULIC<br>PNEUMATIC<br>STABILIZATION SYSTEM FOR T<br>CD. A MATHEMATICAL MODEL OF<br>(AS DERIVED AND PROGRAMMED O<br>(AS DERIVED AND PROGRAMED O<br>(A |
| APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RELE<br>DISTRIBUTION UNLIMITED<br>OISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of the ober<br>SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES<br>KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if<br>STABILIZATION<br>FLUIDICS<br>COMPENSATION<br>NON-LINEAR FLOW<br>ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if if<br>THE OBJECTIVE OF THIS ST<br>M60A1 TANK GUN IN WHICH I<br>THE VEHICLE AND THE APPRIA<br>A HYBRID COMPUTER. PERFI<br>TO GUN POINTING ACCURACY<br>TICS REQUIRED TO MEET ACC<br>COMPLETE ANALYTICAL SYST<br>HYBRID COMPUTER ANALYSIS<br>FORM 1473 EDITION OF 1 NOV                              | ASE<br>treet entered in Block 20, 11 different for<br>Reproduced by<br>NATIONAL TECHNICAL<br>INFORMATION SERVICE<br>U S Department of Commerce<br>Springfield VA 22151<br>necessary and identify by block number;<br>CONTROL SYSTEM<br>RATE CONTROL<br>POSITION CONTROL<br>RATE SENSOR<br>TECESSARY and identify by block number;<br>UDY WAS TO PROVIDE A GUN<br>PERFORMANCE WAS OPTIMIZE<br>OPRIATE CONTROL SYSTEM STAE<br>QUISITION RATE REQUIREMENTS WEF<br>AND CONTROL SYSTEM STAE<br>QUISITION RATE REQUIREMENTS<br>EMS STUDY WAS PERFORMED<br>. IN THE COMPUTER ANALY<br>SIGOSOLETE<br>UNC   | PRICES SUBJECT TO CHAN<br>ACCELEROMETER<br>HYDRAULIC<br>PNEUMATIC<br>STABILIZATION SYSTEM FOR T<br>CD. A MATHEMATICAL MODEL OF<br>AS DERIVED AND PROGRAMMED O<br>E ESTABLISHED WITH KESPECT<br>STABLISHED WITH KESPECT<br>SULITY. HARDWARE CHARACTERI<br>INTS WERE ALSO DEFINED. A<br>TO YIELD A BASIS FOR THE<br>SIS, SYSTEM PERFORMANCE<br>LASSIFIED<br>SHFICATION OF THIS PAGE (WHEN Dete En   |

Summer of the

the state of the second state of the second state UNCLASSIFIED SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Date Entered) WAS INVESTIGATED IN DETAIL AND FIVE PROSPECTIVE SENSORS WERE STUDIED WITH RESPECT TO SYSTEM PERFORMANCE CRITERIA. UNCLASSIFIED ECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Data Entered) 11 . ....

FOREWORD

This final report describes the study conducted under Army Contract DAAA09-74-C-2068, "Closed-Loop Optimization Program for the M60Al Tank Gun Stabilization System." The work was administered under the direction of the Thomas J. Rodman Laboratories. Mr. Jack Connors and Mr. Verlin Baumgarth were the Contracting Officer's Representative and Alternate, respectively. The work was conducted during the period 1 July 1974 to 31 December 1974.

This report was prepared by the Information Processing Department, Bendix Research Laboratories, Southfield, Michigan. Mr. W. Binroth was project supervisor for this program, and responsible for the analytical effort, along with Mr. G. A. Cornell and Mr. R. W. Presley. The computer simulation studies were supported by Mr. T. A. Somer and Ms. J. A. Lindsay.

The report number assigned to this report by the Bendix Research Laboratories is BRL/TR-75-7484.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

| SECTI | ION 1 - INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY          | 1-1  |
|-------|---|------|
| 1.1   | Introduction                              | 1-1  |
| 1.2   | Scope                                     | 1-1  |
| 1.3   | Summary                                   | 1-2  |
| SECTI | ION 2 - MATHEMATICAL MODELS DESCRIPTION   | 2-1  |
| 2.1   | General                                   | 2-1  |
| 2.2   | Vehicle Models                            | 2-1  |
|       | 2.2.1 Elevation Axis Vehicle Model        | 2-1  |
|       | 2.2.2 Azimuth Axis Vehicle Model          | 2-4  |
|       | 2.2.3 Friction                            | 2-5  |
| 2.3   | Servovalve and Motor Models               | 2-6  |
| 2.4   | Sensor Model Descriptions                 | 2-11 |
|       | 2.4.1 General                             | 2-11 |
|       | 2.4.2 Electric Rate Gyro Model            | 2-11 |
|       | 2.4.3 Hydraulic Rate Sensor Model         | 2-12 |
|       | 2.4.4 Integrating Accelerometer Model     | 2-12 |
|       | 2.4.5 Laminar Vortex Rate Sensor Model    | 2-13 |
|       | 2.4.6 Pneumatic Accelerometer Model       | 2-14 |
| 2.5   | Controller Models                         | 2-14 |
| SECT  | ION 3 - CONTROL SYSTEMS APPROACH          | 3-1  |
| 3.1   | General                                   | 3-1  |
| 3.2   | Performance Criteria                      | 3-1  |
| 3.3   | Control Law Derivation                    | 3–2  |
|       | 3.3.1 Rate Control System                 | 3-2  |
|       | 3.3.2 Position Control System             | 3-4  |
| SECT  | ION 4 - HARDWARE SELECTION PROCEDURE      | 4-1  |
| 4.1   | General                                   | 4-1  |
| 4.2   | Hardware Considerations and Assumptions   | 4-1  |
| 4.3   | Mathematical Model of the Actuator System | 4-3  |
| 4.4   | Eelevation Axis Hardware Selection        | 4-6  |
| 4.5   | Azimuth Axis Hardware Selection           | 4-9  |
| SECT  | ION 5 - Analytical System Analysis        | 5-1  |
| 5,1   | General                                   | 5-1  |
| 5.2   | Linear System Derivation                  | 5-1  |
|       | 5.2.1 Rate Control System                 | 5-1  |
|       | 5.2.2 Position Control System             | 5-5  |

# Preceding page blank

| •            | × ×   |              |
|--------------|---|--------------|
|              | х   | Page         |
| 5.2.3        | Linear Model Parameters   | 5-8          |
| 5.2.4        | Linear System Response  | 5-11         |
| 5.3 Track    | ng Error Reduction  | 5-11         |
| 5.4 Sensor   | Error-Analysis  | 5-14         |
| 5.4.1        | General   | 5-14         |
| 5.4.2        | Two Rate Sensors  | 5 •14        |
| 5.4.3        | Single Acceleration Sensor                                      | 5-15         |
| 5.5 Method   | of Eliminating the Effects of Integrator                        | ···          |
|              | and Sensor Offsets  | 5-17         |
| 57 Forma     | s of Gyros on Kesponse<br>d Voreus Foodback Componenties        | 5-L8<br>6-10 |
| 5.8 Sveter   | Stiffnese   | 5-21         |
| 5.9 Coupl    | ng  | 5-22         |
| 5.10 Summar  | y of Analytical Systems Study                                   | 5-26         |
| SECTION 6 -  | SIMULATION ANALYSIS RESULTS                                     | 6-1          |
| 6.1 Genera   | 1   | 6-1          |
| 6.2 Simula   | tion Approach   | 6-2          |
| 6.3 Compar   | ison Study of Rate and Position Control                         |              |
| for St       | abilization   | 6-3          |
| 6.4 Prelim   | inary Simulation Studies  | 6-5          |
| 6.4.1        | Effect of Nonlinear Valve Flow                                  | 6-5          |
| 6.4.2        | Effect of Hull Dynamics   | 6-5          |
| 6.4.3        | Effects of Changes in Fluid Compressibility<br>and Bulk Modulus | 6-5          |
| 6.5 Evalua   | tion of Sensors in Elevation Axis                               | 6-5          |
| 6.5.1        | Evaluation of Electric Rate Gyros                               | 6-6          |
| 6.5.2        | Evaluation of Hydraulic Rate Sensors                            | 6-14         |
| 6.5.3        | Evaluation of Integrating Accelerometer                         | 6-14         |
| 6.5.4        | Evaluation of Laminar Vortex Sensor                             | 6-22         |
| 6.6 Evalua   | tion of Sensors in Azimuth Axis                                 | 6-27         |
| 6.6.1        | Evaluation of Electric Rate Gyros                               | 6-27         |
| 6.6.2        | Evaluation of Pneumatic Accelerometer                           | 6-30         |
| 6.7 Summar   | y of Simulation Results   | 6-37         |
| SECTION 7 -  | CONCLUSIONS   | 7-1          |
| SECTION 8 -  | RECOMMENDATIONS   | 8-1          |
| SECTION 9 ⊰  | BIBLIOGRAPHY  | 9-1          |
| APPENDIX A - | DIGITAL COMPUTER PROGRAMS                                       | A-1          |
| APPENDIX B - | ANALOG AND HYBRID WIRING DIAGRAMS                               | B-1          |
| DISTRIBUTION |   | C-1          |

vi

# LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

| Figure No.  | Title   | Page |
|-------------|---|------|
| 2-1         | Simplified Block Diagram of the Rate Command<br>Stabilization System                    | 2-2  |
| 2-2         | Elevation Axis Vehicle Model  | 2-2  |
| 2-3         | Azimuth Axis Vehicle Model  | 2-4  |
| 2-4         | Block Diagram for Simulating Friction   | 2-7  |
| 2-5         | Idealized Block Diagram for Simulating Friction   | 2-7  |
| 2-6         | Servoyalve and Motor Simulation Block Diagram   | 2-8  |
| 2-7         | Block Diagram of the Pneumatic Accelerometer  | 2-14 |
| 2-8         | Controller for Rate Command with Two Rate Sensors                                       | 2-16 |
| 2-9         | Controller for Rate Command with Single   | 2_16 |
| 2-10        | Controller for Position Command with Two Rate   | 2-10 |
| 2 11        | Sensors<br>Controller for Protition Control of the Control                              | 2-1/ |
| 2-11        | Controller for Position Command with Single   |      |
|             | Acceleration Sensor   | 2-1/ |
| 1           | Simplified Block Diagram of a Kate Command  |      |
|             | Stabilization System  | د-د  |
| 3-2         | Simplified Block Diagram of a Position Command  |      |
|             | Stabilization System  | 3-3  |
| 4-1         | Model for Actuator Systems  | 4-2  |
| 4-2         | Pump Control System Schematic   | 4-2  |
| 4-3         | Hardware Selection Results for Elevation Axis   | 4-7  |
| 4-4         | Servovalve Conversion Diagram   | 4-,  |
| 4-5         | Time History Plot for Elevation Angle, Rate,<br>and Gas Volume                          | 4-8  |
| 4-6         | Hardware Selection Results for Azimuth Axis   | 4-8  |
| <b>4</b> –7 | Accumulator Sizing Effects Diagram  | 4-10 |
| 4-8         | Azimuth Rotation Requirements Plot  | 4-10 |
| 4-9         | Time History Plot for Azimuth Angle, Rate,<br>and Gas Volume                            | 4-11 |
| 4-10        | Curves of Constant Products of Transmission<br>Ratio and Motor Displacement for Azimuth |      |
|             | and Elevation Axes  | 4-11 |
| 5-1         | Block Diagram of Linearized Rate Control System   | 5-2  |
| 5-2         | Block Diagram of Linearized Position Control<br>System                                  | 5-6  |
| 5-3         | Linear System Step Response   | 5-12 |
| 5-4         | Linear System Frequency Response  | 5-12 |
| 5-5         | Simplified Block Diagram of the Rate Command  |      |
|             | System  | 5-13 |
| 5-6         | Simplified Block Diagram of the Rate Control  |      |
|             | System with Two Rate Sensors  | 5-15 |
| 5-7         | Simplified Block Diagram of the Rate Control  |      |
|             | System with a Single Acceleration Sensor  | 5-16 |

vii

3

「あっていた」というないである

of the state

きまま あった 読んどくさ

Ì

| Figure No.   | Title  | Page |
|--------------|--|------|
| 5-8          | Method of Eliminating the Effects of Integrator<br>Drift and Sensor Offsets  | 5-18 |
| 5-9          | Block Diagram for Effect of Rate Sensor Dynamics<br>on Response  | 5-20 |
| 5-10         | Simplified Block Diagram of System with Feedback<br>Compensation   | 5-20 |
| 5-11         | Simplified Block Diagram of System with<br>Compensation in Forward Path  | 5-20 |
| 5-12         | Dynamic Stiffness Curve  | 5-23 |
| 5-13         | Schematic for Coupling of Hull Pitch Rate to Gun   | 5-25 |
| 6-1          | Frequency Response - Position Control  | 6-4  |
| 6-2          | Frequency Response - Position Control and<br>Rate Control  | 6-4  |
| 6-3          | Response to a Command Step Input - Elevation<br>Rate Control with Electric Gyros                                     | 6-7  |
| 6-4          | Response to Sinusoidal Pitch Rate - Elevation<br>Rate Control with Electric Gyros                                    | 6-9  |
| 6-5          | Closed Loop Frequency Response Curves - Elevation<br>Rate Control with Electric Gyros                                | 6-9  |
| 6-6          | Response to HITPRO Simulated Bump Course -<br>Elevation Rate Control with Electric Gyros                             | 6-11 |
| 6-7          | Response to HITPRO Bump Course with Hull Sensor<br>Gain Error - Elevation Rate Control with<br>Electric Gyros        | 6-11 |
| 6-8          | Response to HITPRO Bump Course with Coulomb and<br>Stiction Friction - Elevation Fate Control<br>with Electric Gyros | 6-12 |
| 6-9          | Graph of Tracking Error Versus Hull Sensor Gain<br>Error - Elevation Rate Control with Electric<br>Gyros             | 6-12 |
| 6-10         | Graph of Tracking Error Versus Friction -<br>Elevation Rate Control with Electric Gyros                              | 6-13 |
| 6-11         | Dynamic Stiffness - Elevation Rate Control with<br>Electric Gyros  | 6-13 |
| 6-12         | Response to a Step Rate Command - Hydraulic<br>Rate Sensor   | 6-15 |
| 6-13         | Response to Sinusoidal Hull Motion - Hydraulic<br>Rate Sensor  | 6-15 |
| 6-14         | Frequency Response - Hydraulic Rate Sensors  | 6-16 |
| 6-15         | Response to HITPRO Simulated Bump Course -<br>Hydraulic Rate Sensor  | 6-16 |
| <b>6-</b> 16 | Response to HITPRO Jump Course with Coulomb<br>and Stiction Friction - Hydraulic Rate Sensor                         | 6-17 |
| 6-17         | Response to HITPRO Bump Course with Coulomb<br>and Stiction Friction - Hydraulic Rate Sensor                         | 6-17 |
| 6-18         | Graph of Tracking Error Versus Hull Sensor Gain<br>Error - Hydraulic Rate Sensor                                     | 6-18 |

viii

| Figure No.       | Title   | Page             |
|------------------|---|------------------|
| 6-19             | Tracking Error Versus Sensor Deadband - Hydraulic<br>Rate Sensor  | 6-18             |
| <b>6–</b> 20     | Effects of Combined Hull Sensor Deadband and<br>Friction - Hydraulic Rate Sensor  | 6-19             |
| 6-21             | Response to a Step Rate Command - Integrating<br>Accelerometer  | 6-20             |
| 6-22             | Response to Sinusoidal Hull Motion - Integrating<br>Accelerometer   | 6-20             |
| 6-23             | Response to HITPRO Bump Course - Integrating<br>Accelerometer   | 6-21             |
| 6-24             | Response to HITPRO Bump Course with Coulomb and<br>Stiction Friction - Elevation Rate Control with<br>Integrating Accelerometer | <del>6-</del> 21 |
| 6-25             | Maximum Tracking Error Versus Friction -  | 6-22             |
| 6-26             | Frequency Response - Integrating Accelerances   | 6-23             |
| 6-27             | Response to a Step Rate Command - Laminar   | 6 21             |
| 6-28             | Response to HITPRO Bump Course - Laminar  | 0-24             |
| 6-29             | Response to HITPRO Bump Course with Hull Sensor   | 0-25             |
| <b>6-</b> 30     | Gain Error - Laminar Vortex Sensor<br>Tracking Error Versus Hull Sensor Gain -  | 6-25             |
| 6 31             | Laminar Vortex Sensor   | 6-26             |
| 6-31<br>6-32     | Step Response - Azimuth Rate Control with   | 6-26             |
| 6-33             | Response to Sinusoidal Hull Motion - Azimuth  | 6-28             |
| 6-34             | Response to HITPRO Bump Course - Azimuth Rate   | 6-28             |
| <b>6-</b> 35     | Response to HITPRO Bump Course with Hull Sensor<br>Gain Error - Azimuth Rate Control with                                       | 6-29             |
| <del>6-</del> 36 | Tracking Error Versus Hull Sensor Gain Error -  | 6-29             |
| 6-37             | Response to HITPRO Bump Course with 2 ms<br>Sensor Deadband - Azimuth Rate Control with   | 0-30             |
| 6-38             | Electric Gyros<br>Response to HITPRO Bump Course with 6 ms  | 6-31             |
| 6-39             | Effects of Deadband and Friction on Tracking<br>Error - Azimuth Rate Control with Electric                                      | 0-31             |
| 6-40             | Gyros<br>Frequency Response - Azimuth Rate Control with   | 6-32             |
|                  | Electric Gyros  | 6-32             |

2

ix

1

- 小学家 さんだんない Are Provide Area (1999) - アン・ションパー アボイ・アイン・アイン Area (1990) Area (1990) - イン・ション (1990) Area (1990) - Area (1990)

and the second second

| Figure No. | Title   | Page |
|------------|---|------|
| 6-41       | Response to Pivot Steer Maneuver - Azimuth Rate |      |
|            | Control with Electric Gyros                     | 6-33 |
| 6-42       | Step Response - Pneumatic Accelerometer         | 6-34 |
| 6-43       | Response to Sinusoidal Hull Motion - Pneumatic  |      |
|            | Accelsrometer                                   | 6-34 |
| 6-44       | Response to HITPRO Bump Course - Pneumstic      |      |
|            | Accelerometer                                   | 6-35 |
| 6-45       | Response to HITPRO Bump Course with Coulomb and |      |
|            | Stiction Friction - Pneumatic Accelerometer     | 6-35 |
| 6-46       | Maximum Tracking Error Versus Friction -        |      |
|            | Pneumatic Accelerometer                         |      |
| 6-47       | Frequency Response - Pneumatic Accelerometer    |      |

# LIST OF TABLES

| Table No. | ' <u>Title</u>                          | Page |
|-----------|---|------|
| 2-1       | Elevation Vehicle Parameters            | 2-3  |
| 2-2       | Azimuth Vehicle Parameters              | 2-4  |
| 2-3       | Hardware Parameters                     | 2-10 |
| 4-1       | Parameters for Hardware Selection Study | 4-6  |
| 6-1       | Results of the Sensor Evaluation Study  | 6-38 |

x

# LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

| Symbol  | Definition   | Units                     |
|---|--|---------------------------|
| A <sub>p</sub>                                  | Piston area  | cm <sup>2</sup>           |
| A <sub>v</sub>                                  | Servovalve flow area                                     | cm <sup>2</sup>           |
| A vo  | Effective servovalve flow area                           | cm <sup>2</sup>           |
| A<br>V BAX                                      | Maximum servovalve flow area                             | cm <sup>2</sup>           |
| <b>a</b> 1, <b>a</b> 2, <b>a</b> 3, <b>a</b> 4, | Dummy constants in stiffness<br>transfer function        | -                         |
| В   | Bulk modulus   | kg/cm <sup>2</sup>        |
| С   | Flow coefficient   | $cm/(s - \sqrt{kg/cm^2})$ |
| с <sub>ћ</sub>                                  | Hull suspension constant                                 | kg-m/rad                  |
| D <sub>a</sub>                                  | Denominator of the actuator and<br>gun transfer function | -                         |
| D <sub>c</sub>                                  | Coulomb friction coefficient                             | kg-m                      |
| D g   | Denominator of gyro transfer<br>function                 | -                         |
| D <sub>gh</sub>                                 | Gun trunnion friction coefficient                        | kg-m                      |
| D   | Motor displacement                                       | cm <sup>3</sup> /rad      |
| D<br>S  | Stiction friction coefficient                            | kg-m                      |
| D<br>Sa   | Hull suspension damping-azimuth                          | kg-m-s                    |
| D<br>se   | Hull suspension damping-elevation                        | kg-m-s                    |
| D <sub>th</sub>                                 | Turret friction coefficient                              | kg-m-s                    |
| D <sub>v</sub>                                  | Viscous friction coefficient                             | kg-m-s                    |
| с <sub>А</sub>                                  | Servovalve transfer function                             |                           |

Color Statements and the second statements

| Symbol            | Definition   | Units                      |
|-------------------|--|----------------------------|
| Gc                | Cubic denominator of linearized system transfer function | -                          |
| с <sub>р</sub>    | Pressure feedback transfer function                      | -                          |
| c <sub>1</sub>    | Controller transfer function                             | -                          |
| G <sub>2</sub>    | Actuator transfer function                               | -                          |
| H x               | Angular momentum about x-axis                            | <u> </u>                   |
| J<br>8            | Gun inertia  | kg-n-s <sup>2</sup>        |
| J<br>gx           | Gun inertia about the roll axis                          | kg-m-s <sup>2</sup>        |
| J<br>By           | Gun inertia about the yaw axis                           | kg-m-s <sup>2</sup>        |
| J ha              | Hull inertia-azimuth                                     | kg-m-s <sup>2</sup>        |
| J<br>he           | Hull inertia-elevation                                   | kg-m-s <sup>2</sup>        |
| J m               | Motor inertia  | kg-m-s <sup>2</sup>        |
| Jt                | Turret inertia   | kg-m-s <sup>2</sup>        |
| J <sub>tx</sub>   | Turret inertia about the roll axis                       | kg-m-s <sup>2</sup>        |
| J <sub>tz</sub>   | Turret inertia bout the pitch axis                       | kg-m-s <sup>2</sup>        |
| J <sub>x</sub>    | Inertia about x axis                                     | kg-m-s <sup>2</sup>        |
| к                 | Gain of nulling network                                  |                            |
| k <sub>a</sub>    | Servovalve gain  | cm <sup>2</sup> /(rad/s)   |
| К.<br>bg          | Gun sensor gain  | -                          |
| К <sub>.</sub> bh | Hull sensor gain   | -                          |
| К <sub>ћ</sub>    | Control gain of hull rate cancel-<br>lation term         | -                          |
| ĸ                 | Integral controller gain                                 | 1/s                        |
| ĸ                 | Static stiffness   | kg-m/rad                   |
| К <sub>р</sub>    | Pressure feedback gain                                   | rad(s-kg/cm <sup>2</sup> ) |

xii

1. ep. -

| Symbol                        | Definition   | Units                                    |
|-------------------------------|--|--|
| K <sub>r</sub>                | Proportional controller gain                         | -  |
| K.                            | Open loop system gain                                | -  |
| K <sub>SA</sub>               | Hull suspension spring constant-<br>azimuth          | kg-m/rad                                 |
| K <sub>se</sub>               | Hull suspension spring constant-<br>elevation        | kg-m/rad                                 |
| k                             | Ratio of specific heats                              | -  |
| L                             | Leakage coefficient                                  | cm <sup>3</sup> /(s-kg/cm <sup>2</sup> ) |
| L M<br>S S                    | Gun mass unbalance                                   | -  |
| L <sub>t</sub> H <sub>t</sub> | Turret mass unbalance                                | -  |
| 1                             | Lever arm of piston actuator                         | CIB                                      |
| N <sub>C</sub>                | Numerator of feedback compensation transfer function | -  |
| P <sub>f</sub>                | Output of pressure feedback<br>network               | rad/s                                    |
| P m                           | Motor differential pressure                          | kg/cm <sup>2</sup>                       |
| Po                            | Effective motor pressure                             | kg/cm <sup>2</sup>                       |
| Ps                            | Supply pressure                                      | kg/cm <sup>2</sup>                       |
| Pso                           | Initial supply pressure                              | kg/cm <sup>2</sup>                       |
| Q <sub>£</sub>                | Leakage flow   | cm <sup>3</sup> /s                       |
| Q                             | Motor flow   | cm <sup>3</sup> /s                       |
| ۹ <sub>۵</sub>                | Dummy variable used in linear<br>analysis            | -  |
| Q.                            | Pump flow  | cm <sup>3</sup> /s                       |
| Q <b>v</b>                    | Servovalve flow                                      | cm <sup>3</sup> /s                       |
| R                             | Transmission ratio                                   | -  |

xiii

م**ور** بوده الا الم المداني

.....

| Symbol                          | Definition  | Units           |
|---------------------------------|---|-----------------|
| R <sub>h</sub> , R <sub>p</sub> | Distance between the hull centers<br>of rotation and the trunnion | cm              |
|                                 | Laplace operator  |                 |
| TA                              | Actuator torque   | kg-m            |
| T <sub>c</sub>                  | Coulomb friction  | kg-m            |
| Td                              | Disturbance torque  | kg-m            |
| TE                              | Tracking error  | rad             |
| T <sub>f</sub>                  | Total friction  | kg-m            |
| T <sub>fg</sub>                 | Trunnion friction torque  | kg-m            |
| T<br>gc                         | Gun gyroscopic torque   | kg-m            |
| T <sub>gf</sub>                 | Gun firing torque   | kg-m            |
| Tgl                             | Coupling torque due to turret<br>angle                            | kg-m            |
| T <sub>g2</sub>                 | Coupling torque due to hull acceleration                          | kg-m            |
| T.                              | Stiction friction   | kg-m            |
| T <sub>t</sub>                  | Coupling torque due to mass<br>unbalance                          | kg-m            |
| <sup>T</sup> tc                 | Turret gyroscopic torque  | kg-m            |
| T <sub>v</sub>                  | Viscous friction  | kg-m            |
| T <sub>z</sub>                  | Gyroscopic torque about z axis                                    | kg-m            |
| v                               | Actuator volume   | cm <sup>3</sup> |
| v <sub>a</sub>                  | Accumulator gas volume  | cm <sup>3</sup> |
| v <sub>o</sub>                  | Steady state gas volume in accumulator                            | cm <sup>3</sup> |
| Y(s)                            | Sensor transfer function  |                 |
|                                 |   |                 |

production and the second s

4

.

. .

,

e.

xiv

| Symbol                         | <b>Definition</b>                              | Units                   |
|--------------------------------|--|-------------------------|
| α, β                           | Dummy variables used in linear<br>analysis     | -                       |
| ٤                              | Controller error                               | rad/s                   |
| ۴d                             | Integrator drift                               | rad/s                   |
| ۶.<br>۴                        | Hull sensor offset error                       | rad/s                   |
| ¢ g                            | Gun sensor offset error                        | rad/s                   |
| ¢.                             | Input to system open loop<br>transfer function | rad/s                   |
| <sup>د</sup> ر                 | Sensed tracking error                          | mils                    |
| ζ                              | Sensor damping ratio                           | -                       |
| ۵A <sub>۷</sub>                | Change in servovalve area                      | cm <sup>2</sup> /s      |
| ΔΡ                             | Change in motor pressure                       | (kg/cm <sup>2</sup> )/s |
| ΔΤ                             | Breaksway torque in friction model             | kg-m                    |
| <b>Å</b> 0                     | Threshold speed in friction model              | rad/s                   |
| Δθ .                           | Change in gun angle                            | rad                     |
| Δθh                            | Change in hull angle                           | rad                     |
| <del>0</del>                   | Gun angle                                      | rad                     |
| gs                             | Gun sensor output                              | rad/s                   |
| θ <sub>h</sub>                 | Hull pitch angle                               | rad                     |
| θ <sub>h</sub> s               | Hull sensor output                             | rad/s                   |
| ht                             | Terrain pitch rate                             | rad/s                   |
| hv                             | Relative hull pitch rate                       | rad/s                   |
| θ                              | Position command                               | rad                     |
|                                | Rate command                                   | rad/s                   |
| <sup>†</sup> 1, <sup>†</sup> 2 | Time constants in forward compensation network | •                       |

•

1

and a second second

.....

XV

.

· • · · · ·

-

-----

. ....

.

• 19 A

| Symbol                         | Definition  | <u>Units</u> |
|--------------------------------|---|--------------|
| <sup>T</sup> 3* <sup>T</sup> 4 | Time constants in feedback compens<br>tion network                                  | <br>Ja<br>8  |
| τ <b>a</b>                     | Integrator gain in the integrating accelerometer rate computation network           |              |
| тb                             | Time constant of the integrating accelerometer transfer function                    | •            |
| <sup>t</sup> c                 | Compressibility time constant   | 8            |
| τd                             | Time delay of laminar vortex sensor   | 8            |
| <sup>τ</sup> f                 | Stiction friction time constant   |              |
| τi                             | Time constant of the pseudo-<br>differentiator in the input<br>compensation network |              |
| τ <b>n</b>                     | Time constant of servovalve dynamics  | •            |
| τp                             | Pressure feedback time constant   | 8            |
| τ <b>s</b>                     | Time constant of laminar vortex<br>sensor   |              |
| <sup>♠</sup> h                 | Hull roll angle   | rad          |
| <sup>∲</sup> ht                | Terrain yaw rate  | rad/s        |
| <sup>ψ</sup> h <b>v</b>        | Relative hull yaw rate  | rad/s        |
| <sup>v</sup> t                 | Turret angle  | rad          |
| ΨЪ                             | Bandwidth of integrating<br>accelerometer   | rad/s        |
| ш<br>п                         | Natural frequency of sensor   | rad/s        |
| <sup>w</sup> ns                | Dummy variable used in linear<br>analysis   | -            |
| " <b>x</b> " "y                | Angular rates about x and y axes, respectively                                      | rad/s        |

xvi

| Symbol          | Definition                         | <u>Units</u> |
|-----------------|------------------------------------|--------------|
| <u>T6</u><br>n6 | Slope of torque-speed curve        | kg-n-s       |
| <u>76</u><br>36 | Slope of torque-error signal curve | kg-m/rad     |

-

# ABBREVIATIONS

| cc                 | cubic centimeter           |
|--------------------|----------------------------|
| cm                 | centimeter                 |
| gpm                | gallons per minute         |
| Hz                 | Hertz                      |
| in                 | inch(es)                   |
| kg-n               | kilogram-meter             |
| kg/cm <sup>2</sup> | kilogram/square centimeter |
| mil                | milliradian                |
| <b>P-</b> P        | peak to peak               |
| psi                | pounds/square inch         |
| rad                | radian(s)                  |
|                    | second(s)                  |

xvii

A TRUE AL

#### SECTION 1

#### INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

#### 1.1 INTRODUCTION

The "Closed-Loop Optimization Program for the M6OAl Tank Gun Stabilization System" study project was undertaken by the Bendix Research Laboratories under Contract DAA09-74-C-2068 for the Rock Island Arsenal. The objective was to develop a gun stabilization system in which performance and reliability are optimized. It had been concluded prior to the initiation of this contract that fluidic approaches appeared attractive from the reliability and cost standpoint. The purpose of this contract is to provide the Contracting Officers with conclusive evidence and recommendations regarding the applicability of the fluidic approach to tank weapons systems, while supplying a mathematical model of the entire vehicle/control system. In order to provide this information, fluidic devices were to be considered without forcing incorporation of a particular existing fluidic device.

The results of Phase I, discussed in this report, consist of a requirement analysis, a model definition, and a system stability and performance analysis. A detailed performance study of the different applicable sensors consisting of electronic rate gyros, a hydraulic rate sensor, an integrating accelerometer, a laminar vortex sensor, and a pneumatic accelerometer were also included for future trade studies. A complete error analysis for two of the sensors is recommended in order to augment a decision on the applicability of fluidic approaches in this area.

Control system design was performed in accordance with specifications which call for a pointing accuracy of 1/2 mil rms diameter circle without a gunner operating the controls. A 3 dB bandwidth of at least 15 Hz is also desired. It is required that the system hardware be out of saturation 98 to 99 percent of the time. The duration of an engagement was specified to be 15 to 20 s.

#### 1.2 SCOPE

For the purpose of deriving a realistic mathematical model of the stabilization system, a study was made of existing literature on the M60Al tank, and of previous system studies on the vehicle. Upon simplifying models of the vehicle in the literature, where appropriate, and independently devloping realistic models of the servovalve, actuators and sensors, a complete control system model was derived. Selection of the appropriate actuator system hardware to be used was carried out in close cooperation with the Contracting Officer's Representatives. Models were defined separately for the azimuth (turret) and elevation

(gun) axes. In addition to the vehicle and gun models, the mathematical model included the controller and compensation, the effects of nonlinear valve flow, and static, coulomb, and viscous friction effects. The effect of hull dynamics on the system was also evaluated. A mathematical model of coupling between axes due to roll motion was investigated analytically with respect to the approximate effects on system performance and pointing accuracy. Control laws were derived analytically in accordance with the performance specifications set forth prior to the start of the contract. A control law was specified for both rate and position command injut concepts.

From the model definition, an analog computer program was defined and programmed for each control concept. Diagrams and descriptions of all programs used in this study are contained in Appendices A and B. The Bock Island Arsenal digital program "HITPRO" was adapted to the Bendix Research Laboratories computer, and the analog programs were, at that point, modified to hybrid programs in order to accept inputs from HITPRO. These inputs consisted of vehicle rates corresponding to those experienced by an M60 tank while traversing the Aberdeen Proving Ground terrain. Additional hybrid functions of these programs consisted of a time delay property of the laminar vortex sensor.

Prior to a complete hybrid computer analysis of the system, an analytical systems study was conducted in order to develop a fuller comprehension of the overall system behavior. The study also aided in the development of digital check solutions for all of the hybrid computer analyses. In addition, the analytical study includes a sensor error analysis and an evaluation of coupling of axes on pointing errors.

The hybrid computer simulation results consist of an evaluation of the effects of nonlinear valve flow and hull dynamics, a comparison of the rate and position control concepts, and a detailed evaluation of each of the five sensors studied. The electric rate gyros, as they are presently used in the field, were evaluated in both the elevation and azimuth axes. The hydraulic rate sensor, the integrating accelerometer, and the laminar vortex sensor were evaluated in the elevation axis, and the pneumatic accelerometer was evaluated in the azimuth axis.

The conclusions reached on the basis of the computer analysis are contained in Section 7. Recommendations as to future studies and stabilization approaches are contained in Section 8.

#### 1.3 SUMMARY

A mathematical model of a suitable stabilization system for the M60Al tank main gun was formulated and programmed. The model was formulated so as to include most of the significant nonlinearities such as nonlinear valve flow and hull dynamics due to gun motion. A hybrid computer analysis was performed to determine the operating characteristics of the stabilization system, to evaluate prospective sensors for sensing gun and/or hull rate, and to determine whether a rate or a

position command control concept is preferable with respect to specified performance criteria.

The analytical study revealed that both the rate and the position control concepts required a proportional plus integral control law in order to minimize the gun tracking error. It was also shown that the rate and the position concepts are equivalent in terms of nulling out the effects of hull motions, and thus in terms of stabilizing the gun after the target is in the sight. A computer analysis which followed verified this equivalence. In addition, it was possible to show that the effect of hull motions on the system can be minimized by either a high control loop gain along with a lead-lag compensation network or by using a hull sensor signal in the control law.

The extensive computer simulation analysis revealed several significant conclusions in the areas of stabilization control philosophy and sensor applicability. In the process of arriving at a full computer model of the system for sensor evaluation, it was found that the effect of hull dynamics on the gun was negligible. Nonlinear valve flow, however, was found to have a significant influence on system performance. A linearized flow model was not sufficiently accurate for use in this study.

It was found that all five of the sensors studied meet the performance criteria set forth by the Contracting Officer's hepresentative. In addition, this study indicates that these criteria can be met by using only a gun sensor. If verified by further studies, the need for a corresponding hull sensor may be eliminated.

The detailed sensor study revealed that automatic offset and integrator drift nulling circuits are required when using an acceleration sensor. A method which can be used for this purpose is described in Section 5.5. In addition, it was determined that increasing the gain of the acceleration sensor will decrease the sensor offset effects and, hence, the drift rate. More generally, in the sensor study it was found that sensor gain errors have a small effect on the tracking error. Also, a combination of sensor deadband and gun or turret friction will cause the system to limit cycle.

In order to compensate for sensor phase lag, feedback compensation was found to be required. Forward path compensation is desirable for obtaining stability with higher loop gains for this system.

# SECTION 2

#### MATHEMATICAL MODEL DESCRIPTION

#### 2.1 GENERAL

This section contains the mathematical model of the gun stabilization system as programmed on the hybrid computer. This model consists of the vehicle model, servovalve and motor, sensor models, and the controller. The azimuth and elevation systems are presented separately. The effects of coupling are not included. The individual system components are described in Sections 2.2 through 2.4. Also presented are the controller models for the following configurations:

- (1) 'Rate control with two rate sensors
- (2) Rate control with one acceleration sensor in gun axis
- (3) Position control with two rate sensors
- (4) Position control with one acceleration sensor in gun axis

A simplified block diagram of a rate control system with two rate sensors is shown in Figure 2-1.

#### 2.2 VEHICLE MODELS

The vehicle models consist of an elevation (gun) axis model and an azimuth (turret) axis model. They include, respectively, the gun and turret institus, effects of friction, and hull suspension effects.

#### 2.2.1 Elevation Axis Vehicle Model

The elevation axis vehicle model shown in Figure 2-2 consists of the combined gun and hull dynamics. For the gun dynamics, the torque applied to the gun equals the actuator torque  $T_A$ , plus the disturbance torque  $T_d$  acting on the gun, minus the trunnion friction torque  $T_{fg}$ . It follows that the gun angular acceleration with respect to inertial space is given by:

$$\tilde{\theta}_{g} = \frac{1}{J_{g}} (T_{A} + T_{d} - T_{fg})$$

The friction model is discussed in Section 2.2.3. The disturbance torque  $T_d$  is generated, for example, by a gun firing. The hull dynamics generate a hull angular acceleration  $\theta_{hv}$  with respect to the tracks. This



Y









Figure 2-2. Elevation Axis Vehicle Model

2-2

-----

3

....

acceleration results from the reaction of the actuator torque and the gun firing torque  $T_{2f}$ . The acceleration is given by:

$$\tilde{\theta}_{hv} = \frac{1}{J_{he}} \left[ T_A + T_{gf} - D_{se} \dot{\theta}_{hv} - (K_{se} + C_h) \theta_{hv} \right]$$

where the last two terms represent the hull suspension.

The terrain pitch rate  $\dot{\theta}_{ht}$  added to the relative hull rate  $\dot{\theta}_{hv}$  gives the total hull pitch rate  $\dot{\theta}_h$  as shown below.

$$\dot{\theta}_{h} = \dot{\theta}_{hv} + \dot{\theta}_{ht}$$

The angular rate of the gun with respect to the hull (relative gun rate) is given by:

$$(\dot{\theta}_{g} - \dot{\theta}_{h}).$$

A list of the vehicle elevation parameters is contained in Table 2-1.

| Parameter       | Value                  | Units               |
|-----------------|------------------------|---------------------|
| D <sub>se</sub> | 7.8 x $10^4$           | kg-m-s              |
| D <sub>gh</sub> | 166                    | kg-m-s              |
| J<br>g          | 527                    | kg-m-s <sup>2</sup> |
| J<br>he         | $1.73 \times 10^4$     | kg-m-s <sup>2</sup> |
| Kse             | 9.85 x 10 <sup>6</sup> | kg-m/rad            |
| с <sub>ћ</sub>  | 40,500                 | kg-m/rad            |
| τf              | 0.01                   | 5                   |

-----

Table 2-1. Elevation Vehicle Parameters

# 2.2.2 Azimuth Axis Vehicle Model

The azimuth axis vehicle model, shown in Figure 2-3, is the same as the elevation model, except for the values of the moments of inertia and friction. Angular positon is denoted by  $\psi$  rather than  $\theta$ , as in the elevation model. A list of the vehicle azimuth parameters is contained in Table 2-2.

| Parameter       | Value                 | Units               |
|-----------------|-----------------------|---------------------|
| D<br>sa         | $8.3 \times 10^4$     | kg-m-s              |
| D <sub>th</sub> | 7.75                  | kg-m-s              |
| Jt              | 3140                  | kg-m-s <sup>2</sup> |
| Jha             | $1.84 \times 10^4$    | kg-m-s <sup>2</sup> |
| K sa            | 9.4 x 10 <sup>6</sup> | kg-m/rad            |

Table 2-2. Azimuth Vehicle Parameters



Figure 2-3. Azimuth Axis Vehicle Model

2-4

بالعارية والمعادية

## 2.2.3 Friction

Three types of friction, viscous, coulomb, and stiction, are considered here. Actuators generally have significant quantities of all three types. In addition, the turnet and the gun trunnion may have one or more of the friction types. The three types of friction are described below.

## Viscous Friction

Viscous friction is proportional to the speed of the gun relative to the hull.

$$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{v}} = \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{v}} \left( \dot{\mathbf{\theta}}_{\mathbf{g}} - \dot{\mathbf{\theta}}_{\mathbf{h}} \right)$$
(2-1)

# Coulomb Friction

Coulomb friction is constant in magnitude. The sign, or direction, changes when the direction of motor rotation changes.

$$T_c = D_c \operatorname{sign} (\dot{e}_g - \dot{\theta}_h)$$
 (2-2)

#### Stiction Friction

Stiction occurs each time the motor starts or reverses direction. It rapidly decays to zero. The sign changes when the direction of rotation reverses. Stiction friction is modeled by the following equation:

$$T_{s} = D_{s} \frac{\tau_{f} s}{1 + \tau_{f} s} \operatorname{sign} (\dot{\theta}_{g} - \dot{\theta}_{h})$$
(2-3)

Total friction is the sum of the three types of friction for both axes:

$$T_{f} = T_{v} + T_{c} + T_{s}$$
 (2-4)

When compliance is added to the model, the actuator and trunnion frictions have different equations. When compliance is not used, the equations are the same, and the actuator and trunnion friction can be combined as is done here. The friction values given in equations (2-1) through (2-4) are the combined friction of the actuator and

2-5

AND LONG TO

の日本にという

10

あるいろうろう

į

trunnion, for elevation. For the azimuth axis, equation (2-4) represents the combined friction of the actuator and the turret.

The block diagram used for simulating friction is shown in Figure 2-4.

An ideal circuit for friction simulation is shown in Figure 2-5. In this diagram, the breakaway torque  $\Delta T$  is the minimum actuator torque that will result in actuator movement. When the magnitude of T<sub>A</sub> is less than  $\Delta T$  and the gun is at rest, the friction torque exactly equals the actuator torque. At this point, no torque is applied to the gun. For this region of operation, the friction is called static friction.

$$T_f = T_A (T_f = static friction)$$

When the actuator torque exceeds the breakaway torque, the circuit switches to running friction, and  $T_f$  is given by equation (2-4). A torque is then applied to the gun, and gun motion starts. As long as the gun speed exceeds the threshold value  $\Delta \theta$ , the circuit stays in the running friction mode regardless of the value of  $T_A$ . The parameters in the friction model must be adjusted so that at the instant of switching from static to running friction, the two friction values are equal.

#### 2.3 SERVOVALVE AND MOTOR MODELS

The servovalve and motor for both the elevation and azimuth systems are modeled as shown in Figure 2-6. This model includes a pressure feedback servovalve with nonlinear flow dynamics. The voltage applied to the servovalve is the sum of  $\varepsilon$  and Pf. The quantity  $\varepsilon$  is the output of the control law as described in Section 3. The quantity Pf is the output of the pressure feedback network. The servovalve dynamics G<sub>a</sub> are represented by a first order lag, i.e.,

$$G_a = \frac{1}{\tau_n s + 1}$$

The servovalve gain is K<sub>a</sub>. In the simulation, the deadband was assumed zero while the valve area  $A_v$  was limited to  $A_v$  max. The servovalve flow rate  $Q_v$  is given by:

$$Q_{v} = CA_{v} \sqrt{\frac{P_{s} - P_{m}}{2}}, \text{ for } A_{v} > 0$$

$$Q_{v} = CA_{v} \sqrt{\frac{P_{s} + P_{m}}{2}}, \text{ for } A_{v} < 0$$



Figure 2-4. Block Diagram for Simulating Friction





ردانية المراجعة معادية





where

C = flow coefficient

P = supply pressure

 $P_m = motor pressure$ 

The rate of change of motor pressure  ${\tt P}_{\tt m}$  is given by:

$$\dot{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathbf{m}} = \frac{2\mathbf{B}}{\mathbf{V}} \left( \mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{v}} - \mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{m}} - \mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{\ell}} \right)$$



Mandae which representations and a

where

B = bulk modulus

V = volume

Q = displacement flow rate, i.e. Q = RD  $(\dot{\theta}_g - \dot{\theta}_h)$ 

and where  $RD_m$  is the motor displacement reflected to the gun. For a piston actuator,  $RD_m$  is replaced by  $lA_p$ . The model is otherwise unchanged. Leakage flow  $Q_l$  is assumed proportional to the motor pressure and is thus given by:

$$Q_{\pm} = L P_{\pm}$$

The resultant actuator torque  $T_A$  is then given by:

$$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{A}} = \frac{\mathbf{RD}_{\mathbf{m}}}{100} \mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{m}}$$

The dynamic pressure feedback network  $K_p$   $G_p$  is utilized for stabilizing and improving the servovalve/motor response. The compensator  $G_p$  is used to wash out the pressure feedback at low frequency or at steady state. Pressure feedback without the washout would reduce the static stiffness. The function  $G_p$  can either be provided by a servovalve designed to have dynamic pressure feedback, or by an electrical network. For each axis, the gain  $K_p$  is a system parameter that was varied to obtain the desired system response. The pressure feedback transfer function is given by:

$$K_p G_p = K_p \frac{\tau_p s}{1 + \tau_p s}$$

Table 2-3 contains the parameters of the servovalve and motor for both the elevation and azimuth systems.

2-9

\$

| Parameter          | Value                  | Units .                  |
|--------------------|------------------------|--------------------------|
| В                  | 10,550                 | kg/cm <sup>2</sup>       |
| с                  | 955                    | cm/s√kg/cm <sup>2</sup>  |
| De                 | Variable               | kg-m                     |
| D                  | Variable               | kg-n                     |
| D                  | Variable               | kg-m-s                   |
| J                  | Negligible             | kg-m-s <sup>2</sup>      |
| L                  | 0.116                  | cm/s-kg/cm <sup>2</sup>  |
| P.                 | 210 (nominal)          | kg/cm <sup>2</sup>       |
| τp                 | C.07                   | 8                        |
| ĸ                  | 1                      | cm <sup>2</sup> /(rad/s) |
| τn                 | 0.008                  | 8                        |
| Elevation          |                        |                          |
| A <sub>v max</sub> | 0.22                   | cm <sup>2</sup>          |
| RD                 | 2970 (initial studies) | cm <sup>3</sup> /rad     |
|                    | 1311 (optimum value)   | cm <sup>3</sup> /rad     |
| V                  | 895                    | c∎ <sup>3</sup>          |
| Azimuth            |                        |                          |
| A w max            | 0.45                   | cm <sup>2</sup>          |
| RD                 | 1639                   | cm <sup>3</sup> /rad     |
| V                  | 4'92                   | <b>cm</b> <sup>3</sup>   |
| Linear Model       |                        |                          |
| ∂T/∂n              | 2.08 x 10 <sup>4</sup> | kg-m-s                   |
| ∂T/∂£              | $6.25 \times 10^4$     | kg-m/rad                 |
| τc                 | 0.016                  | 8                        |

Table 2-3, Hardware Parameters

#### 2.4 SENSOR MODEL DESCRIPTIONS

#### 2.4.1 General

A set of five different sensors was selected by the Contracting Officers for study. All five sensors were likely candidates for this application, and it was desired to establish the performance characteristics of each sensor on a relative and absolute basis, in an appropriate realistic environment. Properties of the electric rate gyros, the General Electric hydraulic rate sensors, and the Honeywell laminar vortex sensor were provided to Bendix by the Contracting Officers. The model of the Airsearch pneumatic accelerometer was provided directly to Bendix by Airsearch. The model of the Bendix integrating accelerometer was obtained from Bendix personnel. For each of the three rate sensors, a configuration was used in which a sensor was placed at the gun and in the hull. For the two accelerometers, a sensor was placed only at the gun.

The models for the sensors are presented in terms of transfer functions. All sensor models have provisions for adding threshold and varying the sensor gains. All nominal sensor gains were considered unity. The sensor gain has no effect on response to command inputs or terrain disturbances. Gain distribution does, however, affect the response to noise, and drift due to offsets. Noise and drift were not studied in detail in this phase. When these effects are studied, the actual sensor gains must be used.

#### 2.4.2 Electric Rate Gyro Model

The electric rate gyros which measure the angular gum rate and hull rate can be represented by a second order transfer function as given by:

$$\dot{\theta}_{gs} = \frac{1}{1 + \frac{2\zeta}{\omega_{n}} s + \frac{1}{\omega_{n}^{2}} s^{2}} \dot{\theta}_{g}$$

$$\dot{\theta}_{hs} = \frac{1}{1 + \frac{2\zeta}{\omega_n} s + \frac{1}{\omega_n^2} s^2} \dot{\theta}_{h}$$

where

$$\omega_n = 157 \text{ rad/s}$$

$$\zeta = 0.7$$

#### 2.4.3 Hydraulic Rate Sensor Model

The hydraulic rate sensor utilized in this study is manufactured by the General Electric Corporation. The dynamics of this sensor can be represented by a second order transfer function as follows:



where

and

$$\omega_{\rm m} = 40 \times 2\pi \, \rm rad/s$$

The following are additional characteristics of this sensor:

Scale factor: 0.13 psi/deg/s

Mass unbalance drift: 2 deg/s/g at 1800 psi

#### Noise: 0.6 deg/s (peak to peak)

Supply pressure drift: 0.3 deg/s/percent change in supply pressure

Scale factor drift: 0.8 percent/percent change in supply pressure

#### 2.4.4 Hydraulic Integrating Accelerometer Model

The hydraulic integrating accelerometer produced by Bendix measures the gun acceleration  $\theta_g$ . Its transfer function is given by:

$$\ddot{\theta}_{gs} = \frac{\tau_{b}}{1 + \tau_{b} s} \ddot{\theta}_{g}$$

where

$$\tau_{b} = \frac{1}{\omega_{b}}$$

and

$$= 2\pi \times 0.1 \text{ rad/s}$$

The sensed acceleration is converted to a rate signal  $\hat{\theta}_g^{\dagger}$  by the rate computation network shown below.

$$\ddot{\theta}_{gs}^{\dagger} = \left(1 + \frac{1}{\tau_{gs}}\right) \ddot{\theta}_{gs}$$

where  $\tau_{\mathbf{a}}$  is set equal to  $\tau_{\mathbf{b}}$  which is the time constant of the integrating accelerometer.

If the sensor break frequency varies due to temperature changes or other factors, the sensed rate signal becomes

$$\ddot{\theta}_{gs}' = \frac{\tau_b \cdot s}{1 + \tau_b \cdot s} \left( 1 - \frac{1}{\tau_a \cdot s} \right) \ddot{\theta}_g = \frac{\tau_b}{\tau_a} \left( \frac{1 + \tau_a \cdot s}{1 + \tau_b \cdot s} \right) \ddot{\theta}_g$$

Above the break frequency, the signal is not affected by the change in break frequency. At lower frequencies, there is a gain change proportional to the change in break frequency.

#### 2.4.5 Laminar Vortex Rate Sensor Model

The transfer function for the laminar vortex sensor produced by Honeywell is a first order lag with transport delay, i.e.,

$$\dot{\theta}_{gs} = \frac{e^{-\tau}d^s}{1+\tau_s} \dot{\theta}_g$$

$$\dot{\theta}_{hs} = \frac{e}{1 + \tau_s} \dot{\theta}_{h}$$

where

 $\tau_d = 0.01 \text{ s (transport delay)}$ 

 $\tau_{-} = 0.002 \text{ s (time constant)}$ 

2.4.6 Pneumatic Accelerometer Model

The basic pneumatic accelerometer produced by Garrett Airsearch has a second order transfer function, with lead-lag compensation, in a closed loop configuration. The block diagram of the sensor is shown in Figure 2-7 where

$$\omega_n = 14.8 \text{ rad/s}$$
$$\zeta = 0.6$$

The accelerometer saturates at  $0.7 \text{ rad/s}^2$ .

The rate computation network which transforms the sensed acceleration into a rate is a simple integrator.

#### 2.5 CONTROLLER MODELS

The four controller model variations developed for this study are described in this section, and are listed below.

- (1) Rate command with two rate sensors
- (2) Rate command with single acceleration sensor
- (3) Position command with two rate sensors
- (4) Position command with single acceleration mensor

Two of the variations considered are rate command systems where the gunner commands angular rates. One of the rate systems utilizes two rate sensors (gun and hull) while the other utilizes a single acceleration sensor (gun). Two of the models are position control where the gunner commands an angular position. Again, one of these systems utilizes two rate sensors





while the other utilizes a single acceleration sensor. Block diagrams of each of these controllers are shown in Figures 2-8 through 2-11. Proportional and integral control is utilized along with compensation networks in the forward and feedback paths and on the input in the position command system. The controller utilizing a single acceleration sensor requires a rate computation network to transform the sensed acceleration into a rate. These rate computation networks are defined with the acceleration sensor models in Section 2.4.4 and 2.4.6.






Figure 2-9. Controller for Rate Command with Single Acceleration Sensor

2-16

2**8** (1993) - 1993



• • .•

S. Same

Figure 2-10. Controller for Position Command with 1wo Rate Sensors



Figure 2-11. Controller for Position Command with Single Acceleration Sensor

· · · · · · · ·

والمتعارية فقطو مراريته الالا المع

## SECTION 3

## CONTROL SYSTEMS APPROACH

3.1 GENERAL

General requirements of the M60Al tank gun stabilization system are as follows:

- (1) To rapidly attain a target by means of gunner commands after the target has been sighted by the gunner.
- (2) To keep the gun on target after the gun has been aimed by the gunner in spite of hull motions.

In order to satisfy criterion (1), it is necessary that the response of the system be sufficiently fast so that the time from sighting the target until firing of the first round be minimum. For satisfying criterion (2), it is necessary to minimize the effects of vehicle hull rates on the tracking error of the stabilization system.

Since the design of a control system for a given application is subject to all performance criteria, the criteria for the M60A1 gun stabilization system are described in Section 3.2. Note that these criteria are given in terms of pointing requirements as well as general performance. Hardware acceleration performance criteria are also given.

The control systems approach utilized in this study for achieving the specified performance criteria is described in detail in Sections 3.3.1 and 3.3.2, for the rate and the position command inputs, respectively. It was specified at the start of the program that contemporary conventional control system techniques would be used to achieve the desired performance. If conventional techniques could not achieve the performance goals, more complex optimal procedures would be utilized. At this point in the development of the complete stabilization system, conventional methods of synthesis appear satisfactory.

## 3.2 PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

The following performance criteria were utilized in the control system design and hardware selection procedure for the stabilization system.

#### (1) Tracking Error Requirements

The requirement for the tracking error is that it be within a circle of 0.5 mil diameter 67 percent of the time. Data to verify conformance with this requirement will not be obtained in Phase I. Therefore, a goal was set for the tracking error to be 0.5 mil peak to peak or less for the HITPRO bump course at 8 mph.

#### (2) Frequency Response and Stability Requirements

The frequency response goal was 15 Hz bandpass. Bandpass is defined as the frequency at which the amplitude ratio is -3 dB.

Gain margin and phase margin are two criteria which are frequently used to indicate the system stability. In this study, the following definitions are used to establish stability goals:

| (1) | Gain Margin | - | 1.0 - (open loop amplitude ratio a | t |
|-----|-------------|---|------------------------------------|---|
|     |             |   | 180 deg open loop phase lag)       |   |

- (b) Phase Mar.... = 180 deg (open loop phase lag at gain crossover)
- (c) Gain Crossover = frequency at which the open loop amplitude ratio is 1.0 (or zero dB)

A gain or phase margin of zero indicates an unstable system. The greater the gain or phase margin, the less likely it is that instability will occur due to variation in control system components. The goals are a gain margin of 0.5 or greater and a phase margin of 35 deg or greater.

#### (3) Acceleration and Speed Capability of Actuators

The goal for the elevation actuator system is to accelerate to a speed of 60 deg/s in 10 deg of gun rotation, starting from rest. The goal for the azimuth actuator system is to accelerate to 90 deg/s in 45 deg of turret rotation, starting from rest.

## (4) Gain Variation

The control system shall be designed to minimize the effects of rate sensor gain variation and friction.

#### 3.3 CONTROL LAW DERIVATIONS

The control synthesis approach utilized for this study is outlined in the following two sections, for the rate command input (rate control system) and the position command input (position control system), respectively. For the rate control system, a hull rate cancellation technique and a lead-lag stabilization technique are presented. The position control system is mathematically compared to the rate control system.

## 3.3.1 Rate Control System

A simplified block diagram of a rate command stabilization system is shown in Figure 3-1. The inputs are the command rate  $\theta_s$  and the hull rate  $\theta_h$ . The output gun rate  $\theta_g$ , which is compared with  $\theta_s$ to generate an error, is processed by the controller G<sub>1</sub>. An additional output is the gun attitude angle  $\theta_g$ .





The objectives of the control system are to have the gun rate follow the command rate and to have the gun angle  $\theta_g$  stabilized with respect to hull rate inputs.

Using proportional plus integral control, it follows that:

$$G_1 = K_r + \frac{K_i}{s}$$

where

K<sub>r</sub> = proportional gain

 $K_i = integral gain$ 

By use of integral control, the steady state tracking error  $TE = \theta_s - \theta_g$ is a constant for command rate and hull rate inputs. Increasing the gain K<sub>1</sub> will decrease the tracking error. Stability considerations, however, dictate a practical limit on K<sub>1</sub>. In order to handle this problem in an alternate way, two methods were devised to reduce tracking errors due to vehicle motions. These two methods are described in detail in Section 5.3.

3--3

The first of these methods is a hull rate cancellation technique. The hull motion  $\theta_h$  is sensed and is then used in the control laws. The control signal output  $\epsilon$  is therefore given by:

$$\varepsilon = \left(K_r + \frac{K_1}{s}\right) \left(\dot{\theta}_s - \dot{\theta}_g\right) - K_h \dot{\theta}_h$$

where

 $K_h = K_3 = gain of the hull motion effect on the gum rate$ 

The second method uses a single gun sensor and does not use a hull sensor. The tracking error is reduced by increasing the loop gain and introducing a lead-lag network to maintain stability. The control signal output in this case is given by:

$$\varepsilon = \frac{\tau_2}{\tau_1} \left( \frac{\tau_1 \cdot \mathbf{s} + 1}{\tau_2 \cdot \mathbf{s} + 1} \right) \left( K_r + \frac{K_i}{\mathbf{s}} \right) (\dot{\theta}_s - \dot{\theta}_g)$$

where

# $\tau_2 / \tau_1 = 10$

#### 3.3.2 Position Control System

The block diagram for position control with proportional plus integral control is shown in Figure 3-2. The gunner generates an angular positon command  $\theta_g$  rather than a rate command  $\dot{\theta}_g$ . The position command signal is differentiated and compared with the gun rate signal to obtain the rate error signal. Since perfect differentiation cannot be achieved, a first order lag wich time constant  $\tau_i$  is included in the input compensation.

In addition, the gun rate signal is integrated and compared with the input position command to obtain the position error signal. Potentiometer feedback was not used as this would have resulted in increased sensitivity to hull sensor gain errors, and increased drift rate.

The position command system can be shown to be mathematically identical to the rate system except for the first order lag  $\tau_1$  in the input compensation. (This is discussed in more detail in Sections 5.2.2 and 6.3.) On this basis, the tracking error for hull rate inputs is identical for the rate and the position control systems. In order to

perform a meaningful comparison of the two control system concepts, a rate command input was assumed for both. Under these conditions, for ramp position command inputs, the tracking error is also the same for both the rate and the position systems, as long as the input lag  $\tau_1$  is zero. If  $\tau_1$  is large enough to affect the system response, or if input compensation is not used, response of the position control system to rate inputs will be slower. However, one advantage with the position control system is that a position command signal can be used. This results in considerably faster response to the process of aiming the gun at a target for the position control system, even if input compensation is not used.



Figure 3-2. Simplified Block Diagram of a Position Command Stabilization System

## SECTION 4

#### HARDWARE SELECTION PROCEDURE

## 4.1 GENERAL

For the purpose of this contract, a study was performed for selecting the appropriate actuator hardware in each of the two axes to meet the following set of specifications set forth by the Contracting Officer's Representatives:

| Axis      | Slew Rate Requirement |
|-----------|-----------------------|
| Azimuth   | 90 deg/s in 45 deg    |
| Elevation | 60 deg/s in 10 deg    |

These specifications were not previously required for the M60A1 actuators. A mathematical model of the hardwars was thus derived (Section 4.3), and from this model the appropriate servovalve, accumulator volume, transmission gear ratio, and motor displacement were selected. The selection results for the elevation and aximuth axes are given in Sections 4.4 and 4.5, respectively. A total pump flow capacity of 30 gpm was assumed in this study.

Upon completion of the study, the hardware was jointly selected by Bendix and personnel from Rock Island Arsenal, for inclusion in the subsequent computer study.

#### 4.2 HARDWARE CONSIDERATIONS AND ASSUMPTIONS

An actuator is considered optimal if it achieves a maximum turret or gun acceleration. If the actuator displacement is too small, the actuator torque will not be great enough to rapidly accelerate the load inertia. If the actuator displacement is too large, the pump will not provide sufficient flow to reach the desired speed. It follows that an optimum actuator displacement exists which is small enough to obtain the desired speed with the available pump flow, and large enough to obtain rapid acceleration. Likewise, the servovalve flow area should be large enough so that significant pressure drop does not occur across the servovalve during acceleration. A model for the actuator system is illustrated in Figure 4-1.

For the purpose of this analysis, it was assumed that a variable delivery constant pressure pump would be used. The schematic for this type of pump is shown in Figure 4-2. The pump servovalve passes fluid



Figure 4-1. Model for Actuator Systems



Figure 4-2. Pump Control System Schematic

either to or from the control piston, depending on the sign of the pressure error. If the pressure is higher than the set pressure, the valve passes fluid from the main circuit into the stroking piston cylinder, thus decreasing the delivery of the pump so that the pressure will be reduced. On the other hand, if the pressure is low, the valve passes fluid to the pump case and the control spring forces the pump displacement to increase.

Thus, as the flow demand changes, the pump displacement automatically changes to maintain the supply pressure constant, within the flow range of the pump.

The following hardware and fluid properties were neglected, since they would not affect the choice of the optimum actuator system.

- Pump dynamics
- Fluid leakage
- Fluid compressibility
- Friction

The pump dynamics and the compressibility lag are generally sufficiently fast to have negligible effect on acceleration. Use of an accumulator slows the pump response. This effect was neglected for this study. The addition of pump dynamics would add considerably to the complexity of the simulation.

The turret and gun acceleration achieved in practice will be a little less than the values obtained in the study due to the effects of friction and leakage.

The parameters which must be optimized to obtain the best performance are the product of transmission ratio and motor displacement  $RD_m$ , the maximum servovalve flow area ( $A_V \max$ ), and accumulator volume  $V_a$ . The product  $RD_m$  is the motor displacement reflected to the turret or gun, respectively.

#### 4.3 MATHEMATICAL MODEL OF THE ACTUATOR SYSTEM

The pump model assumed here provides that pump flow  $Q_p$  equal to that of the motor  $Q_m$  below the maximum pump, flow in accordance with:

 $Q_p = Q_m$ , for  $Q_m < 20$  gpm (4-1)  $Q_p = 20$  gpm, for  $Q_m \ge 20$  gpm

The maximum pump flow for a single axis was taken to be 20 gpm. However, a 30 gpm pump should be used to provide the required flow when both axes are activated simultaneously.

It follows for the azimuth axis that equating the motor flow to the servovalve flow yields:

$$RD_{\underline{m}} \dot{\psi}_{\underline{t}} = CA_{\underline{v}} \sqrt{\frac{P_{\underline{s}} - P_{\underline{m}}}{2}}$$
(4-2)

Squaring equation (4-2) and solving for P\_:

$$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{R}} = \mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{S}} - \left(\frac{\mathbf{E}\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{R}}}{\mathbf{C}\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{V}}}\right)^2 \dot{\psi}_{\mathbf{L}}^2$$
(4-3)

The turret acceleration is:

$$\vec{\Psi}_{t} = \frac{RD_{m}}{100 J_{\mu}} P_{m} \qquad (4-4)$$

The accumulator is shown in Figure 4-1. The volume of gas under the diaphragm is initially charged to the supply pressure. The volume above the diaphragm is filled with hydraulic fluid. When the hydraulic fluid is at the desired supply pressure, approximately one-half of the accumulator volume is filled with gas. As long as the servovalve flow does not exceed the pump flow capability, the pump will maintain the desired supply pressure, and the hydraulic fluid and gas volumes will not change. When the valve flow exceeds the pump flow, hydraulic fluid will flow from the accumulator, the gas volume will expand, and the supply pressure will drop. This process is adiabatic and it follows that:

$$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{s}} \mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{a}}^{\mathbf{k}} = \mathbf{C}$$
(4-5)

Differentiating with respect to time:

 $kP \bigvee_{a}^{k-1} \dot{v}_{a} + \bigvee_{a}^{k} \dot{P}_{a} = 0$ 

Solving for P:

$$\dot{P}_{g} = \frac{kP \dot{V}}{V}$$
(4-6)

The rate of change of gas volume equals the difference between the motor flow and pump flow.

$$\ddot{\mathbf{v}}_{\mathbf{a}} = \mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{p}} = \mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{p}}$$
, when  $\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{a}} > \mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{p}}$   
(4-7)  
 $\ddot{\mathbf{v}}_{\mathbf{a}} = \mathbf{0}$ , when  $\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{a}} < \mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{p}}$ 

For a hydraulic motor, the displacement flow is given by:

$$Q_{m} = RD_{m} \dot{\Psi}_{t} \qquad (4-8)$$

The gas volume in the accumulator and the supply pressure are:

$$\mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{a}} = \mathbf{v}_{\mathbf{o}} + \int \dot{\mathbf{v}}_{\mathbf{a}} \, \mathrm{dt} \tag{4-9}$$

where

 $V_{o}$  = steady state gas volume in accumulator at 3000 psi

$$P_{s} = P_{so} + k \int P_{s} \frac{\dot{V}_{a}}{V_{a}} dt \qquad (4-10)$$

Equations (4-1), (4-3), (4-4), and (4-7) through (4-10) were used for the computer study to determine the actuator system sizing. The same set of equations was used for the elevation axis, with only a change in parameters and a substitution of  $\theta_g$  for  $\psi_t$ .

Table 4-1 lists the actuator system parameters.

| Parameter | Value                             | Units           |
|-----------|-----------------------------------|-----------------|
| С         | 100                               | in/s\psi        |
| J<br>B    | 3800                              | slugs           |
| Jε        | 22,700                            | slugs           |
| k         | 1.4                               | -               |
| P so      | 3000                              | psi             |
| v.        | one-half<br>accumulator<br>volume | in <sup>3</sup> |

#### Table 4-1. Parameters for Hardware Selection Study

## 4.4 ELEVATION AXIS HARDWARE SELECTION

Results of the hardware selection procedure for the elevation axis are summarized in Figure 4-3. Gun elevation rate achieved at an elevation angle displacement of 10 deg is plotted for three different servovalve areas and numerous values of the product of transmission ratio R and motor displacement  $D_m$ . It is evident from Figure 4-3 that with a servovalve area of 0.034 in<sup>2</sup>, the gun elevation rate exceeds 60 deg/s in 10 deg of displacement for values of RD<sub>m</sub> between 50 and 110. For maximum rate, a value of 80 for RD<sub>m</sub> was selected for elevation.

Since servovalves are generally rated in terms of gpm flow at a pressure drop of 1000 psi instead of effective flow area, an appropriate conversion is achieved by use of Figure 4-4. This figure also indicates which commercially available valves can handle a given application. The flow area of 0.034 in<sup>2</sup> is thus equivalent to a 20 gpm servovalve, and the largest available MOOG series 30 valve can be utilized for this application. A 20 gpm servovalve was therefore selected. A MOOG Series 30 valve was also used in an actuator system utilized in the past by the Chrysler Corporation for the M60Al main gum.

A time history plot for the gun elevation angle, the elevation rate, and the accumulator gas volume is contained in Figure 4-5. As indicated by this figure, the accumulator was not used in the first 10 deg of elevation displacement. Therefore, an accumulator is not required for elevation. An elevation accumulator may be of value, however, when both the gun and turret are rotated simultaneously.









Figure 4-4. Servovalve Conversion Diagram

and the second second



Figure 4-5. Time History Plot for Elevation Angle, Rate, and Gas Volume



Figure 4-6. Hardware Selection Results for Azimuth Axis

4-8

3

## 4.5 AZIMUTH AXIS HARDWARE SELECTION

Results of the hardware selection for the azimuth axis are summarized in Figure 4-6. Turret azimuth rate achieved at an azimuth displacement angle of 40 deg is plotted for three different servovalve areas and numerous values of the product  $RD_m$ . It is evident from Figure 4-6 that a rate of 90 deg/s in 45 deg displacement is not possible. It was therefore decided to choose the value and motor combination which maximizes rate at 45 deg displacement.

In accordance with Figure 4-6, a turnet speed of 70 deg/s is obtained with  $A_v$  equal to 0.07 in<sup>2</sup> and  $RD_m$  values of 100 to 120 in<sup>3</sup>/rad using a 1 gallon accumulator. Therefore, these are the recommended values.

Figure 4-7 demonstrates the effect of reducing or increasing the accumulator volume from 1 gallon. Increasing the accumulator volume above 1 gallon has no effect, while reducing the volume has only a minimal effect.

Figure 4-8 shows the turret rotation required to accelerate to a speed of 90 deg/s. If this criterion had been used, an  $RD_m$  of 90 and a 2 gal accumulator would have been selected. However, an  $RD_m$  of 100 appears to be the best overall choice when allowance is made for torque loss due to friction.

As indicated by Figure 4-4, the selected 0.07  $in^2$  servovalve flow area is equivalent to 40 gpm flow at 1000 psi pressure drop. This is within the range of the MOOG 72 and 73 flow control servovalves.

A time history plot for the turret azimuth angle, the turret azimuth rate, and the accumulator gas volume is contained in Figure 4-9 for the selected values of  $RD_m$  and  $A_v$ .

A curve for each of the azimuth and elevation axes, which shows the range of values available for R and  $D_m$ , is contained in Figure 4-10. The product  $RD_m$  was determined to be 100 and 80 for the azimuth and elevation axes respectively.







Figure 4-8. Azimuth Rotation Requirements Plot



Figure 4-9. Time History Plot for Azimuth Angle, Rate, and Gas Volume



Figure 4-10. Curves of Constant Products of Transmission Ratio and Motor Displacement for Azimuth and Elevation Axes

-----

## SECTION 5

## ANALYTICAL SYSTEM ANALYSIS

## 5.1 GENERAL

This section contains an extensive analytical analysis of the rate and positon control systems which was performed prior to the simulation analysis. By means of this study, it was possible to gain valuable insight into the behavior of the system and to derive starting values for the rate, proportional, and integral gains of the control law. In addition, two methods were derived to reduce system tracking errors. An analytical sensor error study and an outline of a coupling model are also presented.

For the purpose of this analytical study, the control system was linearized and simplified, where possible, while retaining basic system functions. This simplification of the system is described in Sections 5.2.1 and 5.2.2 for the rate and the position control concepts, respectively. Transfer functions for the system described here showed how the systems should be designed to achieve the desired performance.

Initial gain values for the nonlinear computer models were also determined from the linear study. These gain values were varied, and compensation was used to achieve the desired performance with the nonlinear flow equations, sensor dynamics, and other nonlinear effects and lags.

## 5.2 LINEAR SYSTEM DERIVATION

#### 5.2.1 Rate Control System

This section contains the derivation of the linearized rate control system shown in Figure 5-1. The following nonlinearities were omitted in order to simplify the transfer function:

- (1) Friction
- (2) Sensor dynamics
- (3) Compliance

Since pressure feedback dynamics have negligible phase shift at the natural frequency, this effect can be represented by a constant as shown in Figure 5-1.



The nonlinear flow and torque equations from Figure 2-6 are given by:

$$CA_{v} \sqrt{\frac{P_{g} - P_{m}}{2}} = RD_{m} (\dot{\theta}_{g} - \dot{\theta}_{h}) + LP_{m} + \frac{V}{2B} sP_{m}$$
(5-1)

$$T_{A} = RD_{m}P_{m}$$
 (5-2)

Linearizing by partial differentiation yields:

$$C = \sqrt{\frac{P_{g} - P_{o}}{2}} \Delta A_{v} - \frac{CA_{vo}}{2 \sqrt{2 (P_{g} - P_{o})}} \Delta P_{m} = RD_{m} s (\Delta \theta_{g} - \Delta \theta_{h}) + L\Delta P_{m}$$

$$+ \frac{V}{2B} s \Delta P_{m} \qquad (5-3)$$

Substituting for  ${\rm P}_{\rm m}$  from equation (5-2) and rearranging terms gives:

$$C = \sqrt{\frac{P_{g} - P_{o}}{2}} \Delta A_{v} = \frac{Q_{o}}{2RD_{m} (P_{g} - P_{o})} \Delta T_{A} + \frac{V}{2BRD_{m}} s\Delta T_{A}$$
$$+ RD_{m} s (\Delta \theta_{g} - \Delta \theta_{h})$$
(5-4)

where

$$Q_{o} = CA_{vo} \sqrt{\frac{P_{s} - P_{o}}{2}} + 2L (P_{s} - P_{o})$$

Rearranging terms, and defining new parameters gives:

$$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{A}} = \frac{1}{1 + \tau_{\mathbf{c}} \cdot \mathbf{s}} \left[ \frac{\partial \mathbf{T}}{\partial \varepsilon} \cdot \mathbf{\varepsilon} - \frac{\partial \mathbf{T}}{\partial n} \left( \dot{\mathbf{\theta}}_{\mathbf{g}} - \dot{\mathbf{\theta}}_{\mathbf{h}} \right) \right]$$
(5-5)

where

$$c = A_{v}$$

$$\tau_{c} = \frac{v}{Q_{o}} \frac{(P_{s} - P_{o})}{B}$$

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial n} = 2 (RD_{m})^{2} \frac{(P_{s} - P_{o})}{Q_{o}}$$

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial \varepsilon} = \frac{2CRD_{m} (P_{s} - P_{o})}{CA_{vo} + 2L \sqrt{2} (P_{s} - P_{o})}$$

Assuming  $T_d = T_{fg} = 0$ , gun acceleration is given by:

$$\ddot{\theta}_{g} = \frac{T_{A}}{J_{g}}$$
 (5-6)

The control law developed in Section 3.2 is:

$$\varepsilon = \left(K_{r} + \frac{K_{1}}{s}\right) \left(\dot{\theta}_{s} - \dot{\theta}_{g}\right) - K_{h} \dot{\theta}_{h}$$
(5-7)

Upon solving equations (5-4) through (5-7), the system transfer function is:

$$\frac{\overset{\bullet}{\beta}_{R}}{\overset{\bullet}{\theta}} = \frac{1 + \frac{K_{r}}{K_{1}} s}{1 + \frac{s}{\beta\omega_{NS}} + \frac{\alpha s^{2}}{\beta\omega_{NS}^{2}} + \frac{s^{3}}{\beta\omega_{NS}^{3}}}$$
(5-8)

where

$$\omega_{\rm NS}^2 = \frac{1}{J_{\rm g}\tau_{\rm c}} \left( \frac{\partial T}{\partial n} + K_{\rm r} \frac{\partial T}{\partial \epsilon} \right)$$
(5-9)

$$\alpha \omega_{\rm NS} = \frac{1 + K_{\rm p} \frac{\partial T}{\partial \varepsilon}}{\tau_{\rm c}}$$
(5-11)

<u>76</u> 36

JL

<sup>Bw</sup>ns

T6 an

The steady state  $T_d/\dot{\theta}_g$  gain is:

$$\frac{T_{d}}{\dot{\theta}_{g}} = \frac{K_{1} \frac{\partial T}{\partial \varepsilon}}{1 + K_{p} \frac{\partial T}{\partial \varepsilon}}$$
(5-12)

The response to terrain input is:

$$\frac{\dot{\theta}_{R}}{\dot{\theta}_{L}} = \frac{\frac{\partial T}{\partial n} - K_{h}}{K_{f}} \frac{\frac{\partial T}{\partial \varepsilon}}{\frac{\partial T}{c}} \cdot \frac{1}{G_{c}}$$
(5-13)

where

 $G_c$  = cubic denominator of the transfer function

It follows that the gun motion, or tracking error, for a terrain input is zero if

$$K_{h} = \frac{\partial T/\partial n}{\partial T/\partial \epsilon}$$

However, since the torque speed slope is nonlinear, perfect cancellation over the complete range of operation may not be possible.

5.2.2 Position Control System

This section contains a derivation of the linearized elevation position control system shown in Figure 5-2. As indicated in the figure, the inertial gun position feedback signal is obtained by integrating

5-5

(5-10)



، د مندره سمه ». •

the gun rate sensor signal. A potentiometer was not used for the position feedback because it would have been necessary to add the hull position to the potentiometer signal to obtain the inertial position signal. This would have made the system very sensitive to hull sensor gain variation.

The control law for this system is given by:

$$\mathbf{c} = \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{i}} \left( \mathbf{\theta}_{\mathbf{g}} - \mathbf{\theta}_{\mathbf{g}} \right) + \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{r}} \left( \mathbf{\dot{\theta}}_{\mathbf{g}} - \mathbf{\dot{\theta}}_{\mathbf{g}} \right) - \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{h}} \mathbf{\dot{\theta}}_{\mathbf{h}}$$

Since a position command input will generally be used for the position command system, the command rate signal  $\theta_g$  will not be readily available. This signal can be omitted, or it can be obtained by pseudo differentiation of the input command signal as shown below.

$$\dot{\theta}_{\mathbf{s}} = \frac{\mathbf{s}}{\mathbf{1} + \tau_{\mathbf{i}} \cdot \mathbf{s}} \cdot \theta_{\mathbf{s}}$$

Including the  $\dot{\theta}_{g}$  term results in faster response to command inputs.

Other equations for the position control concept take the same form as those for the rate control concept.

It follows therefore that the position control transfer function is given by:

$$\frac{\theta_{g}}{\theta_{g}} = \frac{1 + \frac{K_{r}}{K_{i}} \cdot \frac{1}{1 + \tau_{i}} s}{1 + \frac{s}{\beta\omega_{NS}} + \frac{\alpha s^{2}}{\beta\omega_{NS}^{2}} + \frac{s^{3}}{\beta\omega_{NS}^{3}}}$$

The steady state response to a hull rate step input is:

$$\dot{\theta}_{g} = \frac{\frac{\partial T}{\partial n} - K_{h} \frac{\partial T}{\partial \epsilon}}{K_{t} \frac{\partial T}{\partial \epsilon}} \dot{\theta}_{h}$$

The transfer functions for hull rate and disturbance torque inputs are the same as for the rate control system. Therefore, the response to these inputs is identical for the two systems.

The response to identical rate command inputs will be the same for both systems if the pseudo differentiator lag  $\tau_1$  equals zero. This condition was used in the simulation for showing the equivalence of the two systems, as discussed in Section 6.3. Since position command inputs will generally be used with the position control system, the response time to rotate the gun to a commanded angle will be shorter whether or not the input rate signal  $\theta_g$  is used.

## 5.2.3 Linear Model Parameters

For model development and preliminary studies, the actuator displacement and volume under compression were obtained from the bibliography. The parameters developed here corresponded to the elevation axis:

$$ED_m = LA_p = 38.4$$
 in. x 4.72 in<sup>2</sup> x 16.37  $\frac{cm^3}{in^3}$ 

where

$$ED_{m} = 2970 \text{ cm}^{3}/\text{rad}$$
  
 $V = 895 \text{ cm}^{3}$ 

The supply pressure and maximum servovalve area were taken to be

$$P_{g} = 210 \text{ kg/cm}^2$$
  
A<sub>1</sub> = 0.2 cm<sup>2</sup>

The linearized actuator parameters are:

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial n} = \frac{2}{100} (RD_{m})^{2} \frac{P_{m} - P_{o}}{Q_{o}}$$

 $\geq$ 

$$\tau_{c} = \frac{V}{B} \frac{s}{Q_{0}}$$

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial c} = \frac{2}{100} RD_{m} \frac{P_{s} - P_{0}}{A}$$

The effective servovalve area  $A_{VO}$  and pressure  $P_O$  are typically taken to be equal to one-half the maximum servovalve area and one-half supply pressure for linear analysis. Thus, the linearized servovalve parameters are:

$$Q_0 = CA_{vo} \sqrt{\frac{P_s - P_o}{2}} = 955 \times 0.1 \sqrt{\frac{210 - 105}{2}}$$

giving

$$Q_{n} = 695 \, cm^{3}/s$$

Also

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial n} = \frac{2}{100} (2970)^2 \frac{105}{695} = 2.66 \times 10^4 \text{ kg-m-s}$$
  
$$\tau_c = \frac{895}{10,550} \times \frac{105}{695} = 0.013 \text{ s}$$
  
$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial c} = 0.02 \times 2970 \times \frac{105}{0.1} = 6.25 \times 10^4 \text{ kg-m/rad}$$

Generally, the linearized parameters must be varied somewhat to obtain the best correlation with the nonlinear system. To achieve this correlation, the following values were used:

$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial n} = 2.08 \times 10^4 \text{ kg-m/s}$$
$$\tau_c = 0.016 \text{ s}$$
$$\frac{\partial T}{\partial c} = 6.25 \times 10^4 \text{ kg-m/rad}$$

The initial gain values for  $K_1$ ,  $K_r$  and  $K_p$  were determined as follows. The bandpass goal was 15 Hz. Thus, a bandpass of 16 Hz was selected for the linear system, to allow some performance margin. From equation (5-9)

$$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{r}} = \frac{1}{\partial T / \partial \epsilon} \left( \tau_{\mathbf{c}} J \omega_{\mathrm{NS}}^{2} - \frac{\partial T}{\partial \mathbf{n}} \right)$$

and for

$$\omega_{\rm NS} = 2\pi \times 16 = 100 \ {\rm rad/s}$$

it follows that:

$$K_r = \frac{1}{6.25 \times 10^4} (0.016 \times 527 \times 100^2 - 2.08 \times 10^4) = 1.0$$

From equation (5-10)

$$\mathbf{K_{i}} = \beta \omega_{\mathrm{NS}} \left( \mathbf{K_{r}} + \frac{\partial T/\partial n}{\partial T/\partial \varepsilon} \right)$$

In this expression,  $\beta$  should equal 0.35 for the best linear system response, and  $\alpha$  should equal 0.7. Thus:

$$K_i = 0.35 \times 100 \left( 1.0 + \frac{2.08}{6.25} \right) = 47$$

Equation (5-11) specifies that:

$$K_p = \frac{1}{\partial T/\partial \epsilon} (\alpha \tau_c \omega_{NS} - 1)$$

Upon substituting numerical values, it follows that:

$$K_{p} = \frac{1}{6.25 \times 10^{4}} (0.016 \times 0.7 \times 100 - 1) = 2 \times 10^{-6}$$

## 5.2.4 Linear System Response

Based on the transfer functions presented in Sections 5.2.1 and 5.2.2, a digital computer solution for time and frequency response was obtained. Using ideal sensors and the parameters for the elevation axis, the resulting time response is illustrated in Figure 5-3. Note that the time response exhibits a 7 percent overshoot. A solution for system frequency response is illustrated in Figure 5-4. This figure shows that a bandpass of 18 Hz was achieved.

## 5.3 TRACKING ERROR REDUCTION

This section deals with the method of reducing the gun tracking error due to motions of the hull. Referring to Figure 5-5, which is a simplified block diagram of the rate command stabilization system with proportional and integral control, assume a constant hull rate input  $\theta_h$  and no command input ( $\theta_g = 0$ ). In steady state,  $\theta_g = 0$  and  $Q_v = Q_m$ . Then:

$$\varepsilon = - \frac{\partial T/\partial n}{\partial T/\partial \varepsilon} \dot{\theta}_{h}$$

Since the tracking error TE is given by:

 $TE = \theta_{g} - \theta_{g}$  $\epsilon = K_{r} (\dot{\theta}_{g} - \dot{\theta}_{g}) + K_{i} (\theta_{g} - \theta_{g})$ 

then the steady state tracking error is:

$$\mathbf{r}\mathbf{E} = -\mathbf{\theta}_{\mathbf{g}} = \frac{\mathbf{\varepsilon}}{\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{i}}} = -\frac{\mathbf{\partial}\mathbf{T}/\mathbf{\partial}\mathbf{n}}{\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{i}} \mathbf{\partial}\mathbf{T}/\mathbf{\partial}\mathbf{\varepsilon}} \mathbf{\dot{\theta}}_{\mathbf{h}}$$

It is desired to reduce this tracking error so that the gun is stabilized with respect to hull motions.

Two methods can be used to reduce the tracking error: The first method is a cancellation technique. Equation (5-13) shows that hull motion will cause no gun motion, and thus will result in no tracking error, if

$$K_{h} = \frac{\partial T/\partial n}{\partial T/\partial \epsilon}$$



-----

3







5-12

. '

1



Figure 5-5. Simplified Block Diagram of the Rate Command System

Therefore, hull motion can be effectively cancelled by using the output signal of an inertial hull sensor with gain  $K_h$  in the control law. Complete cancellation of hull motion coupling for the actual system, however, cannot be obtained due to nonlinearities and compressibility. In addition, gain variations due to such factors as aging and temperature will cause some tracking error. The cancellation technique, however, is very effective in reducing gun motion.

The second method uses only a single gun sensor. No vehicle motion signal input is provided for this system. The tracking error for the system will be inversely proportional to the error signal amplification and, therefore, a very high gain must be used. A lag-lead network is required to lower the high frequency gain for stability. The design technique is to first adjust the gains for the stable operation with the desired response. The gain required to lower the tracking error to an acceptable level is then determined. The lag-lead network is designed to maintain the high frequency gains at the original values for stable operation, while a higher gain is obtained at low frequency for low tracking error.

The higher gain and lag-lead network can also be used with the cancellation technique to reduce the sensitivity to variation of some of the gains.

#### 5.4 SENSOR ERROR ANALYSIS

#### 5.4.1 General

The effect of sensor errors on the control and stabilization system is the subject of this section. Sensor errors considered here are gain errors and offset errors. Only the rate command system is analyzed in this section. It is assumed that in both the rate and position command systems, the gunner will zero the tracking error with or without sensor errors. On that basis, sensor errors have an effect only on stabilizing the gun in the presence of hull motions. As described in Section 5.2.2, the response to hull motions is identical for both the rate and the position command systems.

The analysis presented here will consider a system utilizing:

- (1) Two rate sensors (Section 5.4.2)
- (2) A single acceleration sensor in the gun axis (Section 5.4.3)

## 5.4.2 Two Rate Sensors

Figure 5-6 is a simplified block diagram of the rate control system with two rate sensors. The transfer function of the sensors is assumed to be Y(s) with unity gain. For zero sensor gain error, Kbh = Kbg = 1. The sensor offset errors are  $\varepsilon_h$  and  $\varepsilon_g$ .

A hull sensor gain error has the same effect as a change in  $K_h$ . The effects of changes in  $K_h$  were investigated using the simulation and are described in Section 6.

A hull sensor offset error will give a constant steady state tracking error. This is determined as follows: Assuming that  $\theta_{g} = \theta_{h} = 0$  and  $\theta_{g} = 0$  (in steady state), then  $\varepsilon = 0$  and  $-K_{i} \theta_{g} = K_{h} \varepsilon_{h}$ . Since the tracking error TE =  $-\theta_{g}$ ,

$$r = \frac{K_h}{K_i} \epsilon_h$$

Typical gain values are  $K_h = 0.15$  and  $K_i = 50$ . Therefore, the tracking error in radians for an offset error in rad/s is TE = 0.003  $\varepsilon_h$ .

A gun sensor gain error will have little effect on the stabilization system since it only changes the loop gain and is like changing K<sub>r</sub> and K<sub>1</sub>. The effect of a gun sensor offset error  $\epsilon_g$  is analyzed as follows: Assuming  $\theta_s = 0$ , and  $\theta_h = \text{constant}$ , then in steady state,  $\theta_{gs} = 0$ . Therefore,  $\theta_g = -\epsilon_g$ . Since the tracking error is given by TE =  $\theta_s - \theta_g$ , it follows that TE =  $\int \epsilon_g dt$ . The tracking error for a gun

5-14

#### The second second second states as a far when we shall a second second second second second second second second



Figure 5-6. Simplified Block Diagram of the Rate Control System with Two Rate Sensors

sensor offset will therefore increase with time. As a result, it is mandatory to minimize the gun sensor offset error or devise a method of eliminating its effect. Section 5.5 discusses a method of eliminating sensor offset errors.

## 5.4.3 Single Acceleration Sensor

A simplified block diagram of a rate control system with a single acceleration sensor in the gun axis is presented in Figure 5-7. Both an integrating and a pneumatic accelerometer are shown, along with the corresponding rate computation networks.

For both of these acceleration sensors, a gain error (i.e.,  $K_{bg} \neq 1$ ) has the same effect as the rate sensors. The loop gain changes with the gain error, but the influence on the tracking error is small.



Figure 5-7. Simplified Block Diagram of the Rate Control System with a Single Acceleration Sensor

For the integrating accelerometer, the effect of an offset error is synthesized as follows: In steady state,  $\theta_{gg} = 0$ . Therefore,

$$\dot{\theta}_{gs} = 0 = \left(1 + \frac{1}{\tau_b s}\right) \left(\frac{\tau_b}{\tau_b s + 1} \tilde{\theta}_g + \epsilon_g\right)$$

It follows that

$$\ddot{\theta}_{g} = -s \epsilon_{g} - \frac{1}{\tau_{b} s} \epsilon_{g}$$

Since the tracking error is  $TE = -\theta_g$ ,

$$TE = \int \varepsilon_g dt + \iint \frac{\varepsilon_g}{\tau_b} dt dt$$

The tracking error will therefore increase with time for a constant offset error. Its effect, however, can be minimized by increasing the time constant  $\tau_b$ . For the pneumatic accelerometer, the effect of an offset error is determined in a similar manner. In steady state,  $\theta_{gg} = 0$  so that

$$\dot{\theta}_{gs} = 0 = \frac{1}{s} \left( \ddot{\theta}_{gs} + \varepsilon_{g} \right)$$

The tracking error is therefore

$$\mathbf{IE} = \theta_{\mathbf{g}} = \iint \varepsilon_{\mathbf{g}} \, \mathrm{dt} \, \mathrm{dt}$$

Again the tracking error will increase with time for a constant sensor offset error.

#### 5.5 METHOD OF ELIMINATING THE EFFECTS OF INTEGRATOR DRIFT AND SENSOR OFFSETS

The sensor error analysis in Section 5.4 shows that gun sensor offsets cause the gun to drift, and hence the tracking error to increase with time. A method has been developed which automatically nulls out the effects of integrator drift and sensor offsets. This method is illustrated in Figure 5-8. The sensor and integrator shown are parts of the original system. The track/store amplifier operates such that the output tracks (equals) the input when in the track mode, and stores (holds) the output when in the store mode.

The amplifier is ordinarily in the store mode so that the output of the sensor  $\theta_{gs}$  (gun rate in this case) is integrated to give the gun angle. At the time it is desired to null the sensor offset  $\varepsilon_g$  and the integrator drift  $\varepsilon_d$ , the track/store amplifier is put into the track mode. This must be accomplished during a period when the actual gun rate  $\theta_g$  is zero. Under these conditions, when the network reaches steady state, its output is zero, effectively nulling the offset and drift. Switching the amplifier to the store mode returns the system to normal operation except that now the drift and offset are nulled out.





Two of these networks are required for an acceleration sensor system while only one is required for a rate sensor system. In addition, the network is required only for the gun sensor since ap offset error in the hull sensor results in a small tracking error which does not increase with time.

In order to implement this type of drift and offset elimination, the gunner can be provided with a pushbutton switch which activates all the nulling networks. A timer could also be utilized to automatically return the system to normal operation after the nulling process is completed.

#### 5.6 EFFECT OF GYROS ON RESPONSE

A block diagram for analysis of the effect of rate sensor dynamics on response is presented in Figure 5-9. The transfer function for a command input is

$$\frac{\frac{\partial}{\partial g}}{\frac{\partial}{\partial s}} = \frac{\left(1 + \frac{K_r}{K_1} s\right) D_g}{1 + \left(\frac{K_r}{K_1} + \frac{D_a D_g}{K_a K_1}\right) s}$$
where

D = denominator of gyro transfer function

K = gain of actuator and gun transfer function

D = denominator of the actuator and gun transfer function

The gyro dynamics, represented by  $D_g$ , add a lead term to the transfer function, which will increase the overshoot to a step input command. The gyro dynamics also add phase lag to the open loop system, and thus will reduce the damping. Therefore, compensation must be used to reduce the overshoot and phase lag resulting from the sensor dynamics.

#### 5.7 FORWARD VERSUS FEEDBACK COMPENSATION

Lead-lag compensation must be used to reduce the overshoot and phase lag resulting from the sensor dynamics. In this section, a comparison is made between using this type of compensation in the forward or in the feedback path.

The block diagram in Figure 5-10 shows a system open loop transfer function with a gain term  $K_g$  in the numerator, dynamic terms  $D_g$  in the denominator, and with feedback compensation  $N_c/D_c$ .

The closed loop transfer function is

$$\frac{\hat{\theta}_{g}}{\theta_{a}} = \frac{K_{g} D_{c}}{K_{g} N_{c} + D_{c} D_{g}}$$

The block diagram in Figure 5-11 shows the same system with forward compensation. The closed loop response is

$$\frac{\frac{\theta}{g}}{\frac{\theta}{\theta}} = \frac{\frac{K_{s}N_{c}}{K_{s}N_{c} + D_{c}D_{s}}$$

The response with feedback compensation has a lead term equal to the compensation denominator  $D_c$ . The response with forward compensation has a lead term equal to the compensation numerator  $N_c$ . Generally, the smaller the lead time constant, the less the overshoot will be. Therefore, when lead-lag compensation is used, it should be in the feedback path. When lag-lead compensation is used, it should be in the forward path.



Figure 5-9. Block Diagram for Effect of Rate Sensor Dynamics on Response

F

ŧ



Figure 5-10. Simplified Block Diagram of System with Feedback Compensation



Figure 5-11. Simplified Block Diagram of System with Compensation in Forward Path

5-20

\$

# 5.8 SYSTEM STIFFNESS

Stiffness is the reciprocal of the response to a disturbance torque. The static stiffness can be considered as the equivalent spring rate of the system. The tracking error resulting from a constant disturbance torque equals the disturbance torque divided by the static stiffness. The stiffness transfer function is

$$\frac{T_{d}}{\theta_{g}} = K_{0} \frac{1 + a_{1} s + a_{2} s^{2} + a_{3} s^{3} + a_{4} s^{4}}{(1 + \tau_{p} s) (1 + \tau_{c} s) + K_{p} \tau_{p} \frac{\partial T}{\partial \varepsilon} s^{2}}$$

where

$$\mathbf{P}_{1} = \frac{1}{K_{1}} \frac{\partial T}{\partial \varepsilon} \left[ \frac{\partial T}{\partial n} + (K_{r} + K_{1} \tau_{p}) \frac{\partial T}{\partial \varepsilon} \right]$$

$$\mathbf{P}_{2} = \frac{1}{K_{1}} \frac{\partial T}{\partial \varepsilon} \left[ J_{g} + \tau_{p} \frac{\partial T}{\partial n} + K_{r} \frac{\partial T}{\partial \varepsilon} \right]$$

$$\mathbf{P}_{3} = \frac{1}{K_{1}} \frac{\partial T}{\partial \varepsilon} \left[ J_{g} (\tau_{p} + \tau_{c}) + K_{p} \tau_{p} \frac{\partial T}{\partial \varepsilon} \right]$$

$$\mathbf{P}_{4} = \frac{1}{K_{1}} \frac{\partial T}{\partial \varepsilon} J_{g} \tau_{c} \tau_{p}$$

The static stiffness is given by

$$K_0 = K_1 \frac{\partial T}{\partial \epsilon}$$

The stiffness should be high to minimize the effects of disturbance torques. Disturbance torques can result from gun bending mode vibrations, coupling, and bumps in the road. The static stiffness can be increased by increasing the system integral gain  $K_i$ . When  $K_i$  is increased, a low frequency dipole must be used in the forward path to lower the gain at high frequency as required for stability.

The analysis in Section 5.9 shows the effect of stiffness on tracking errors resulting from coupling.

## 5.9 COUPLING

The azimuth and elevation stabilization systems are coupled by both gyroscopic and hull roll rate effects. This section discusses this coupling and methods of minimizing their effect.

One cause of coupling between the azimuth and elevation axes is gyroscopic moments. According to the law for a gyroscope, if a mass is rotating about the x axis with angular momentum  $H_X$ , simultaneous rotation about the y axis will result in a torque about the z axis. Thus,

$$T_z = \omega_y \cdot H_x$$
 (5-14)

where

$$H_{x} = J_{x} \omega_{x} \qquad (5-15)$$

Applying this law to the elevation axis, with the gun pointing straight ahead, gives:

$$\mathbf{T}_{gc} = \dot{\boldsymbol{\phi}}_{h} \cdot \mathbf{J}_{gy} \, \dot{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{t} + \dot{\boldsymbol{\psi}}_{t} \cdot \mathbf{J}_{gx} \, \dot{\boldsymbol{\phi}}_{h} \tag{5-16}$$

where

 $J_{gx}$  = inertia of the gun about the roll axis

 $J_{gy}$  = inertia of the gun about the yaw axis

Thus, when turret rotation and roll occur simultaneously, the resulting torque  $T_{gc}$  is applied to the gun.

The gun moments of inertia about the yaw and roll axes are not known. A rough estimate of the inertia about the yaw axis was calculated by multiplying the gun mass by the square of the estimated distance from the gun's center of gravity to the center of turret rotation.

$$J_{gy} = 1.5^2 \times 100 = 225 \text{ kg-m-s}^2$$

The gun moment of inertia about the roll axis is assumed to be negligible.

The peak roll rate, from the HITPRO program, is 0.24 rad/s. The peak turret rate is assumed to be 1.571 rad/s.

The torque applied to the gun by the gyroscopic effect is thus

$$T_{gc} = \dot{\phi}_{h} \cdot J_{gy} \cdot \dot{\psi}_{t} = 0.24 \cdot 225 \times \frac{\pi}{2} = 85 \text{ kg-m}$$

The tracking error resulting from this torque is  $T_{gc}$  divided by the stiffness. The stiffness curve determined from the nonlinear computer simulation of the rate control system with electric gyro is shown in Figure 5-12. The stiffness at 0.6 Hz, the fundamental frequency of the bump course, is 5.6 x 10<sup>5</sup> kg-m/rad. Thus

$$TE = \frac{85}{5.6 \times 10^5} = 0.00015 \text{ rad } (0.15 \text{ mil})$$

~ -

When the gun is not pointing straight ahead, the coupling equation becomes

$$\mathbf{I}_{gc} = (\mathbf{J}_{gx} \cdot \mathbf{J}_{gy}) \left(\dot{\phi}_{h} \cos \psi_{t} + \dot{\theta}_{h} \sin \psi_{t}\right) \dot{\psi}_{t} \qquad (5-17)$$



Figure 5-12. Dynamic Stiffness Curve

Similarly, for the azimuth axis, a torque  $T_{tc}$  is applied to the turret when the vehicle rolls while the gun is being rotated about the pitch axis, and when vehicle pitch and roll occur simultaneously.

$$\mathbf{T}_{tc} = \dot{\phi}_{h} \cdot \mathbf{J}_{tz} \dot{\theta}_{h} + \dot{\theta}_{h} \cdot \mathbf{J}_{tx} \dot{\phi}_{h} + \dot{\phi}_{h} \cdot \mathbf{J}_{g} \dot{\theta}_{g}$$

where

 $J_{tx}$  = inertia of turret about the roll axis

 $J_{tz}$  = inertia of turret about the pitch axis

The turret inertias are assumed to be equal about all three axes. The torque applied to the turret, using hull rates from HITPRO, is

 $T_{tc} = 2 J_{t} \dot{\phi}_{h} \dot{\theta}_{h} + \dot{\phi}_{h} J_{g} \dot{\theta}_{g} = 2 \times 3140 \times 0.24 \times 0.18 + 0.24 \times 527 \times 1.05$ = 408 kg-m

The dynamic stiffness curve was not run for azimuth. However, azimuth stiffness should be about six times higher than for elevation, due to the higher inertia of the turret. The higher stiffness in azimuth was indicated by the smaller tracking errors on the bump course with this axis. The estimated tracking error resulting from gyro effect is thus

$$TE = \frac{408}{6 \times 5.6 \times 10^5} = 0.00012 \text{ rad } (0.12 \text{ mil})$$

The estimated tracking errors are within the goal of 0.25 mil, but are large enough to be significant. The calculated values could be considerably in error if the estimated inertias are significantly in error.

Two methods can be used to reduce the tracking errors resulting from coupling. The first method is by increasing the stiffness. Stiffness is proportional to the integral gain  $K_i$ , as shown in Section 5.8. Therefore, increasing  $K_i$  will reduce the coupling error. It is also important to tune the system parameters and compensation so that the stiffness remains high over the frequency band of coupling.

The second method uses a hull roll rate sensor to cancel the coupling effect. The coupling error can probably be reduced to an acceptable level by increasing the stiffness. Therefore, the second method was not studied in detail.

A second coupling effect, for elevation, is the result of hull pitch angle, as seen by the gun, varying with turret angle. When the turret angle is zero, the torque acting on the gun is given by

$$T_{g1} = T_A - \left( D_{gh} + \frac{\partial T}{\partial n} \right) \left( \dot{\theta}_g - \dot{\theta}_h \right)$$

where  $D_{gh}$  is the trunnion friction and  $\partial T/\partial n$  is the slope of the actuator torque-speed curve. The significance of the  $\partial T/\partial n$  term will now be discussed. Figure 5-13 shows the gun with a piston actuator, and with the servovalve represented by orifice area  $A_V$ . If there were no oil in the cylinder, and no trunnion friction, hull pitch motion would not apply any torque to the gun. The gun inertia would then maintain the gun orientation fixed in space. However, when there is oil in the cylinder, any motion of the hull relative to the gun results in oil being pumped through orifice  $A_V$ . This flow causes a differential pressure to act on the piston, and thus applies a torque to the gun. The ratio of the torque to the relative velocity is the term  $\partial T/\partial n$ .





The equation for friction coupling becomes considerably more complex when vehicle roll is considered.

A torque also results from hull acceleration. This torque is proportional to the gun mass unbalance  $L_g M_g$  and the distance between the hull centers of rotation and the trunnion.

$$T_{g2} = L_g H_g (R_p \theta_h \cos \psi_t + R_h \phi_h \sin \psi_t)$$

The mass unbalance of the gun is small. Therefore, this term will probably be negligible.

A second coupling for azimuth results from the turret mass unbalance with respect to the turret center of rotation  $L_t M_t$ . When the turret angle is zero, hull roll motion applys a torque to the turret, but hull pitch has no effect. When the turret angle is 90 deg, hull pitch motion applies a torque to the turret, and hull roll has no effect. The equation for the torque applied to the turret by these effects is

$$T_{t} = L_{t} M_{t} (\sin \theta_{h} \sin \psi_{t} + \sin \phi_{h} \cos \psi_{t})$$

# 5.10 SUMMARY OF ANALYTICAL SYSTEMS STUDY

Following is a summary of the results obtained and methods of synthesis accomplished by means of the analytical systems study. Some of these items proved to be invaluable in the subsequent computer analysis of the system.

- A linear model of the stabilization system was derived which aided in the design of the control system and allowed the establishment of an initial set of control gains.
- (2) For terrain inputs, the responses of the rate and position command systems are identical.
- (3) Two methods can be used to reduce the tracking error resulting from hull motion. These are:
  - (a) Cancellation of hull rate using hull rate sensor
  - (b) Lag-lead compensation with high loop gain
- (4) A sensor error analysis restricted to gain and offset errors showed that only gun sensor offset errors are significant and cause the tracking error to increase with time.
- (5) A method was developed for eliminating the effects of sensor offset errors and integrator drift.

5-26

1 ·

- (6) Sensor dynamics increase overshoot and reduce stability.
- (7) Lead-lag compensation will be required if the gun rate sensor phase lag is significant.
- (8) When a lead-lag configuration is used, it should be in the feedback path.
- (9) The integral control gain  $K_1$  should be high to maximize system stiffness and minimize the effects of disturbance torques.
- (10) When vehicle roll rates occur, significant coupling between the azimuth and elevation axes takes place in the form of gyroscopic moments and other effects.

#### SECTION 6

#### SIMULATION ANALYSIS RESULTS

# 6.1 GENERAL

This section contains a detailed description of the analog and digital computer results obtained in this study for the gun stabilization system. The objectives of the computer study are outlined here. The organization of the relevant computer program as well as a summary of the types of inputs and outputs are discussed in Section 6.2. Scction 6.3 compares the rate and position command systems. The results of a preliminary computer analysis evaluating the effects of nonlinear valve flow, vehicle hull dynamics, and hydraulic fluid compressibility are described in Section 6.4. The effects of these nonlinearities needed to be evaluated in order to judge whether or not they would be included in the detailed simulation models. A detailed evaluation of the complete stabilization system and the five candidate sensors are contained in Sections 6.5 and 6.6.

The following is a summary of the objectives considered in this sytems study.

- (1) Evaluate the effects of the nonlinear valve flow equations versus linearized flow, and the effect of hull dynamics.
- (2) Derive stabilization system configurations for each of the sensors, and define gains and compensation networks required to meet the performance goals with each system.
- (3) Investigate the effects of sensor gain variation, sensor deadband, and actuator friction on tracking error.
- (4) Perform detailed evaluation of the five prospective sensors for this application.
- (5) Determine the system time response for step and sinusoidal inputs.
- (6) Determine the tracking error for sinusoidal hull rates and for bump course using the HITPRO digital computer program.
- (7) Determine the gain and phase margins for each configuration.

The following sensors were analyzed in detail.

(1) Elevation Axis

1. SECOND

Two electric gyros.

Two hydraulic rate sensors (GE).

- Two laminar vortex rate sensors (Honeywell).
- One integrating accelerometer (Bendix).

# (2) Azimuth Axis

Two electric gyros

One pneumatic accelerometer (AiResearch)

Rate sensors can be used in either one (gun) or two (gun and hull) sensor configurations. Only the rate sensor configuration utilizing two sensors was analyzed in this study.

Accelerometers can be used in only the one sensor configuration. Since the accelerometer signal is integrated to obtain the rate signal, an accelerometer for sensing hull rate would have an open loop integrator which would result in excessive drift rates. On the other hand, the gun sensor integrator is within a closed control loop. Under those conditions, integrator drift will have less effect.

## 6.2 SIMULATION APPROACH

The organization of the computer programming approach utilized for the analog, hybrid, and digital computer programs is described in this section. The types of inputs, organization of the analog computer boards, analog computer switch logic utilized, and the hybrid computer inputs are also described. Detailed listings of all digital computer programs are contained in Appendix A. Analog and hybrid program wiring diagrams are presented in Appendix B.

Digital computer solutions were obtained for each system configuration as checks on the analog computer simulations. The following inputs were generally used for the digital computer simulations.

- (1) Command rate step inputs
- (2) Hull rate step inputs
- (3) Hull rate sinusoidal inputs

The analog program of the control system was initiated by means of a simplified linear model. The nonlinear flow equations, sensor dynamics, nonlinear friction, and deadband were added one at a time, so that their effects could be assessed individually.

In order to facilitate the selection of the various components for a particular computer simulation run, automated computer switches were used for the following purposes.

- (1) Selecting one of the five sensors.
- (2) Selecting either a two sensor configuration using a hull sensor and a gun sensor or a one sensor configuration using only a gun sensor.
- (3) Selecting either forward or feedback path compensation.

The following inputs were used for the hybrid computer study for determining time and frequency responses.

- (1) Step command rate input.
- (2) Sinusoidal rate command input.
- (3) Step hull rate input.
- (4) Sinusoidal hull rate input.
- (5) Simulated bump course from program HITPRO.

The step and sinusoidal command inputs used were sufficiently small to avoid saturation of any component of the simulation. A hull rate input in the azimuth axis as used here is representative of a pivot steer maneuver. The digital program HITPRO was used to provide realistic hull motion for the simulated bump course. To implement these rates in the simulation, the hull pitch motion was stored in the digital part of the hybrid computer from a magnetic tape and was then used for providing the elevation hull rate inputs. The same rate input was used for the azimuth axis because no comparable azimuth rates were available from the HITPRO program. This is a valid procedure since the power spectral densities of the hull pitch and yaw motions are approximately the same.

The sinusoidal hull rate input used was of approximately the same amplitude as the maximum hull rate observed for the bump course, and of approximately the same frequency as the bump course fundamental frequency.

# 6.3 COMPARISON STUDY OF RATE AND POSITION CONTROL FOR STABILIZATION

As discussed in Section 5.2.2, the transfer functions for hull rate inputs are the same for both the rate and position command systems. Also, the transfer functions for command inputs are the same if, for the position control system, the input compensation term  $s/(\tau_1 s + 1)$  is a perfect derivative.

In order to verify the above results, a computer study was made to compare responses using the rate and position command simulation models. Each of the rate and position command systems was modelled with equal gains and compensation networks and with two electric gyro sensors. A perfect derivative of the position command  $\theta_g$  was used in the position system. The frequency response curves of the two systems are shown in Figures 6-1 and 6-2. Figure 6-1 verifies that the two systems are, in fact, equivalent.

In an actual system, a perfect derivative cannot be generated; instead, an approximation to it must be generated by the input compensation network of the type  $s/(\tau_i s + 1)$ . Figure 6-2 shows the system frequency response using a perfect derivative and with  $\tau_i = 0.01$  s for the input compensation network.

As a result of this study, the performance evaluations of each of the five sensor configurations were conducted using the rate command system only.



Figure 6-1. Frequency Response - Position Control





## 6.4 PRELIMINARY SIMULATION STUDIES

# 6.4.1 Effect of Nonlinear Valve Flow

It was found by means of the computer simulation that the rate command system (with ideal sensors) exhibited basically the same step response with the linear flow models as with the nonlinear. When the electric gyro dynamics were added, the nonlinear model became unstable, while the linear model remained stable. This indicates that the nonlinear flow model has less phase margin than the linear model. The nonlinear flow model was therefore used for all subsequent system studies.

# 6.4.2 Effect of Hull Dynamics

Hull dynamics modelled in this simulation represent the effect observed when the actuator applies torque to the gun. At that point an equal and opposite torque is applied to the hull and the resulting hull motion affects the gun. The simulation was used to determine system response to command and hull rate inputs, with and without hull dynamics. It was found that hull dynamics had a negligible effect on system response and on the tracking error. As a result, hull dynamics were not included in the model for subsequent studies.

# 6.4.3 Effects of Changes in Fluid Compressibility and Bulk Modulus

The volume under compression V modelled in this simulation consists of the high pressure fluid in the servovalve, actuator, and connecting lines. The numerical value for V used here was obtained from the bibliography. This value seems large and indicates that in the past, long connecting lines were used. To determine whether this significantly affected system performance, a step response simulation was performed with a 10 percent reduction in the value of V. A negligible change in the step response of the system was observed.

The effect of a drastic change in the bulk modulus was also determined. This effect represents the process of air entering the hydraulic fluid. It was found that reducing the fluid bulk modulus B by 50 percent, has a negligible effect on the system step response and stability. These results indicate that the amount of pressure feedback used here was great enough to compensate for the large volume under compression.

Compressibility may have different effects when compliance and gun bending modes are added to the model. These effects should therefore be evaluated again in future studies when bending modes and compliance have been modelled.

## 6.5 EVALUATION OF SENSORS IN ELEVATION AXIS

Sections 6.5 and 6.6 contain the evaluation of each of the five sensors studied. Time and frequency response plots are presented to illustrate the results. The results for the sensors in Section 6.5.1 through 6.5.4 are based on elevation (gun) axis parameters while the results for the pneumatic accelerometer in Section 6.6 are based on azimuth axis parameters. All simulation results presented here are based on the rate command control concept as pointed out in Section 6.3.

#### 6.5.1 Evaluacion of Electric Rate Gyros

A block diagram of the rate command system with two electric rate gyros is presented in Figure 5-6. A hull rate sensor is used for cancellation of hull rate coupling, and a gun rate sensor is used for closing the control loop. Lead-lag compensation is used to compensate for sensor phase lag, and thus to improve stability. Compensation is in the feedback path. This is the best location for the compensation in order to reduce the overshoot to command step inputs. (See Section 5.7.)

Using the hybrid computer simulation, the gains were adjusted to obtain the desired frequency response, stability, and tracking error. The resulting gain values and compensation are:

$$K_{i} = 50 \ 1/s$$
  
 $K_{r} = 7.5$   
 $K_{p} = 2.5 \times 10^{-4} \ rad/(s-kg-cm^{2})$   
 $K_{h} = 0.15$ 

Feedback compensation  $\frac{1+0.008 \text{ s}}{1+0.0016 \text{ s}}$ 

The response to a command step input  $\dot{\theta}_s = rad/s$  was obtained, and is shown in Figure 6-3. The gun rate reaches the commanded speed, 0.05 rad/s, in about 0.04 s, overshoots about 15 percent, then settles to the commanded speed with no oscillations. The absence of oscillations indicates good damping. In the absence of a specific performance requirement for step response, the speed of response as well as damping appear satisfactory.



Figure 6-3. Response to a Command Step Input - Elevation Rate Control with Electric Gyros

....

----

6-7

المحب المسي

The error rate signal  $\varepsilon_s$  given by  $\varepsilon_s = \dot{\theta}_s - \dot{\theta}_{gs}$  is the input for the open loop response. The open loop response is given by:

$$\frac{\dot{\theta}_{gs}}{\dot{\theta}_{gs} - \dot{\theta}_{gs}}$$

The variable  $\hat{\theta}_{gs}$  (sensed gun rate) is the output signal for the open loop response. The variables  $\hat{\theta}_{g}$  and  $\hat{\theta}_{gs}$  are used mainly for determining frequency response, gain margin, and phase margin. These variables are also used as an aid in tuning the system.

The tracking error TE and the sensed tracking error  $\boldsymbol{\varepsilon}_T$  are defined as:

$$TE = \theta_{s} - \theta_{g}$$
$$\epsilon_{T} = \int \epsilon_{s} dt = \theta_{s} - \theta_{gs}$$

The variable TE originates at an open loop integration and therefore tends to drift. The variable  $\varepsilon_T$  is obtained from within the closed loop and generally does not drift. These two signals are nearly identical except when sensor deadband or a high frequency input are used. The actuator torque  $T_A$  is also shown.

The response to a sinusoidal hull pitch rate is shown in Figure 6-4. The pitch rate input is:

$$\dot{\theta}_{h} = 0.18 \sin (2\pi \times 0.6 t) \text{ rad/s}$$

This input is approximately equal to the most severe pitch rate experienced on the simulated bump course. As shown in Figure 6-4, the resulting tracking error has a peak-to-peak amplitude of 0.18 mil and thus meets the pointing performance specification of the system.

The closed loop frequency response curves  $\theta_g/\theta_s$  are shown in Figure 6-5. The open loop frequency response curves were used for determining the gain and phase margins. An input signal amplitude of



Figure 6-4. Response to Sinusoidal Pitch Rate - Elevation Rate Control with Electric Gyros



Figure 6-5. Closed Loop Frequency Response Curves - Elevation Rate Control with Electric Gyros

i

6-9

Z

;

0.03 rad/s peak to peak was used for all frequency response tests. The frequency response results are as follows.

| System bandpass:                          | 28 Hz                      |
|---|----------------------------|
| Open loop phase lag<br>at gain crossover: | 108 deg                    |
| Phase margin:                             | 180 deg - 108 deg = 72 deg |
| Gain margin:                              | 0.5                        |

The system gain margin was determined by increasing the gain until instability resulted. It was found that the system was stable with the gain doubled, and unstable with higher gain. This is equivalent to a gain margin of 0.5.

The frequency response results meet or exceed the performance criteria specified in Section 3.3.

Time response plots using inputs consisting of vehicle rates from the simulated bump course of the HITPRO program are given in Figures 6-6 through 6-8. Graphs summarizing these results are presented in Figures 6-9 and 6-10. The maximum tracking error for nominal conditions ( $K_{\rm h}$  = 0.15) was 0.18 mil peak to peak.

Figure 6-9 shows that a hull sensor gain error of 50 percent increased the tracking error to 0.4 mil.

Figure 6-10 shows that combined coulomb and stiction friction of 50 kg-m each, increased the tracking error to 0.4 mil.

The 0.18 mil tracking error observed with nominal conditions is well within the 0.5 mil criteria listed in Section 3.2. Note however that the combined effects of sensor gain error, sensor deadband, friction, noise, and cross-coupling of axes will increase the tracking error. The tracking error can then be reduced by increasing the system low frequency gain. This can be accomplished by adding lag-lead compensation in the forward path, of the form:

$$\frac{\tau_2}{\tau_1} \frac{1+\tau_1 s}{1+\tau_2 s}$$

A graph demonstrating dynamic stiffness is presented in Figure 6-11. These results were obtained by applying a sinusoidal disturbance torque, and recording tracking error as the output signal. Stiffness is the ratio of the torque amplitude to the tracking error. The minimum stiffness was found to be 111 dB. The dynamic stiffness should be high to minimize the effects of coupling and bending mode vibration.





Response to HITPRO Bump Course with Coulomb and Stiction Figure 6-8. Friction - Elevation Rate Control with Electric Gyros



`

Figure 6-9. Graph of Tracking Error Versus Hull Sensor Gain Error -Elevation Rate Control with Electric Gyros



Figure 6-10. Graph of Tracking Error Versus Friction - Elevation Rate Control with Electric Gyros



Figure 6-11. Dynamic Stiffness - Elevation Rate Control with Electric Gyros

# 6.5.2 Evaluation of Hydraulic Rate Sensor

Figure 5-6 is a block diagram of the stabilization system with the hydraulic rate sensor. The basic configuration is the same as with two electric gyros. Control gains and feedback compensation were identical to those used with the electric gyros.

Using the hybrid computer, the response of the system to a step rate commani  $\theta_s$  was obtained. As shown in Figure 6-12, this step response exhibited a 20 percent overshoot. The response time is about the same as for the system with two rate gyros.

The response to sinusoidal hull motion of an amylitude equivalent to the bump course is shown in Figure 6-13. The tracking error observed was 0.12 mil peak to peak.

The frequency response results shown in Figure 6-14 can be summarized as follows.

# Bandpass: 13 to 37 Hz Gain margin: 0.53 Phase margin: 50 deg

Note that the amplitude ratio is down 3 dB at 13 Hz and drops to -5 dB at 21 Hz. Modification of the feedback compensation network will allow improvement of the system bandpass.

The response to the HITPRO simulated bump course is shown in Figures 6-15 through 6-17. Figure 6-18 shows the maximum observed tracking error versus hull sensor gain error. A gain error of 33 percent increased the maximum tracking error to 0.38 mil. The maximum tracking error versus sensor threshold or deadband is shown in Figure 6-19. A deadband of 6 mils increases the tracking error to 2 mils. The effects of combined deadband and friction effects are shown in Figure 6-20. A small amount of friction hav the effect of reducing the cracking error. Larger amounts of friction increases the tracking error. The combination of deadband and friction increases the tendency for limit cycling.

# 6.5.3 Evaluation of Integrating Accelerometer

The block diagram of the stabilization system with an integrating accelerometer is presented in Figure 5-7. Only a single sensor, mounted on the gun, is used. The processed sensor signal is proportional to acceleration at frequencies below 0.1 Hz and to rate above 0.1 Hz. In the simulation model, the compensation network was designed to integrate the sensor signal below 0.1 Hz and thus to provide a rate signal at all frequencies.

Since there is no hull sensor, the system gain must be increased to reduce the tracking error. To achieve this, compensation was used in the forward path. The type of compensation increases the





Figure 6-14. Frequency Response - Hydraulic Rate Sensor



Figure 6-15. Response to HITPRO Simulated Bump Course - Hydraulic Rate Sensor

------



· · · .

ł







gain at low frequencies and decreases the gain at high frequencies as is required for stability. The forward compensation and system gains established using the hybrid computer simulation are as follows:

> Forward compensation: 10  $\frac{1 + 0.055 \text{ s}}{1 + 0.55 \text{ s}}$ Control gains:  $K_1 = 250$  $K_T = 7.5$  $K_p = 2.5 \times 10^{-4}$

The step response of this sensor configuration to a command rate input is shown in Figure 6-21. The response has a 60 percent overshoot. This overshoot can be reduced significantly using a lead-lag feedback compensation.

The response to a sinu $\circ$ oidal hull input, equivalent in amplitude to the most severe motion for the bump course, is shown in Figure 6-22. The tracking error observed was 0.11 mil peak to peak. The response to the actual HITPRO bump course is shown in Figure 6-23.

L SECOND TIME MARKS



Figure 6-21. Response to a Step Rate Command -Integrating Accelerometer



Figure 6-22. Response to Sinusoidal Hull Motion - Integrating Accelerometer



Accelerometer

The maximum tracking error observed is 0.28 mil peak to peak. The tracking error for the HITPRO input could be reduced by modifying the compensation.

Coulomb and stiction friction values of 100 kg-m each increased the tracking error to 0.38 mil, as shown in Figure 6-24. Figure 6-25 shows the maximum tracking error for various values of friction.

The frequency response curves are shown in Figure 6-26. The frequency response results can be summarized as follows.

| Bandpass:     | 16 Hz  |
|---------------|--------|
| Gain margin:  | 0.53   |
| Phase margin: | 45 deg |

## 6.5.4 Evaluation of Laminar Vortex Sensor

A block diagram for the rate command system with two laminar vortex sensors is shown in Figure 5-6. The sensor models consist of a single lag and a time delay. The time delay was simulated in the digital part of the hybrid computer. To achieve this for the gun rate sensor, the gun rate signal from the analog computer was fed into the digital computer, delayed in time, and then fed back to the analog computer. For the hull sensor, the hull rate from the HITPRO program was delayed in time in the sensor path, but used without time delay in the remaining portion of the simulation.

The step response to a rate command input is shown in Figure 6-27. A 30 percent overshoot is exhibited.

The response to the simulated bump course using the HITPRO program is shown in Figures 6-28 and 6-29 for hull sensor gains of 0.15 and 0.20, respectively. A plot of tracking error versus hull sensor gain  $K_h$  is shown in Figure 6-30. From this graph, a gain of 0.15 was selected as the nominal value with the minimum tracking error. Increasing  $K_h$  to 0.20 increased the tracking error to 0.6 mil. Decreasing  $K_h$  to 0.10 increased the tracking error to 0.28 mil.

The sinusoidal hull input response was not obtained for this sensor.

The frequency response curves are shown in Figure 6-31. The frequency response results are summarized as follows.

| Bandpass:     | 25 Hz  |
|---------------|--------|
| Gain margin:  | 0.50   |
| Phase margin: | 50 deg |



Salar Salar

Integrating Accelerometer



Figure 6-26. Frequency Response - Integrating Accelerometer

.....

6-23

\*\*\*



Figure 6-27. Response to a Step Rate Command - Laminar Vortex Sensor











چ.

# 6.6 EVALUATION OF SENSORS IN AZIMUTH AXIS

# 6.6.1 Evaluation of Electric Rate Gyros

The block diagram of the azimuth stabilization system with two electric rate gyros, shown in Figure 5-6, is identical to the block diagram for the elevation axis. Only some of the parameters were changed to allow for hardware differences between these. (See Tables 2-1 and 2-2.)

Using the hybrid computer simulation, the step response of the system to a rate command input was obtained and is shown in Figure 6-32. The observed overshoot is 36 percent.

The response to sinusoidal hull motion equivalent in amplitude to the bump course is shown in Figure 6-33. The observed tracking error was 0.03 mil peak-to-peak.

The response of the system using the simulated HITPRO bump course is shown in Figure 6-34. The maximum tracking error is also 0.03 mil peak to peak. The response of the system to the bump course with a 20 percent hull sensor gain error was also investigated and the results are as shown in Figure 6-35. This amount of gain error increased the tracking error to about 0.07 mil.

The effects of hull sensor gain variations for both the bump course and sinusoidal hull motions are summarized in Figure 6-36. It is evident that the observed tracking error is approximately the same for either input.

Additional simulation studies were conducted to determine the response to the bump course with 2 and 6 mil/s sensor deadband. These results are shown in Figures 6-37 and 6-38, respectively.

The effects of deadband and friction on the tracking error are summarized in Figure 6-39. Coulomb friction of 100 kg-m increased the tracking error to 0.5 mil. The addition of an equal amount of stiction friction did not change the tracking error. Sensor deadband of 2 mils/s increased the tracking error to 0.07 mil. For larger deadband, a limit cycle occurred, and the tracking error was greatly increased.

The frequency response curves are shown in Figure 5-40. The frequency response results are numerated as follows.

> Bandpass: 21 Hz Gain margin: 0.50 Phase margin: 55 deg

The response of the system to a pivot steer maneuver is shown in Figure 6-41. In a pivot steer maneuver, the tank is turning at its maximum rate, i.e., 180 deg in 8 s. In practice, it in desired that the gun remain pointing at the target during this maneuver. As shown in Figure 6-41, there is a momentary tracking error of 0.09 mil. The tracking error then decays to zero after about 0.5 s.






1 SECOND TIME MARKS

0.0001

-0.0001

TE (RAD)

Figure 6-33.

Response to Sinusoidal Hull Motion - Azimuth Rate Control with Electric Gyros 

6-29

-

•••





# 6.6.2 Evaluation of Pneumatic Accelerometer

A block diagram of the stabilization system for the azimuth axis using a pneumatic accelerometer is presented in Figure 5-7. The accelerometer is used for sensing turret acceleration, and the sensor output signal is integrated to obtain the turret rate signal.

A high gain loop was used to reduce the tracking error. Compensation was used in the forward path for reducing the gain at high frequency to achieve stability. In addition, feedback compensation was used to reduce the effects of sensor phase lag.

The gains and compensation networks used in the simulation were as follows.

 $K_{i} = 35$   $K_{r} = 10$   $K_{p} = 2 \times 10^{-4}$ Forward compensation:  $10 \frac{1 + 0.05 \text{ s}}{1 + 0.5 \text{ s}}$ Feedback compensation:  $\frac{1 + 0.010 \text{ s}}{1 + 0.002 \text{ s}}$ 





F

1000.0

A. Frites

'3/\* Response to HITPRO Bump Cour with 2 ms Sensor Deadband ~ Azimuth Rate Control with Electric Gyros ĩ



Figure 6-39. Effects of Deadband and Friction on Tracking Error -Azimuth Rate Control with Electric Gyros



Figure 6-40. Frequency Response - Azimuth Rate Control with Electric Gyros

- ----

We have been been been a set

6-32

and the second

•



nere in the second

Figure 6-41. Response to Pivot Steer Maneuver - Azimuth Rate Control with Electric Gyros

The step response obtained with the hybrid computer simulation is shown in Figure 6-42. An overshoot of 44 percent was observed.

The response to sinusoidal hull motion equivalent in amplitude to the maximum hull motion for the bump course is shown in Figure 6-43. The observed tracking error was 0.2. mil peak to peak.

The response to the HITPRO bump course is shown in Figure 6-44. The effect of adding 100 kg-m coulomb friction and 100 kg-m stiction friction is shown in Figure 6-45. The resulting maximum tracking error was again 0.25 mil. The friction caused an increase in the maximum tracking error for larger values of friction, as shown in Figure 6-46.

The frequency response curves are shown in Figure 6-47. The frequency response results can be summarized as follows.

| Bandpass:     | 15 Hz  |
|---------------|--------|
| Gain margin:  | 0.55   |
| Phase margin: | 36 deg |



And the second second

Accelerometer



ı



i. .

Figure 6-46. Maximum Tracking Error Versus Friction - Pneumatic Acculerometer



Figure 6-47. Frequency Response - Pneumatic Accelerometer

.

6.7 SUMMARY OF SIMULATION RESULTS

1.

t.

Ť

Simulation of the stabilization system has produced the following results.

- (1) The linear servovalve-actuator model provided a means of estimating required system gains but was not sufficiently accurate to be used in the sensor evaluation study. The nonlinear model was therefore used for sensor evaluations.
- (2) Hull dynamics had a negligible effect on system response and tracking error.
- (3) A summary of the results of the sensor evaluation study is presented in Table 6-1.

Table 6-1(A) summarizes the results for the rate sensors. For each of these systems, a rate sensor was mounted in the gun and the hull axis.

Table 6-1(B) summarizes the results for the accelerometers studied. For both of these systems, an accelerometer was mounted in the gun axis only.

It is to be noted that the systems represented in the table were not fully optimized in this study. An absolute comparison of the sensors is therefore not entirely justified.

As indicated by Table 6-1, the performance criteria were met for all of the sensor configurations.

- (4) A hull sensor gain error of 25 percent can be tolerated without exceeding the tracking error requirement.
- (5) Coulomb friction of 100 kg-m increases the tracking error by approximately 0.5 mil peak to peak.

Table 6-1 - Results of the Sensor Evaluation Study

....

A. Rate Sensor Results - Gun and Hull Sensor

|           |                   |                    |            |     | Gains                  |       |                 | Phase           |                | Nax.                            | Step                               |
|-----------|-------------------|--------------------|------------|-----|------------------------|-------|-----------------|-----------------|----------------|---------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Arts      | System<br>Command | Sensors            | ×          | × × | - <sup>4</sup>         | £     | andpass<br>(Hz) | Margin<br>(deg) | Gain<br>Margin | ITACKIAS<br>Error<br>(Hile P-P) | wespouse<br>Overshoot<br>(percent) |
| Elevation | Rate              | 2 Elec. Gyros      | ß          | 7.5 | 2.3 × 10 <sup>-4</sup> | 0.15  | 28              | 72              | 0.50           | 0.18                            | 13                                 |
| Elevation | Rate              | 2 G.E. Fludic      | 50         | 7.5 | 2.5 × 10 <sup>-4</sup> | 0.15  | 13              | 50              | 0.53           | 0.11                            | 20                                 |
| Elevation | Rate              | 2 Honeywell Vortex | <b>0</b> 7 | 4.8 | 2.0 × 10 <sup>-4</sup> | 0.15  | 25              | 50              | 0.50           | 0.21                            | 8                                  |
| Azimuth   | Rate              | 2 Elec. Gyros      | ×          | 4.0 | 0.2 × 10 <sup>-4</sup> | 0.165 | 14              | 45              | 0.50           | 0.03                            | 36                                 |
| Elevation | Position          | 2 Elec. Gyros      | 8          | 7.5 | 2.5 × 10 <sup>-4</sup> | 0.135 | 28              | 72              | 0.50           | 0.13                            | 15                                 |

# B. Acceleration Sensor Results - Gun Sensor Only

|           |                   |                      |                |      | Gaine                  |    |      | Phase           |        | Max.<br>Trackine    | Step<br>Teenome        |
|-----------|-------------------|----------------------|----------------|------|------------------------|----|------|-----------------|--------|---------------------|------------------------|
| Axis      | system<br>Command | Sensors              | K <sub>t</sub> | , K  | к<br>ж                 | ¥. | (H2) | Margin<br>(deg) | Margin | Error<br>(Mile P-P) | Overshoot<br>(percent) |
| Elevation | Rate              | l Bendix Int. Accel. | 250            | 7.5  | 2.5 × 10 <sup>-4</sup> | 1  | 16   | 45              | 0.53   | 0.28                | 3                      |
| Azimuth   | Rate              | I Airesearch Accel.  | 35             | 10.0 | 2.0 × 10 <sup>-4</sup> | ł  | 15   | 36              | 0.55   | 0.25                | 7                      |

.

NOTE: Tracking error values are for HITPRO bump course with nominal gains, no coulomb and stiction friction, and no deadband.

R-18-6

6-38

1

ι

### SECTION 7

### CONCLUSIONS

A mathematical model of a suitable stabilization system for the M60Al tank main gun was formulated and programmed. The model was defined so as to include most of the significant nonlinearities such as nonlinear valve flow and hull dynamics due to gun motion. A hybrid computer analysis was performed to determine the operating characteristics of the stabilization system, to evaluate prospective sensors for sensing gun and/or hull rate, and to determine whether a rate or position command control concept is preferable with respect to specified performance criteria.

An analytical study revealed that both the rate and position control concepts required a proportional plus integral control law in order to minimize the gun tracking error. It was also shown that the rate and position concepts are equivalent in terms of nulling out the effects of hull motions and thus of stabilizing the gun after the target is in the sight. A computer analysis which followed verified this equivalence. In addition, it was possible to show that the effect of hull motions on the system can be minimized by either a high control loop gain along with a lead-lag compensation network or by using a hull sensor signal in the control law.

The extensive computer simulation analysis revealed several conclusions in the areas of stabilization control philosophy and sensor applicability. In the process of arriving at a full computer model of the system for sensor evaluation, it was found that the effect of hull dynamics on the gun was negligible. Nonlinear valve flow, however, was found to have a significant influence on system performance. A linearized flow model was not sufficiently accurate for use in this study.

It was found that all five of the sensors studied in this program meet the performance criteria set forth by the Contracting Officer's Representative. In addition, this study indicates that these criteria can be met by using only a gun sensor. If verified by further studies, the need for a corresponding hull sensor may be eliminated.

The detailed sensor study immediately revealed that automatic offset and integrator drift nulling circuits are required when using an acceleration sensor. A method which can be used for this purpose is described in Section 5.5.

In addition, increasing the gain of the acceleration sensor will decrease the sensor offset effects, and hence the drift rate. More generally, it was found in the sensor study that sensor gain errors have a small effect on the tracking error. Also, a combination of sensor deadband and gun or turret friction will cause the system to limit cycle.

In order to compensate for sensor phase lag, feedback compensation is required. Forward path compensation is desirable for obtaining stability with higher loop gains for this system.

### SECTION 8

# RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that in future system studies and sensor evaluations, additional system characteristics including realistic bending modes and hardware compliance model be added. The effects of providing an extensive model for friction which separates the effects of stiction coulomb, and running friction through switching logic should also be investigated. Sensor models should be utilized allowing for sensor errors due to noise, deadband, gain variation, and offset. It is also of importance on a complete system model to include integrator drift and an automatic nulling circuit. When these effects have been included in the model, a statistical analysis of the pointing error output data will be required in order to afford more detailed and objective performance comparisons. Inclusion of the additional nonlinearities mentioned will also make it possible to better optimize the system gains and compensation networks.

It is also recommended that a gunner model be included in the tracking loop, in order to arrive at additional data for comparing the rate and position command control concept. A display of tracking error can be developed using an oscilloscope for which a human operator can issue realistic commands to the system to simulate target tracking. Inclusion of an operator model in the simulation will allow a determination of the tracking and stabilization capabilities of the system.

In addition, it is recommended that steps be taken to verify the results of this simulation study by means of field test data with an M60Al tank. Additional insight into the system operating characteristics and the effects of significant nonlinearities could be gained. A verification study would consist of obtaining recordings of measurements of hull and gun rates and achieved pointing accuracies on various types of terrain, and comparing these with the results of this study.

An optimal control theory approach to the stabilization of the M60Al tank gun may also be desirable in the future if additional performance specifications are defined for the gun or if conventional techniques fail to achieve the goals when additional nonlinearites are included.

### SECTION 9

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. <u>A Mathematical Representation of the M60Al Azimuth and Elevation</u> <u>Control and Add-On Stabilization System</u>, Report No. CDE-SA-TR-71-09, <u>Chrysler Corporation</u>, Defense Division, 2 November 1971.
- Performance Requirements for Turret, Cupola, and Gun Control System, 19207-11608400, U.S. Army Tank Automotive Center, Warren, Michigan, 24 October 1968.
- HITPRO, Volume II (User's Manual), Technical Report No. RE-TR-71-63, GEOS. No. FDU 71-6, U.S. Army Weapons Command, Rock Island, Illinois, 15 November 1971.
- 4. <u>An Analysis and Simulation of the M60A1E2 Tank Main Gun's Elevation</u> <u>Control System</u>, Report No. RG-TR-69-14, U.S. Army Missile Command, August 1969.
- Final Report Hull Angular Motions for the M601A Vehicle With Add-On Stabilization System, Report No. RS 1663, Chrysler Corporation, Defense Operations Division, 15 July 1970.
- 6. Functional Checkout and Troubleshooting Instructions for M60Al Tank Stabilized Gun Control System, Cadillac Gage Company, 8 March 1967.
- <u>Final Report Product Improvement Test of Gun Mount, 105-MM, M140,</u> <u>for M601A Tank</u>, Report No. APG-MT-4064, Aberdeen Proving Ground, <u>May 1972.</u>

# APPENDIX A

6.0

ACTUATOR SIZING STUDY AND DIGITAL CHECK SOLUTIONS

191

.

122/12/2012/2012 012 012/05



# ACTUATOR SIZING STUDY

1.

A--2



1 Ē SVSILID KER-TINE MAITOR-4.0 RETURICE (M: 03 - 40 6406 AURATOR-OLUA 60PTIOL 5-3 121930-E FORTRAM

rig R ž 24 PRINT 237, MJ, DM, VC 23 FORMIT (JHL, A', MJ, DN, VCM', 3720, 3) FRINT 25 FORMIT (ALLA' THE'N', 313, THETN', BU, THE'N', DDT', 350, 1997, 413, 417, 144, VC', 444, TN', /) ENTERIAR DIFEC DIMENSION LOCZO DIMENSION LOCZO DIMENSION DUNCAD), VCCC20 DIMENSION DUNCAD), VCCC20 DIMENSION DUNCAD, VCCC20 DIMENSION DUNCAD, VCCC20 DIMENSION VCCC20, VCCC20 DIMENSION VCCC20 DI SYSTEMS REAL-TINE HONITOR-4. SVSTERS 85/86 FORTRAN IV CONFILER (REV G) READ 5. VCC(14) IF (VCC(14), EQ. 99999. )00 TO 15 00 TO 13 15 KVC-IN-1 16 REAL 17: DN. (100(111), 114-1, 101V) 17 FORM (F10 3, 2013) 17: CM EQ. 97399, 3510P DO 700 18-1, KVC RVV(IN) F10.3) IV) . EQ. 99999. )00 TO 7 NG-VCC(E) 00 600 JH-L KAN 1F (100(JH) . NE. 1)00 TO 600 71=3. 14159 Y(2)=0. 00 TO 3 ₹ Ŧ 0 P P e 9 ACTUALOR 12:20.03 NIN 196 18222222222 \*\*\*\*\* A-5

04770 0720 08700 08100 ž 쁥 VP. TH. AL. DIFECT PRINT 320 CALL SLOTOTT-DEOW, Nº JANIN, JAVNL BNIN, BVVL Nº, NC) PRINT 330 FORMATC/, THETA DED VERSUS TIME') FORMATC//, THETA DOT DED VERSUS TIME') CALL SLOT(TT, DTA NP. XHIM, XHIV, SHIV, SHOV, MT, MC) PRINT 510 CALL SLOT(TT, DTAD, NP. XHIN, XHIV, SHIV, SHOV, NP. NC) PRINT 520 SYNTEMS REAL-TINE HONITOR-4.0 212 2 217 /\* Theth deb versus time\*)
/\* Theth dot ded versus time\*)
/\* \* V deb versus time\*) PUTH-V(2)+100 /PI PUTH-V(2)+130 /PI PUTH-V(1)+139 /PI I FUTH-CHIF-20+13) .EQ D)PRINT 230. I TO PUTH-PUTHD-V(2), VC, V(2), Y(4), TA FUTH-I (2117/28)+28) .NC. 000 TO 200 IF(NIT-CHIF/28)+28) .NC. 000 TO 200 SYSTEMS BANG FORTPAN 1. COMPILER (REV. D) C2+2 0 + 64++2.74500 + 64 2+42 KK+1 100 CHL FACH MAL V. W. TO. DT. WL NE-114-100 200 CONTINUE IFCTD. LT TENDYOD TO 100 PRINT 200, TO, TEND, NJ, NT - Y 300 FORMUTC TO, TEND, NJ, NT - Y 300 FORMUTC TO, TEND, NJ, NT - Y 2 1 2 HP-HF-1 D1((10)=F01H D10(NP)=F01H DEGV(NP)=F11D BPRIC=DTHC1 ICNP>=TN 15 (81:80 L-1 SLO FORMATCAL SCO FORMATCAL SCO FORMATCAL SCONTINUE PER CONTINUE PER CONTINUE PER CONTINUE PER CONTINUE PER CONTINUE SMIN-DTHC IF CEMAX IF CONCIN R 2 **FICTURITOR** 15.34 65 2 en e 

Mar STULING NEWL-TING ALMORAGE Sufficienting Enfoce, w. r. n. Elingnation Vers. Evers. Mics., **PPERS. Alect. 43** Edu. - J PERIL The Construction of the Council of the University The Construction The Construction The Council of C SYSTERS 9506 FORTRAN IV CONFILER (REV D) WE UP THE HUTCH U LIPE' 

r ----

**A-7** 





et 600 et 620 et 630 et 630 et 630 et 630 et 630 et 630 et 730 et 730

÷.,



. 1



.'

уÎ,











و مورید ا مار ۷ م









END

PG 10 FINAL

**A-20** 








CONT. ON PG 3

,

PG 2 OF 1

**A-24** 

• .









۶.













A-34

DIGITAL CHECK SOLUTIONS



A-35

1.1.3





A-37

ī, s

m Ë 990 FORMT(" ", F14. 3. F14. 4. F14. 5. F14. 6. 2F14. 4. F14. 4. F14. 5. F14. 5) AL LINGHT-LACHT-L LINGHT-LACHT-L IFCLNENT NE. 0)00 TO 40 FRUIT 997 (HDLCJ, NCS), JaL 0 ), (HD2(L NDD), LeL 0) FRUIT 997 (HDLCJ, NCS), JaL 0 ), (HD2(L NDD), LeL 0) A. (HD2(ND, NCH, NS), JaL 0 ), (HD2(L NDD), LeL 0) FRUIT 997 (HD1(C N + 49%, 20M) 997 FORHTCY 1, 31M, //) 997 FORHTCY 1, 31M, //) 936, T, THOD, EPT, TA, EPS, THODI, THHOD, ON XTHP LL=0 Call Rx(NEG.LL, V, DV, T, DT, NJ, VP, T1L A1, D1FEQ) NJN=NLM+1 CALL DIFEO(Y, YP, T, NED) PRINT 990, T, (Y(J), J-L, NED), (YP(L), L-L NED) SWITCHS REAL-TIME MUNITUR-4 0 SYSTERS BS/86 FORTRAL IV CONFILER (REV O) FORMATIC'S, 9014, 6, 7134, 6014, 6) 1F(T, 6E, THD)00 10 200 00 56 K=1, ICNT HANNAG CALL DIFEG(V, W. T. NEO) DO LANTINE IF (INSCI EQ 0 100 TO 34 TEMPETHEO/THEOT ALL(1)#17:EPT ALL(1)#17:EPT FC(MCS: EQ. 1)GO TO 41 FFC(S: EQ. 4)GO TO 41 VPL(2: NPT)=THQD VPL(3: NPT)=TR AL VPL (2) NFT)=THOD VFL(3) NPT)=TR 42 CONTINUE 930 FORMIT("E", 9014.6 MCS-124C5+6.1 MCC-124C5+6.1 MCC-124C70+0.1 MCC-124C70-0.1 MC2-124C70-001 L14MF-1 L14MF **\$**; 31 CONTINUE SO CONTINE 3 30 V(K)=0 NI41 8 8 MGBUIG 10 10 AI 17.61/21 ١ NC RI \*\*\*\*\*\*\*\* <u>n</u> 7 . 386888 32

.د

ŝ

뿙 999 FURNACY (1964) FURN GUATHID TOT' 1804 FUNCTION THAT 1 100 - 1055 GUATHIN DOT' 304 THATHD DOT' 1204 GUAL 1804 FUR 201 GA 10 - 2011 2002 2012 2012 NOS 201 VIRUATION DOT Strucks Realistic hour days SYSTERS BUDG FORTRAN IV CONFILER (REV D) VINCE 1- 005 00 10 243 202 VND:(1)= 045 VND:(2)= 19 NSH=2 203 XIN40.0 0XI440.0 1-1-51 ž Mound EH 10 A4 12/19//4 NIGH 28699999 

| KINS KR-THE N | PILER (PEV. | LOCATION IN MIN | COORCE     | C00070   | CUMUNC   | CDADET      | PINCON                  | FJ0.18 | X02119           |      |        | +1000a     | 31.201     | 2011      | C0003C   | C00-100  | C06148         |       |             | C00.2F8 | P0012C   | X011-04   | PUG324     | Pa0338     | P0033C                 | PN0144      | P00248     | Pelfic     | CONCOM | CONOG    | C0000           | BCE04      | COOFAS   |        | P00158   | P0015C     | estro.      |                | Peecec   | N82356    | P00010   | COORE    | C0001C   |
|---------------|-------------|-----------------|------------|----------|----------|-------------|-------------------------|--------|------------------|------|--------|------------|------------|-----------|----------|--|----------------|-------|-------------|---------|--|-----------|------------|------------|------------------------|-------------|------------|------------|--------|----------|-----------------|------------|----------|--------|----------|------------|-------------|----------------|----------|-----------|----------|----------|----------|
| ×.            | MOU > I     | STURALE         | 5443       |          |          | 5.85        | Land                    |        | EXTERNAL<br>2015 |      | 55     | LOCAL      | EXTERNAL   | EXTERNAL  | PARS     | Selection of the second | 89<br>89<br>89 | 29    | 500248      | HERO    | 1<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2 | EXTERNE   | LOCAL      | LOCAL      |                        |             | LOCH       | ENTRY      |        | CHORE    | CASE<br>Tool EE | LOCH L     | THRLES   |        | LOCH     | LOCH       |             | 200005         | LOCAL    | EXTERNAL  | LOCAL    |          | Press    |
| trion:        | K T K A N   |                 |            |          |          |             |                         |        |                  |      |        |            |            |           |          |  |                |       |             |         | R FULLHOPD   |           | R FULLHORD | R FULLHUPD |                        | R FILLINGED | R FULLHORD | R FULLHOFT |        | FULLING  | R FULLIOGO      | E FULLHORD | FULLHORD |        | FULLIORD | R FULLHORD |             |                |          |           |          |          |          |
| £             | 0 + 1       | NOCE            | <b>NEW</b> | N S      |          | :<br>보<br>고 | <b>H</b><br>H<br>H<br>H | PER.   |                  |      |        | 1          |            | DE SU     | PEAL     | REAL   |                |       | Ž           | PEAL.   | INTEGE   | INTEGE    | INCENT     | INTER      | INTEGE                 | INTEGE      | INTEGE     | INTEGE     | INTEGE | INTEGE   | INTEGE          | INTEGE     | INTEGE   | INTEGE | INTEGE   | INTEGE     |             | ŏ              |          |           | REAL     |          | REAL     |
| 10 - C - 2    | R-S ⇔ S H   | USHCE           | VHEIFBLE   | VAPINGLE | VIRTHELE | VAPIFICE    | VFRUICLE                |        |                  |      | WPIELE | VAR In ELE | PKOCET UPE | PROCEDURE | VARIABLE | APPRA  | And            | PODRV | CONTRAN BLC | REAV    | VAR LAG  | PPCFFUELS | WPC IFOLE  | VAP I HBLE | VARIABLE<br>USE 1301 E | VARIABLE    | VIS I HELE | PROCEPUNE  |        | VARIABLE |                 | VARIABLE   | VARIABLE |        | VARIABLE | VAR LABLE  | CONVIN BLC  | COMPOSITION OF | VARIABLE | PROCEDURE | VARIAGLE | VHXTHELE | VARIABLE |
| 12/14         | SVSTE       | SWBIL           | HN         | ᄨ        | 10       | 6.0         | F                       | 2      | 01.150           | EDAT |        | EPT        | EXIT       | 0.01      | ;<br>£   | 5  | Ş              | 22    | E RO        | HDALL.  | 1  |           | ,          | ¥          |                        |             | I          | NIN        | MCD    | NON      | NCS<br>NCS      |            | N        |        | IS N     | Ę          | n<br>Sector |                | PF       | P-01      | E        |          | PTE      |

אבייין נאביין אבאר-דואב ייייק ומא-4.0 א כסארי דו ביג לויביי יי

ï

1

Ë

2) 뼕 SYSTEMS REAL-TINE HANTTON-A.O IV COMPILER (REV. 0) LOCATION IN MAIN C00014 C00014 C00014 C00114 C00114 C00014 F00784 F00784 F00784 F00784 BSCC0 30624 00018 00018 00030 00060 P0007C P0007C C0000C P0005C P0005C 00380 6000 60020 60020 60030 60030 CHOICE DAY 2000 0000 082 0003 ÒGGO 80 269 STORALE LANTERS CARE FORTERN HEAK S. ਵੱਡ ਵੱਡ ਛੁਢ ਛੁਢ ਛੁ TU TA LO VARTABLE VARTABLE VARTABLE VARTABLE VARTABLE VARTABLE USRG. 1 4 61 - 1 SWEDL HIGH CONTRACT CONTRAC PTN 22 CONTRACTOR CONT 29 29 A-42

| 5 <b>Y</b> 2 <b>I</b> E | HS V SH              | 6 FORTRAN | 1 < C 0 M      | PILER (REV. 0)  |
|-------------------------|----------------------|-----------|----------------|-----------------|
| SVICE                   | Juine                | EAE       | STOF RUE       | LICHTON IN MARY |
| OTHER                   | 51,311,020           | FEM       | LOCAL          | 81000           |
| T-MCH1                  | CHRIFELS             | 1.2       | E X H          | 1.30-33         |
| THE REAL                | Volt 1:44 E          | i Ent.    | 100            | C.C.C.d         |
| 11.:                    | 12:25                | 56.4      | THELES         | C. S. L. S. C.  |
| •                       | 3 1121 - 244         | PUH.      | 542            | CONVIC          |
| H IF                    | 222224               | FEHL      | E:: TERNAL     | 101. max        |
| N                       |                      | PEIL      | Pfirts         | CORNED          |
| LX.                     | ideal mile           | <b>F</b>  | ~~~~           | (11411)         |
| N SE                    | TI I I I             | Frit      | 5.4.4          | 0.06978         |
| XXA                     | JAN 1941             | FER       | PARS           | 110000          |
| 8                       | VARTHELE             | PE 34     | Sand           | CO.043          |
| 98).X                   | 37541484             | FCAL      | Print I        | またろう            |
| 玉文                      | VHRIFFLE             | FEHL      | FriRS          | CHANNES         |
| нź                      | VEPLACE              | FER.      | Prince         | CONDOC          |
| ۲Ż                      | VEPLIELE             | REAL      | Parcs          | COND            |
| e X                     | A HR LHELE           | REAL      | PRUS           | COLVES          |
| 33:R                    | VINK IHBLE           | FEAL .    | Pars           | 00000           |
| 11<br>12<br>12          | AHE LEBUE            | RCAL      | PRP:5          | 00074           |
| Ř                       | <b>VIRIALLE</b>      | REAL      | See.           | 0.00024         |
|                         | VAFINELE             | PER       | LOCAL          | PUNCO           |
| žĚ                      | ARP LAFL, E          | REAL      | LOCAL          | P003C4          |
| 200                     | VAP IN BLE           | PER.      | PARS           | 0.00050         |
| をえ                      | VAF 1984.E           | PER.      | PRES           | COURSE          |
| 5.5                     | VRPINALE             | FER.      | Pars           | C8004C          |
| 10 1                    | VAR LEELE            | FER.      | PRES           | 000694          |
| đ<br>ک                  | HI:FUV               | FEHL      | LOCAL          | 801004          |
| XIND                    | VAPIHELE<br>VAPIHELE | R'ERL     | ečt            | Central         |
| >                       | FREEV                | PEHL.     | LOCAL          | PUNUO D         |
| 5ł                      | AFFR/                | 25.2      | LCCA.          | Pecced          |
| Z,                      | RPFRY                | REA.      | LOOM           | P00334          |
| žž                      | REFAU                | RCAL      | Local<br>Local | POGDAG          |
| \$                      | BRITH.               | REAL      |                | Pri0054         |
| Ę                       |                      | PER.      | LOCAL          | P603AC          |
| ₹,                      | HIGHAN A             |           |                | PBIRI P         |
| 2                       |                      |           |                | P01/66          |
| J                       |                      |           |                |                 |

١,

ä

ł.

ý

Ś

**A-43** 

۲

PAGE

9

SPSIENS PERLETING INITIOR-4, 0 hure (u 

01010 01040 01030 01050 61070 91090 91190 91119 NV NV DP SUFRENTLY, TRENT CUTTRE-VELIDATED, 43, HD2(10, 2), HD2(2, 4, 6), HD4-(7, 6), HDMLL(20) CUMULEPPES, HEM/55) CUTEPPETUR MARE (55) 20 Portor Contraction of the second seco KHY , PIN', , TRU2 SYNTERS BARE FORTFAN IV CUNPTLER (REV D) ₹\$Ģ , , , , CH2/, DSE/, C96/, 184/ VIAUNT' ŝ 10 REHO 335 TO VAL FCID GT 10005TOP 1 FCID EQ 100100 TO 20 PRHITID)=001 Imis/ NET.) è モニモモ TUSAT 

01009H EA:18 48 12.19.7

**N**.

SVELENS BS96 FORTRAN IV CONFILER (REV. 0)

ž

| SWEEL    | CISALE                | NO.E             | またいいい          | LOCATION IN IN-   |
|----------|-----------------------|------------------|----------------|---|
| 110      |                       | TECHCER          |                | DOD BC  |
|          |                       |                  |                |   |
|          |                       |                  |                | Raino.  |
|          | 1.45.51               |                  | Ĩ              | 62000d  |
|          | LAFEL                 | FURNAT           | đ S            | P00037  |
| 20.50    | LAGEL                 | FORTH            | LOCAL          | Park and  |
| 665.0    | LABL                  | FORMAT           | LUCA           | PORAAI  |
| New      | VAFLARLE              | INTEGER FULLHOPD | LCC M          | DJ. UNA   |
| NR.91    | VAPINBLE              | INTEGER FULLHORD | LOCH           | BOD DES   |
| ) P.0.2  | A REAL FRAME          | INTEGER FULLWORD | 100            | TU  |
| 5000     | CONSTANT              | INTEGER FULLIORD |                | Pini C B  |
| C 609.2  | CUNNING               | REAL             | 5              | POUTEA  |
| C. 6063  | CONSTRAIL             | INTEGER FULLINGD | a.             | Photo |
| 0000     | CONSTRAT              | INTEGER FULLINGO | E O            | POG   |
| C 0003   | CONSTRUE              | INTEGER DOUBLE   | LOCAL          | 50 Ded  |
| A TF     | PROCEDURE             | REAL             | EXTERNAL       | X8079C  |
| ر ۳<br>۲ | PROCECURE             | INTEGER FULLMORD | EXTERNE        | X001F0  |
| EXIT     | PROCELURE             | REN              | EXTERNAL       | X0208   |
| ē        | APPENT                | REH              | HERO           | 000000  |
| i di     | REFIN                 | REAL             | HERD           | C00140  |
| EGH      | FRESS                 | REAL             | HERO           | C881 98   |
| Ž        | Arest                 | REAL             | HERO<br>HERO   | C08258  |
| 16.50    | COMON BLOC            | ×                | 84286S         |   |
|          | RPP-                  | REAL.            | HERD           | C00.3F8   |
| 01       | VAPIABLE              | INTERER PULLIOND | LOCAL          | P0994C  |
| INPUT    | PPOCEDURE             | INTERER FULLHORD | ENTRY          | P90158  |
| <b>ר</b> | VARIFELE              | INTEGER FULLHORD | LOCAL          | P00050  |
| ×        | VARIABLE              | INTEGER FULLHORD | LOCAL          | P00054  |
| <b>ر</b> | VARIABLE              | INTEGER FULLHORD | LOCAL          | P.J0058   |
| z        | VARIABLE              | INTEGER FULLHORD | LOCAL<br>LOCAL | POOOSC  |
| z        | VAKIABLE              | INTEGER FULLHORD | LOCH           | P90060  |
|          | REH'                  | INTEGER FULLHORD | LOCAL          | P00964  |
|          | ARE LEELE             | INTEGER FULLHOPD | LOCAL          | P00140  |
|          | ARE NO.               | INTEGER FULLHORD | LOCA           | P00144  |
| KCS      | VAKIFELE              | INTEGER FULLHORD | LOCH           | P80148  |
|          | A-PPI - PPLE          | INTEGER FULLHORD | LOCAL          | P0014C  |
|          | HERHY                 | REAL             | PRES           | C00000  |
| 0:       |                       |                  | Secence        |   |
| × 8      | PKULEUUPE<br>UODIOCIE |                  |                | PLAN EA   |
|          | PRICEDURE             | REAL             | EXTERNO        |   |
| -        | P':OCEDUPE            | REAL             | EXTERNAL       | X063C0  |
|          | VARIGELE              | REAL             | LOCAL          | Pout 50   |
| H 17     | PROCEDURE             | REAL             | ECTERNA.       | X00360  |
|          |                       |                  |                |   |

45 .

۲

٢

SYJTEMS NEW-TIME IMMITUR-A. 0

ţ

Mar 1



• :

L **MK 12** STUFHS HER-TIME NONTOK-4.0 UNVIENS BUER FORTRAN IV CONVILER (REV. 0) EPS=XXI+(THG-THO)-XCC+THOD-XOC+THOD THSP01=THSP00 GO TO (150, 258, 358, 458, 538, 538), NOP GO TO (150, 258, 358, 458, 598), NOP GO TO (108, 288, 388, 588), NCS 160 CONTINE Comments Control (LINER HODEL C EPR-)X(B+()X(]+EPT+)X(R+(THEDT-THED)) TOPIC N 00 10 50 20 00 10 625.23.245.MCH 21 11501-60 013651NCHUP16F15 22 11401-60 13651NCHUP16F05 22 11401-60 13651NCHUP16F05 23 10-1500 651NCHUP16F075 23 10-1500 651NCHUP16F075 200 CONTINUE 2000 CONTINUE 2000 CONTROL LIVERR MODEL 2000 CONTROL LIVERR MODEL 410T=0.6+SIN(140P]=F=T) #10T=TH:460+TH:10T LECTION 64 750 70 223 LECTOLO 64 750 70 223 THELETHTOL (NOH) THICL (NOH)=TH40 THICL (NOH)=TH40 THICL (NOH)=TH40 NOVENNHI IF (NOV GT NEL)NON-1 12 (NOV GT NEL)NON-1 15 (SC) NE 0, YOO TO 124 THEEL ETHOT 60 F0 50 14 THEFTAF THEFTAF FUTA OF TALK R **GSPCD** 101 TADT=CPTE+CEP Se continue 424 CONTINUE TUSPDT=7 PFD1=(X EPT=145 ×(6) = Part and 8 5=1 8 MG6010 CD: 01: 03 12.67.77 Ph Lo 75 228 5 883388 885 G 1 2582555

776

.

| MGE 13                         |                        | 47950<br>47950<br>47950   | 625279<br>622529<br>622529<br>622529<br>622529  | 62368<br>62610<br>62610  | 065280<br>052280<br>05528   | 8E 928   | 62639  | 62716<br>62716<br>62746  | 82228<br>82728<br>82728<br>82728<br>82728<br>82728<br>82728<br>82278<br>82278<br>82278<br>82278<br>82278<br>82278<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>8228<br>828<br>8228<br>8228<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8288<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>85888<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>8588<br>85888<br>85888<br>85888<br>85888<br>85888<br>85888<br>85888<br>85888<br>8588 |
|--------------------------------|------------------------|---|---|--|---|--|--|--|---|
| SVSTATES FERL-TINE MUNITUR-4 0 | N IV CUNFILER (FEV G)  | EPS=ELR - STAIRTHEADT<br>FROT=LFTER - EPS-FFT-PTRACTHALD-THALDT) - TRY/TRALC<br>FFOT= FFTELM - SPECTRALT OT (0, 3, 75007=0,<br>FFTTER FFTELM - RAD, TRALT - LT, 0, 3, 75007=0,<br>FFOT= (SSETFTRALD) - TRALP<br>FFOT= (SSETFTRALD) - TRALP<br>FFOT= (SSETFTRALD) - TRALP<br>FFOT=0, 0 | RVDT=0 9<br>THATO-COH+TD-COH+CTHOD-THHDT))/XJ<br>CONTINUE<br>CONTINUE<br>NUMLTHAEAR FLON NOOEL - RATE CONTROL | LFR=5.X.64 (XXT • EPT+XXR•(THSDT-TH3D))<br>EPS=EPR-XXH+TH+DT<br>COM1 TM:E<br>EPV1 ETH50 T-TMGD | TENTINE<br>TENTINE<br>IFCPH GT FSJPMa-PS<br>TARENYAPHA: 01<br>TARENYAPHA: 01<br>TRUTEG, 0 | 94.=%1.+PH<br>104=604+«(1400-14401)<br>164=604-«(1400-14401)<br>04=65-621(08.5+(P5+PH))э+М<br>04=645/87(08.5+(P5-PH))э+М | CONTINUE<br>TFMT=2, AEA(OV-OH-OL)/V<br>TFMT ED, PS AND, PNDT, GT, G, ) PNDT-O<br>TFYEN ED, -PS, AND, PNDT, LT, G, )PNDT-O, | PFCI=CSSPETRUP+RDM=PDT=0_01-PF3/TRUP<br>RVDT=CSPA+CEPS-PF3-RV3/TRUP<br>TH:CDCT=CFA+TD-DGH+CTNGD-THEDT3/2/XJ<br>TH:CDCT=CFA+DD-DGH+CTNGD-THEDT3/2/XJ<br>TH:CDC=CFA+DD-DGH+CTNGD-THEDT3/2/XJ | THHGIC=THHGID+LD       THHGIC=THHGID+LD       THHGIC=THHGID       THHGIC=THHGID       THHGIC=THHGID       THCIT   |
| Bithen                         | 7. UL & O .            | 201   | AK ST   | <b>P</b> }   | 5   | ្ពុឆ្ន   | 22   | - <b>2</b>   | e   |
| ER TR AN                       | 8 5/5 6 F              |   |   |  |   |  |  |  | ·· .  |
| 12/19/74                       | s V S T E M S<br>Difeu | 6866<br>1119<br>1119<br>1119<br>1119<br>1119<br>1119<br>1119  | 41: 5 - 18 6 8 3<br>7 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -   | 22222  | 1925828   | RARA   | 1986 <b>1</b>  | 1999<br>1999<br>1999   | 199982333333333   |

•

THE ST **30** 10 (10, 202, 303, 301), NCS **30** 10 (101, 202, 303, 301), NCS 1029210=10 + MH+H++ (THQD-PHQSD)-2. - 2257+44++103700-44 PHC2(10+ (0329) + MGSD0-PHQSD)-78, 607 PHC2(10+ (0329) + PHQSD0-PHQSD)/78, 607 PHC2(10+ (1020) + PHQSD0-PHQSD)/78, 607 PPC2(10+ (1020) + PHQSD0-PHQSD)/78, 607 PPC2(10+ (1020) + PHQSD0-PHQSD)/78, 607 PPC2(10+ (1020) + PHQSD)+78, 607 PPC2(10+ (1020) EPSPR 47X 1 & CH45 - TH05) + XXR+ CTH50T - TH050) EPSP6 + XK1 + CTH50T - TH050) + XXR+ (TH50T - TH0500) EPS0T + (CTH12/1AH1) + (TRU1+EPSP0+EPSPR) - EPS)/THU2 SVSIFIS RENL-TIRE HUITUR-4.0 CAMPANTING C INVELINE + LUN NICEL - POSITION CONTROL CAMPANTING 500 EPTETHS-THO VP (13)=TGSP20 PHGSC4=(TGC+1GSP30+TGSP00+E1)/TPG PHGS05=GTHU3+PHGSD0+PHGSD-THGSD)/TRU4 IF (PGT): 01. 060) PCD-PGT0-080 IF (PGT0: LT. -060) PCD-PGT0-080 PHCSD0-(XKB0-PYD-PHCSD)/TNUS PFC20) PHCSD0-PHCSD0-PHCSD-THCSD)/TNUK VF(18) = THCSD0 F.C.F.C.C.F. U.T. CONTENP=THONOT-DBO F.C.THECOT L.T. -DONJYTENP=THODOT+DBO GCPSD=4.C.U.BO+TBU+TENP -TGSPDOX/TBO STOLERS BURGEROR RALIV CURPILER (REV. U) HALCHAFNA EL HALVER(TAHTO-DAHACTHCD-THADT))/XJ EF5471 14257-30.84 THED-300H4THHDT GD 10 341 TF4FH G1 P53PFH=P5 TF4FH L1 -F53FH=P5 STUP+10;8+4TMSDT-THGD)+99:1+6PT V+193=6PS RETURN IF (1411): GT. (84)PHD=PHT0-DBH IF (1411): GT. (84)PHD=PHT0-DBH THECO+(PHD=T)HED)/TRUS PP(21)=THHEDD PQT0=TGOEL VP(18)=THG500 (19)=EPSUT (12)=V(18) EFUT=0 D 0-04 Y.6.4EF1 0.0-00 TEMP 10. 2 ß 2 19:10 00 2.19.2 041.1 23 5553334 55553333 6 5222222**2**222 88 £ 8 8 5

![](_page_170_Figure_0.jpeg)

| • •••    |                  |         | •  |   | • •   |  | •  | -   | <b>.</b>  | <b></b> .               |                                  | •                                | -                       | •            |                    | -          | • • •                                 |            | •                       | • |   |
|----------|------------------|---------|--|---|-------|--|--|---|---|-------------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|-------------------------|--------------|--------------------|------------|---------------------------------------|------------|-------------------------|---|---|
|          |                  |         |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         |   | • |
|          |                  |         |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         | • |   |
|          |                  |         |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         |   |   |
|          |                  |         |  |   |       |  |  |   |   | ·• .                    |                                  |                                  |                         | ÷            |                    |            |                                       |            | •                       |   |   |
|          |                  |         |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         |   |   |
| 3        | }                |         |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         |   |   |
| ž        |                  |         |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         | • |   |
|          |                  |         |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         |   |   |
|          |                  |         |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         |   |   |
|          |                  |         |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         |   |   |
|          |                  |         |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         |   | • |
| Ĭ        | •                |         |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         |   |   |
| INI TO   | ô                |         |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         | t |   |
| 별        | >                | DIFED   |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         |   |   |
|          |                  | N       |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         |   |   |
| EB:      |                  | XAT10   |  |   | 04F0  | 0500<br>0770<br>07E0   |  |   |   |                         | 00000<br>00000<br>00000<br>00000 | 19600<br>19600<br>19600<br>19600 | 11298                   |              | 195                |            | 1100                                  |            |                         |   |   |
| SYS      | 4.<br>E          | 3       | <b>X</b> XXX                               | 2221  | K I K | <u>z z z</u>   | 2221   | 2222  | 2223  |                         | ≃22)<br>                         | 1222                             | ****                    | <u>x</u> xx  | دد                 |            | 221                                   | 222        | <b>ZZ</b> Z             |   |   |
|          | 0<br>5           | OKANOE  | ಕ್ಷಕ್ಷ                                     | ಕ್ಷಕ್ಷ  | t t t | ಕ್ರಕ್ರ   | ಕತಕ  | ಕ್ಷಣೆಕ  | ಕತ್ರಕ   | ಕ್ಷಕ್ಷ                  | <u>א</u><br>קאליק                | ಕ್ಷಕ್ಷ                           | ಕ್ರಕ್ರಕ                 | हहड          | <b>đ</b> đ         | ಕ್ಷತ್ರ     | 55                                    | ಕ್ಷಕ್ಷ     | ತತನ                     |   |   |
|          | >                | ST      | 2223                                       | 233:  | 333   | 335  | <u>999</u>   | 3933  | 3333  | 5555                    | ZGG                              | 3333                             | 2222                    | 222          | <u>9</u> 5:<br>000 | 333        | <u>9</u> 93                           | 222        | 233                     |   |   |
|          | 2 6              |         |  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  |                         |              |                    |            |                                       |            |                         |   |   |
| - Ne     | *                |         |  |   |       | s<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S<br>S |  | 1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1<br>1 |   |                         | <u>.</u>                         |                                  |                         | 888<br>888   |                    | 388<br>555 | 888<br>223                            | 288<br>555 | 888<br>855              |   |   |
|          |                  | HICE    | TRANS<br>TRANS<br>TRANS<br>TRANS           | 1545<br>1645<br>1625<br>1625<br>1625<br>1625<br>1625<br>1625<br>1625<br>162     | TRANS | TPARS<br>TPARS<br>TRANS  | TRANS<br>TRANS<br>TRANS  |   | TRACT   | TRANS<br>TRANS<br>TRANS | TRANS<br>TRANS<br>TRANS          | TRANS<br>TRANS                   | TRANS<br>INTEG<br>INTEG | INTEG        | INTEG              | INTEG      | INTEG                                 |            | INTEG<br>INTEG<br>INTEG |   |   |
| 9.<br>16 |                  |         | ·  |   |       |  |  |   |   |                         |                                  |                                  | يور بي ا                | بدا لدا إيد: |                    | عا لدا لدا | -                                     | بيا إما إل | س <b>س</b> س            |   |   |
| - 6      | े के             |         |  |   | ر ر ر | بربرب  | ದೆವೆದೆ   | 1220  | ಕೆದೆದೆಂ   | រជុំជុំជុំ              |                                  | ತದ್ದ                             |                         | e e e        |                    | E E E E    | a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a |            |                         |   |   |
|          | 8<br>8<br>5      | ž       | <b>9</b> 2 2 2 2 2                         | ជុំផ្លូផ្លូផ្លូវ  |       | 꺴냋뺤  | <u>.</u><br>   | ن فن في ن   | မွတ္ထာမ   | 100 ¥ 00 (              | <u> </u>                         | ຍຼິຍອອ                           | <u> </u>                | ***          | ***                |            | 99 E 1                                | ***        | ***                     |   |   |
| -1.6     | ENS 85           | U.AGE   | LINEL<br>LINEL<br>LINEL<br>LINEL           |   |       |  |  | 5553  |   | 1222                    |                                  |                                  | 95555<br>95555<br>95555 | 222          | 223                | 555        | 55                                    |            | 555                     |   |   |
| 12/19/21 | 1.5 1 E M S 8 34 | at mate | 0 LAREL<br>00 LAREL<br>01 LAREL<br>1 LAREL | 23<br>23<br>23<br>23<br>23<br>23<br>23<br>23<br>23<br>23<br>23<br>23<br>23<br>2 |       | 00 LAEE<br>00 LAEE   | <b>2</b><br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2 |   | 91<br>91<br>91<br>91<br>91<br>91<br>91<br>91<br>91<br>91<br>91<br>91<br>91<br>9 |                         | 588.<br>588.                     | 8888<br>8888                     |                         |              | 802 - CR           |            |                                       |            |                         |   |   |

•

1

A-51

.

|   |                        |              |                |  | •                            |              | <b></b>                                    | ••           | •• <b>•</b> | -                                | • ••   | i <b>≠</b> -                        |                     | • • •  | •.   | •  | • <b>••</b> • •      | ••••••                               | •                 |        |                   | <b>***</b> ***                  |                                       | • •         |   | •. |
|---|------------------------|--------------|----------------|--|------------------------------|--------------|--|--------------|-------------|----------------------------------|--|-------------------------------------|---------------------|--|------|--|----------------------|--------------------------------------|-------------------|--------|-------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-------------|---|----|
|   |                        |              |                |  |                              |              |  |              |             |                                  |  |                                     |                     |  |      |  | ÷                    |                                      |                   | •      |                   |                                 |                                       | ;<br>;<br>; |   |    |
|   |                        |              |                |  |                              |              |  |              |             |                                  |  |                                     |                     |  |      |  |                      |                                      |                   |        |                   |                                 |                                       |             | • | •  |
|   | MGE 17                 |              |                |  |                              |              |  |              |             |                                  |  |                                     |                     | , .  |      |  |                      |                                      | •                 |        |                   |                                 |                                       |             |   | •  |
|   |                        |              |                |  |                              |              | ι,   |              |             |                                  |  |                                     |                     |  |      |  |                      |                                      |                   |        |                   |                                 |                                       | ,           |   |    |
|   | HS KEIL-TIMEMITUR-4. 0 | LER (REV. G) | HTICH IN DIFEO | JES<br>JES<br>JES  | 570<br>574                   | JFC          | 86)<br>100                                 | 113          | 424         | 87<br>22<br>24                   | 517<br>517<br>517<br>517<br>517<br>517<br>517<br>517<br>517<br>517 | 1400<br>1400                        | 444<br>416<br>0C8   | 004  | 010  | 06C  | 0-20<br>0-20<br>0-20 | 050<br>050                           |                   |        | 334<br>319<br>818 | 810<br>858<br>866               | 890<br>890<br>891                     | ì           |   |    |
|   | SV-11EI                | COMPTI       | 1901 - 1901    | 121  | 22                           | 22           |  |              | 22          |                                  | 111  |                                     |                     |  | 200  | 833  | 888                  |                                      | 200               |        |                   |                                 |                                       | •<br>•      |   | ,  |
|   |                        | > =          | STUP           | 555  | 55                           | 55           | 555  |              | 122         | 352                              | 555  | ອີອີອີຊີຊີ                          |                     | FOCH<br>FOCH                                 | SNUC |  |                      | PARS                                 | ENTR<br>PRCS      |        |                   | Page<br>Sara                    | C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C |             |   |    |
|   | BUDUTH                 | URTRRN       |                | GER FILLING<br>GER FILLING<br>GER FILLING  | GER FILLINGE<br>GER FILLINGE | GER FULLIOR  | SER FULLIOR<br>SER FULLIOR<br>SEP SIL LOOR |              |             |                                  |  |                                     | GER DOUBLE          |  |      |  |                      |                                      |                   |        |                   |                                 | OFF FALLAD                            |             |   | •  |
| • | 4. 01 U3               | S SVB C F    | HECE           | al International | PLE INTE                     | RLE INTE     | SLE INTE<br>SLE INTE<br>TATO               | AUT REAL     | ANT REAL    | ANT REAL<br>ANT REAL<br>ANT REAL | ANT PERL   | ANT PERL<br>ANT REAL                | ANT NER<br>BLE REAL | 2010<br>2010<br>2010<br>2010<br>2010<br>2010 |      |  |                      | REAL<br>REAL<br>REAL<br>REAL<br>REAL | NPE<br>PER<br>PER |        | ALE REAL          | are<br>Are<br>Are<br>Are<br>Are | NRE FER                               |             |   |    |
|   | 131                    | 5 T E N S    | JL USE         | ARPIA<br>VARIA<br>VARIA  |                              |              |  | CONSTRUCTION | CONST       |                                  | Se CONSTI  | LI CONSTI<br>11 CONSTI<br>12 CONSTI | 13 CONSTI           | VARIA<br>VARIA<br>VARIA                      |      | HIAN<br>HARN   | 1747<br>1919<br>1919 | VARIA<br>VARIA<br>VARIA              | PROCE             |        | PROCEI            | A VARIA                         | Proce<br>WRIAN<br>WRIAN               |             |   |    |
|   | 2                      |              | Č.             | ತಕಿಕ   | E P :                        | . <b>-</b> - | 192  | 888          | 388         | 388                              | 200  | 222                                 | 38                  | Ęž   | , M  | 1<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2 | £₩Ψ                  | <u>w</u> _e                          |                   | Se v F | 358               |                                 | 5.8                                   |             |   |    |

| • |   | -                |                  | · .  |   |  |  |  |                                     |   | -  | <b></b> .                  | <b>.</b>  | ····<br>i<br>·<br>· |                              |
|---|---|------------------|------------------|--|---|--|--|--|-------------------------------------|---|--|----------------------------|---|---------------------|------------------------------|
|   | • | 10 TO            |                  |  |   |  |  |  |                                     |   |  |                            |   | :                   |                              |
|   |   | JITCA-4. 0<br>Al | <b>a</b>         |  |   |  |  |  |                                     |   |  |                            |   |                     |                              |
|   |   | SVJEIG MHL-THE   | LOCHTON IN DIFEO | CONTRO<br>CONSENS<br>FUNCE -<br>FUNCE -<br>COMPACE<br>COMPACE      | 57500<br>77500<br>77500<br>77500<br>77500 | P000134<br>P000138<br>P000138<br>P000138 | C60010<br>C80010<br>P00048                   | P3000  | с. холто<br>холто<br>Ромби<br>Румби | P10654<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C200450<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20050<br>C20 |  | C00028<br>C00028<br>C00084 | P000000<br>P000000<br>P000000<br>P000000<br>P0000014<br>P0000014<br>P0000014<br>P000000 | ,                   |                              |
|   |   |                  | STUALITS.        |  | ಕೆನೆಸೆಕ್ಕೆ<br>ಜನಸ್ಥಿತಿ<br>ತಿಂದ ವಿವರಿಗಳು   | ಹೆಹೆಹ<br>ಅಂತಿರಿ<br>ಗ್ರಾಮ                 |  | PARS<br>PARS   | EXTERNO<br>EXTERNO<br>CUMPY         | 1<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2  |  |                            |   |                     |                              |
|   |   |                  | 1                | INTER FULL<br>INTER FULL<br>INTER FULL<br>INTER FULL<br>INTER FULL | ट ल ज ल ल<br>२७४४<br>२४४४                 | 전 관 관 권<br>1 월 월 월 월                     |  | र्ट्ट र ते ते ते ते ते<br>देखें से से से देखें<br>देखें से | ಕ ಹ ಹ ಹ<br>ಕ ಹ ಹ ಹ<br>ಕ ಹ ಹ ಹ ಹ     | ਵਾਂ ਦੀ ਦੀ ਦੀ ਦੀ ਦੀ<br>22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22  |  |                            |   |                     | and an and the second second |
|   |   |                  | IISHGE           |  | VIETCOLO<br>VIETCOLO<br>VIETCOLO          |  | VARIAGLE<br>VARIAGLE<br>VARIAGLE<br>VARIAGLE | VRIALE<br>VRIALE<br>VRIALE<br>VRIALE   | PROCEDURE<br>PROCEDURE<br>VARIABLE  | VARIAELE<br>VARIAELE<br>VARIAELE<br>VARIAELE<br>VARIAELE<br>VARIAELE  | VAP 1 ABLE<br>VAP 1 ABLE<br>VAP 1 ABLE<br>VAP 1 ABLE |                            | VARIABLE<br>VARIABLE<br>VARIABLE<br>VARIABLE<br>VARIABLE<br>VARIABLE<br>VARIABLE        |                     |                              |
|   |   | 51. ··           | . W. DCI.        | NNE SEL  | 10 91 H                                   | Ē  | PHISO<br>PHISO                               | 88822<br>2   | SIN<br>SIN<br>TSSET                 | 1691<br>185<br>1941<br>1941   |  | SET ST                     |   |                     |                              |

|  | <pre>Y 2 TE N 2 3.0.0 F D F D M N V C M P L L E A</pre>   | 12,13    | 10 - 00 - 01 - 01 - 01 - 01 - 01 - 01 - | 1.01                                      | 61-JASH |                | SYSILMS HER      | L-11K    | DIN. |
|--|---|----------|---|---|---------|----------------|------------------|----------|------|
| L Cont<br>Cont<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte<br>Merinte | L CAME MCE STANDER EN LUCHION IN CONTRACTOR LUCHION IN CONTRACTOR EN LU  | E o      | EHS 851                                 | C 6 F C                                   |         | IV CON         | PILER            | ¢r e v.  | 9    |
|  |   | ъ        | USAJE                                   | MUCE                                      |         | STURNE         | LOURTON          | IN DIFED |      |
|  |   |          | VAPINELE                                | FER.                                      |         | LUCAL          | POUVEC           |          |      |
|  |   |          |   |   |         |                | P-96670          |          |      |
|  | <ul> <li>Winikie Fink</li> <li>Winik</li></ul>  |          | VERTHELE                                | PER P                                     |         |                |                  |          |      |
|  | Control by the second s  |          | VARIABLE                                | REA.                                      |         | THELES         | NH LUND          |          |      |
|  |   | y,       | COPICN BUILD                            | ğ   |         | SERVES.        |                  |          |      |
|  |   |          | VAPINELE                                | E Z                                       |         | LOCH           | P00078           |          |      |
|  |   | e,       | VARIAC                                  | n High                                    |         | LOCH.          | Peeerc           |          |      |
|  |   | . \$     |   | 5   |         | LOCAL          | POOLSO           |          |      |
|  |   | 22       |   |   |         |                | P00064           |          |      |
|  |   | 5        | APPEND ACTE                             | H L H                                     |         | LUCH<br>L      | 860094           |          |      |
|  |   |          | VEELERI E                               |   |         | THELES         | 602000<br>602000 |          |      |
|  |   | 5        | VHR I NOLE                              |   |         |                | Discosta.        |          |      |
|  |   |          | VRRIABLE                                | REAL                                      |         | LOCH           | FOCUP4           |          |      |
|  |   | <u>م</u> | VHRIFIELE                               | REA                                       |         | LOCAL          | P00038           |          |      |
|  |   | 8,       | VARIABLE                                | REAL.                                     |         | LOCAL          | P0009C           |          |      |
|  |   | - 2      | AHFI-PBLE                               |   |         | LCC.           | POROHO           |          |      |
|  |   | 58       |   |   |         |                | POODA            |          |      |
|  |   | 5        | VRPIABLE                                | N. S. |         |                | PRODUC           |          |      |
|  |   | ۵        | VRF I ABLE                              | REA                                       |         | LOCAL          | POORED           |          |      |
|  |   | 8,       | WARIABLE                                | REA                                       |         | LOCA           | Peoder           |          |      |
|  |   | - 4      |   | PEAL<br>2                                 |         | 0PUT           | 00000            |          |      |
|  |   |          |   |   |         |                | P00068           |          |      |
|  | VIRTIALE REAL<br>VIRTIALE VIRTIALE V   | .ନ୍ଥ     | VALIABLE                                |   |         |                |                  |          |      |
| VMRIAKLE REAL<br>VMRIAKLE REAL<br>VM                 | <ul> <li>WRINKLE REN.</li> <li>WRINK</li></ul>  | <u>م</u> | VAPIABLE                                | REAL                                      |         | LOCAL          | P00004           |          |      |
|  | <pre>rmmmet rent rent rent rent rent rent rent re</pre>   | 8;       | VARIABLE                                |   |         | LOCH           | P000C8           |          |      |
|  | WRITHLE REAL<br>WRITHLE REAL<br>WRITH | 52       |   | KER<br>Deco                               |         | 100            | PODECC           |          |      |
| WRITHE ERI<br>WRITHE ERI   | WHETHERE REAL<br>WHETHERE REAL<br>WH                                  |          | REAV                                    | KEN C                                     |         | TOCH           | 800004           |          |      |
| WRITHLE FER FER FER FER FER FER FER FER FER FE   | WRITHELE FEAL<br>WRITHELE FEAL<br>WR                                  |          | VARIABLE                                | NEA.                                      |         |                | Personal         |          |      |
| WRTHALE FER<br>WRTHALE FER   | VRETHELE FERL<br>VRETHELE FERL<br>VR                                  |          | VARIABLE                                | PEA                                       |         | PRES           | 099620           |          |      |
| VRIFICLE REAL<br>VRIFICLE REAL<br>VRIFICLE REAL<br>VRIFICLE REAL<br>VRFIFICLE  | VRITINGLE FER PARS<br>VRITINGLE FER   |          |   |   |         | PARS           | 630562           |          |      |
| WHEIFIELE REAL<br>WHEIFIELE REAL<br>WHEIFI   | WHEIKEE REAL<br>WHEIKEE REAL  |          |   |   |         | PTES<br>PCOD   | C00018           |          |      |
| VRITIELE REAL<br>VRITIELE REAL<br>VRITIELE REAL<br>VRIZIBUE REAL<br>VR                 | VRITIELE REAL<br>VRITIELE REAL<br>VR                                  |          | VARIABLE                                | <b>F</b> EA                               |         | Pares          | COORT S          |          |      |
| VARTIFICLE RERLETATION OF THE COORDAN OF THE COORDAN OF THE COURT OF THE COORDAN OF THE COURT OF   | VRFIFIELE RER COORDINATION COOR  |          | VARIABLE                                | REA                                       | ς.      | Sand           | C00968           |          |      |
| VARTIMEL FRI<br>VARTIMEL FRI<br>VARTIM   | VNRTIMEL MER VARIANCE MER VARIA  |          | VARIABLE                                |   |         | Pars<br>Pars   | C000R4           |          |      |
| WRITELE REAL<br>PHAS 1000000<br>VARTIFIELE REAL<br>VARTIFIELE REAL<br>VARTIFIELE REAL<br>PHAS 1000000<br>VARTIFIELE REAL<br>PHAS 1000000<br>PHAS 10000000000<br>PHAS 1000000000000000000000000000000000000   | WRITING REAL THIS COURSES COURSES COURSES COURSES WRITING REAL THIS COURSES CO  |          |   |   |         | PHRS           | 000003           |          |      |
| VRRIAKLE REAL PARS<br>VRRIARLE REAL PARS C00003<br>VRRIARLE REAL PARS C00003<br>VRRIARLE REAL PARS C00031<br>VRRIARLE REAL PARS C00031  | VRSTAFELE REAL PARS<br>VRSTAFELE REAL PARS<br>VRSTARLE RE   |          | VARIABLE                                | NEQ.                                      |         |                | 100000           |          |      |
| VARTIABLE REFL. PARS C00001<br>VARTIABLE REFL. PARS C000014<br>VARTIABLE REFL. PARS C000014<br>VARTIABLE REFL. PARS C000014<br>VARTIABLE REFL. PARS C000014<br>VARTIABLE REFL. PARS C00004C<br>VARTIABLE REFL. PARS C00004C<br>VARTIABLE REFL. PARS C00004C  | VARTIABLE RERL PARS C00001<br>VARTIABLE RERL PARS C000014<br>VARTIABLE RERL PARS C000014  |          | WRRIFELE                                | REAL                                      |         | Press<br>Press | 00000            |          |      |
| VRR FARLE RERL PARS C00074<br>VRR FARLE RERL PARS C000314<br>VRP FARLE RERL PARS C000314<br>VRP FARLE RERL PARS C000314<br>VRP FARLE RERL PARS C0004C<br>VRR FARLE RERL PARS C0004C<br>VRR FARLE RERL PARS C0004C  | VRRTARLE RERL PARS C00074<br>VRRTARLE RERL PARS C00034<br>VRRTARLE REAL PARS C00034   |          | VARIABLE                                | REA.                                      |         | Pars           | C00004           |          |      |
| VRP FIRELE REGILE PARS C000934<br>VRP FIRELE REGILE PARS C000954<br>VRP FIRELE REGILE PARS C000954<br>VRP FIRELE REGILE PARS C000954<br>VRP FIRELE REGILE PARS C00094<br>VRP FIRELE REGILE PARS C00094   | WHITING CREAT PHRS C00034<br>WHITING REAL PHRS C00036<br>WHITING REAL PHRS C00036<br>WHITING REAL PHRS C00034<br>WHITING REAL PHRS C00034<br>WHITING REAL PHRS C00034<br>WHITING REAL PHRS C00034   |          | VHR HARE                                |   |         | Parce          | C00074           |          |      |
| VARTABLE REAL PARS CO00354<br>VARTABLE REAL PARS C000354<br>VARTABLE REAL PARS C00084<br>VARTABLE REAL PARS C00084<br>VARTABLE REAL PARS C00084  | VARTIALE REAL PARS CORDS VARTIALE REAL PARS CO  |          |   |   |         |                | 120000           |          |      |
| VARTHALE REAL PHAS C0004C<br>VERTHALE REAL PHAS C0004C<br>VARTHALE REAL PHAS C00084<br>VARTHALE REAL PHAS C00084   | VRRIAGLE REAL PARS CO0045<br>VRRIAGLE REAL PARS C00084<br>VRRIAGLE REAL OPUT C00084<br>REAL OPUT C00088   |          | VAPIAGLE                                |   |         |                |                  |          |      |
| VERTABLE REAL PARS C00084<br>VARTABLE REAL DPUT C00088<br>VARUATION DECLE DAVID  | VRRTABLE REAL PARS C00084<br>VARTABLE REAL OPUT C00084<br>NOOTV REAL DUMMY PO00E9   |          | VARIABLE                                | REA.                                      |         | Pres           | COODAC           |          |      |
| VRR/FRBLE REAL OPUT C00008   | VARIABLE REAL OPUT COBORD<br>RODAY REAL DUMAY PODDED  |          | VFRIABLE                                | PER L                                     |         | PRRS           | C00384           |          |      |
|  | INVOLVE REAL DURING PROBES  |          | VHRIHULE<br>Second                      |   |         | OPUT           | C00008           |          |      |

Í

-54

. ٠ <u>،</u> ۲ . PAGE 20 SAME PAR-TINE AITUR-4.0 SYSTERS SUBSERVENTERN IV COMPILER (REV O) FOCHTICH IN DILEG CONCO CONCO CONCO Silfine Dumy Fines Fines ť BUDYEL A MARY STATE Ì 33 **1**11 111 111 「「日子子」 HERAY VARIASLE VYEIASLE 1 Stratist USPar 388 **A-**55 . / 7

![](_page_176_Figure_0.jpeg)

| STATES FOR THE CALINER OF | CUMPILER (PEV 6) | WHILE LOCATION IN PLOT | ACTIVE 1 20100 |               |      |            |          | HOTIVE LUDBUD |         |             |       |                   | E10018      | CAL PriJT3C           | CH. FOR740 |        |  | PRODUCT  | TEPNAL XERES | TERTIN XU0508        |                                |                      | CH. FORES           | CH. PUD070          | CHL PUDU38            |                      |           | CH. PUB.29          | ICR. PU022C         |                     |                      | 116 V POOLDO | PURCE     |                    |           | PURY PORZOC | CAL PU0288 | PORCES     |           | CH. PUDCO |       |
|---------------------------|------------------|------------------------|----------------|---------------|------|------------|----------|---------------|---------|-------------|-------|-------------------|-------------|-----------------------|------------|--------|--|----------|--------------|----------------------|--------------------------------|----------------------|---------------------|---------------------|-----------------------|----------------------|-----------|---------------------|---------------------|---------------------|----------------------|--------------|-----------|--------------------|-----------|-------------|------------|------------|-----------|-----------|-------|
| C Matura                  | VI NHALACH       | אני אוי                | TERESTIP ILE   | TFINISFLR Ite |      | TERCERE IN |          |               |         | PLACENT LOC |       | THEFT FULLING LIN | KEN.        | INTEGER FULLINDED LOG | FGAL LOC   |        |  | FER.     | KENL EXI     | THIEVER FULLYORD EXT | PERIL ENTITIES ENTITIES ENTITE | INTEGED FININGED LIK | INTEGER FULLHOFD LT | INTEGER FULLIND LOC | INTEGER FULLINGED LON | INTEGER FULLIOPO LOC |           | INTEGER FULLIDED LO | INTEGER FULLHORD LO | INTEGER FULLWORD UN | INTERE FULLINGED CUT | PEF. EN      |           |                    | PEHL EX   | PER         | REAL       | REAL       | *2<br>7   |           |       |
| 1.2- II- N- N- N-         | E N S 1 5/3 6    | USHLE                  | LHEEL.         | LHEEL         |      |            | 1.115.51 | LHIFL.        | 13-11-1 | LIGEL       | LH8-1 |                   | VHPINELE    | CONSTANT              | CONFTERT   |        |  | VEPTHELE | FFUCELUFE    | FFUCEDURE            | PERCENSE<br>Version            |                      | UPP-RV              | 241.42              | VIE HELE              |                      | VHP [HCLE | VHP THELE           |                     | VHR   MELE          | a latel a dA         | PF OCECHINE  | VHR INELE | HAF/IV<br>CONFERME | PROCEDURE | APF AV      | VARIABLE   | ARPITARY E | والاختلاط | ALC: AC   | VRVAG |
| 1. 17                     | 5 < S T          | SHMUL                  | 910            | 0100          | 1910 | 194        | 111      | 512           | 2650    | 0<br>1      |       | 21.72             | <b>1603</b> | C 0001                | 0 3042     | 0 6003 |  | BTV      | 210          | C. FI                | ¥ -                            | ISNEE                | 12                  | CH1                 | 1                     | 111                  | ¥         | 2                   | 7                   | *                   | ;                    | PLOT         | PET       |                    |           | ;<br>x      | XFCT       |            | -         |           | 35    |

N ž

**r-5**7

|   |   | · | -           |  |
|---|---|---|-------------|--|
| ន   |   |   |             |  |
| 140   |   |   |             |  |
| SVALETA FLHL- FLAE JAHTOK-4. 8<br>P. I. L. E. R. E. V. GY<br>LICETION IN FLOT<br>P902F4 |   |   | •<br>•<br>• |  |
| s na ta su na su                                    | , | c |             |  |
| e el el la  |   |   |             |  |
| Landrah da<br>Angelan Angelan<br>Mitoka Persuka<br>Mitoka Reserv                        |   |   |             |  |

.

and a second second

٠,

ŝ The second second 1 PHOE 24 . 11 SYNTHS MULT-TIME INVELOR-4. SUCFOUTINE SCINETON POLINOLINO CONTREMENTION VCRU, NPD, VMBL VPD, NCL US 0.10 - 1. NC VS 20 Jan. NP NEWS 20 Jan. NP TEPERSSOCK, JJJ TECHTINE SOUTTINE SOUTINE SOUTTINE SOUTTIN STOTERS SWEE FORTERN IV COMPLLER (REV. 0) 12.19.54 C3 91.03 1E801G SLALE -101

A-59

•:

1

.

-----
| 1           |                             |  | · |   |    |
|-------------|-----------------------------|--|---|---|----|
|             |                             |  |   |   |    |
|             |                             |  |   |   |    |
|             | ĸ                           |  |   |   |    |
|             | 99<br>82                    |  |   |   |    |
|             |                             |  |   |   |    |
|             | 9                           |  |   | : | •. |
|             | RE INVITOR-                 | u<br>Æ                                 |   |   | :  |
|             | ы РЕМС-117<br>. Е. К. (R. E | T                                      |   |   |    |
|             |                             | ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ |   |   |    |
| Í           | 1 4 6 6                     |  |   |   |    |
| 515<br>1917 | K T R H N                   |  |   |   |    |
|             | 86 F L F                    |  |   |   |    |
|             | 1 5 6 <b>7</b> 5            |  | ĸ |   |    |
| 12/19/21    | YSTE                        |  |   | ì |    |

**A-6**0

**W** 

Statens Recalling and TOK-4 0

8

Á

SYSTEMS SA96 FURTPHN IV COMPILER (REV D)

PIGATUIG

50 IO 53

1 013/2

•

¥

7

A-61

•

.

| •    |  | X  |  |  |  |
|------|--|--|--|--|--|
| •    |  |  |  |  |  |
|      |  |  |  |  |  |
|      | 22   |  |  |  |  |
|      | 904  |  |  | •<br>• •   | and the second |
|      | 8<br>1<br>2  |  |  |  | and the second |
| • •  | ts ⊬ERLITHEAll(<br>. E.R. (R.E.V.G)<br>3110N IN RK   | 800008899888668898999999999999999999999  | 911912000000000000000000000000000000000  | 114<br>122<br>122<br>122<br>124<br>114<br>114<br>114<br>128<br>128<br>128<br>128<br>128<br>128<br>128<br>128<br>128<br>128 |  |
|      | SUSTER<br>SUSTER   |  |  |  |  |
| •    | 63 h∋®i-10<br>6 FOP∖TRAN<br>MODE   | TPARISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANISFER<br>TRANIS | INTEGER FULLARD<br>INTEGER FULLARD  | PERAL<br>FEAL<br>INTEGER FULLHORD<br>INTEGER FULLHORD<br>FEAL<br>FEAL<br>FEAL<br>FEAL<br>FEAL<br>FEAL<br>FEAL<br>FEAL      |  |
| •    | 19-7- 09-01.<br>TENS 35-8<br>USADE   |  |  |  |  |
| A~62 | 2<br>12<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2<br>2 | 900<br>900<br>900<br>900<br>900<br>900<br>900<br>900<br>900<br>900   | 5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>500<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5000<br>5 | ⋭⋻<br>∊⋳⋴⋼⋇⋇⋭⋩⋧⋧⋧⋟⋠⋠   |  |







. ۱۳۳۶ میں است



and the second second





S. . A

t



the dealer and a

Sec.

and a start of the s



÷









A-74

. . .

ю.,

والمعادية فالمعادية والمعالية والمراجع والمراجع









ى يەرىپىيە مەمەم مەرىپىدىغا يەرىپىيەر بەر ئەرىپىيەت بەرىپىيەت بەرىپىيەت بەرىپىيە بەرىپىيەت بەرىپىيەت بەرىپىيەت

.

1 OF 17

**A-**77

ł





and when the t

-----

----

.

a service of the contraction of the

CONT. ON PG 4

EG 3 OF 17



CONT. ON PG S

26 4 OF 17



and a second second

1

۰.

and a start and a start and a start and a start and the start and the start and the start and the start and the

-----





.

-



.......

100 94000

A-- 84









.

.

.

ę

. -



enter a la companya de la construction de l



CONT. ON PG 13

26 12 DF 17



. . .

. ,•

'\_

......

CONT. ON PG 14

PG 13 0F 17





.

•

,

CONT. ON PG 15

1

PG 15 8F 17

A-91



PG 16 OF 17

Ś.

ş 8

A-92

۰.



END

PG 17 FINAL



Y

and an an any rest of the second s

A-94

ź



\_\_\_\_\_

3. 7






PG 5 FINAL

A-98



ato an inc. I

•• ·· ·· ·

PG 1 0F 3

A-99

ļ



.... . ...

i

à



\$



PG 1 OF 4





'



## APPENDIX B

## ANALOG AND HYBRID WIRING DIAGRAMS



......

Figure B-1. Rate Control Sy



FIGURE BI MGO TANK 10.10.14 RATE CONTROL-LIVEAR #

Control System with Linear Flow Model

02



Figure B-2. Nonlinear Flow Model in Rate



inear Flow Model in Rate Control System

6-1



washing was placed in the later



Figure B-3. Compensation Circu!







-



Compensation Circuits in Rate Control System



• • .









Figure B-5. Airesearch Pneumatic Acce



## rch Pneumatic Accelerometer in Rate Control System

wandama Kiki Kurina In



Figure B-6. Bendix Sensor in Ru



ţ



HIGO DG MGO TANK ORATE CONTROL BENDIX SENSOR 11-7-74

gure B-6. Bendix Sensor in Rate Control System



Figure B-7. Laminar Vortex Sensor in R





Laminar Vortex Sensor in Rate Control System

3-8





Figure B-8. Hull Dynamics in Rate Control Syste







a the state of the second

Figure B-9. Position Control System



tion Control System with Linear Flow Model



!

Figure B-10. Nonlinear Flow Model in ]



nlinear Flow Model in Position Control System

١



~

Figure B-11. Gyros in I



## Best Available Copy



Figure B-12. Compensation Networks in

j

Best Avenue Cost Available Copy



. .

۰.

Networks in Position Control System

---

ي بيود بيوميو يوريوني و

Best Available Copy